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miscellaneous obligations. As of December 31, 2024, we had outstanding surety bonds and letters of credit with parties
for post- mining reclamation at all of our mining operations totaling $ 50. 6 million, $ 18. 6 million as collateral for self-
insured black lung related claims and $ 7. 7 million for miscellaneous purposes. We believe that our future cash flows
from operations, together with cash on our balance sheet and proceeds from the borrowings under our ABL Facility,
will provide adequate resources to fund our debt service payments and planned operating and capital expenditure needs,
including the development of Blue Creek, for at least the next twelve months and beyond. However, we will continue to
assess our liquidity needs in light of the current weakness in steelmaking coal prices. The Company' s principal
contractual commitments include repayments of long- term debt and related interest, potential minimum throughput
payments associated with our rail and port providers, asset retirement obligation payments, black lung obligation
payments, payments on various coal and land leases, payments under financing lease obligations and payments
associated with our natural gas swap contracts. Currently, there are no known trends or expected changes anticipated in
future periods that would not be indicative of past results for our contractual commitments. Refer to the respective notes
to the financial statements for further information about our credit facilities and long- term debt (Note 13),
commitments and contingencies (Note 15), asset retirement obligations (Note 8), black lung obligations (Note 10), lease
payment obligations (Note 14), share repurchase programs (Note 16) and derivative instruments (Note 17). [f
transportation-our cash flows from operations are less than we require, we may need to incur additional debt or issue
additional equity. From time to time, we may need to access the long- term and short- term capital markets to obtain
financing. Our access to, and the availability of, financing on acceptable terms and conditions in the future will be
affected by many factors, including: (i) our credit ratings, (ii) the liquidity of the overall capital markets, (iii) the current
state of the global economy and (iv) restrictions in our ABL Facility, the indenture governing the Notes (the"
Indenture'"), and any other existing or future debt agreements. There can be no assurance that we will have or continue
to have access to the capital markets on terms acceptable to us or at all. Statements of Cash Flows Cash balances were $
491. 5 million, $ 738. 2 million and $ 829. 5 million at December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022,
respectively. The following table sets forth, a summary of the net cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and
financing activities for the period (in thousands): For the years ended December 31, 202420232022Net cash provided by
operating activities $ 367, 448 $ 701, 108 $ 841, 904 Net cash used in investing activities (538, 002) (527, 207) (255, 144)
Net cash used in financing activities (68, 511) (265, 184) (153, 119) Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash $ (239, 065) $ (91, 283) $ 433, 641 Operating Activities Net cash flows from operating activities consist
of net income adjusted for noncash items, such as depreciation and depletion of property, plant and equipment and
mineral interests, deferred income tax expense, stock- based compensation, amortization of debt issuance costs and debt
discount, accretion expense and valuation adjustment associated with our asset retirement obligations, mark- to- market
adjustments on gas hedges, loss on early extinguishment of debt and changes in net working capital. The timing between
the conversion of our billed and unbilled receivables into cash from our customers, production and sale of coal inventory
and disbursements to our vendors is the primary driver of changes in our working capital. Net cash provided by
operating activities was $ 367. 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, and was primarily attributed to net
income of $ 250. 6 million adjusted for depreciation and depletion expense of $ 154. 0 million, stock- based compensation
expense of $ 22. 1 million, accretion and valuation adjustment of asset retirement obligations of $ 5. 4 million, deferred
income tax benefit of $ 8. 1 million, mark- to- market loss on gas hedges of $ 1. 8 million, amortization of debt issuance
costs and debt discount of $ 1. 6 million and an increase in net working capital of $ S5. 2 million. The increase in our
working capital was primarily attributable to increases in trade accounts receivable, inventories and prepaid expenses
partially offset by decreases to income tax receivable and other receivables. The increase in trade accounts receivable is
due to the timing of sales and collections combined with a 0. 4 million increase in steelmaking coal metric tons sold offset
partially by a $ 34. 32 decrease in our steelmaking coal average net selling price per metric ton. The increase in
inventories is disrupted;-unavailable-or-mere-expenstve-due to an increase in production. Net cash provided by operating
activities was $ 701. 1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, and was primarily attributed to net income of $ 478.
6 million adjusted for depreciation and depletion expense of $ 127. 4 million, deferred income tax expense of $ 52. 9
million, stock- based compensation expense of $ 18. 2 million, loss on early extinguishment of debt of $ 11. 7 million,
accretion and valuation adjustment of asset retirement obligations of $ 4. 5 million and amortization of debt issuance




costs and debt discount of $ 2. 1 million and a decrease in net working capital of $ 5. 7 million. The decrease in our
eustomers-working capital was primarily attributable to a decrease in trade accounts receivable offset partially by an
increase in inventories , an increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and an increase in income tax
receivable. The decrease in trade accounts receivable is due to the timing of sales and collections combined with a § 93.
25 decrease in our abilitytesel-steelmaking coal average net sellmg prlce per metric ton offset partlally by a 1 eould

éeriﬂved—frefn—ﬂae—sa}e—e-ﬁxlulnml\uw uml metrlc tons sold The increase in mventorles is due to ﬂﬂd— an increase in
production. Investing Activities Net cash used in investing activities was $ 538. 0 million for the year ended December 31,
2024, primarily comprised of $ 457. 2 million of purchases of property, plant and equipment, $ 31. 1 million of
capitalized mine development costs associated with our Blue Creek development and the purchase of $ 49. 7 million in
investments. We spent approximately $ 87. 0 million in sustaining capital and spent an additional $ 370. 0 million in
other discretionary capital, which primarily included capital spent on the development of Blue Creek of $ 350. S million,
capital spent on the bunker at Mine No. 4 of $ 17. 2 million and capital spent on the Mine No. 7 overland belt of $ 2. 5
million. Net cash used in investing activities was $ 527. 2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily
comprised of $ 491. 7 million of purchases of property, plant and equipment and $ 33. 1 million of capitalized mine
development costs associated with our Blue Creek development. We spent approximately $ 91. 7 million in sustaining
capital and spent an additional $ 400. 0 million in other discretionary capital, which primarily included capital spent on
the development of Blue Creek of $ 319. 1 million, deposits on two extra sets of longwall shields of $ 50. 9 million and
capital spent on the bunker at Mine No. 4 of $ 24. 5 million. The current period also includes $ 2. 4 million cash paid to
acquire the remaining ownership interest in gas wells owned by an independent third party. Financing Activities Net
cash used in financing activities was $ 68. 5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the payment
of quarterly and special dividends of $ 43. 8 million, principal repayments of financing lease obligations of $ 17. 4 million
and payments of tax withholdings on vested equity awards of $ 11. 8 million partially offset by proceeds received from
financing lease obligations of § 4. S million. Net cash used in financing activities was $ 265. 2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, primarily due to the retirements of debt related to our Notes of $ 162. 4 million, payment of
quarterly and special dividends of $ 61. 1 million and principal repayments of financing lease obligations of $ 32. 3
million. Capital Allocation Policy On May 17, 2017, the Board adopted the Capital Allocation Policy of paying a
quarterly cash dividend of $ 0. 05 per share. In February 2022, we announced that the Board approved an increase in
the regular quarterly cash dividend by 20 %, from $ 0. 05 per share to $ 0. 06 per share. In February 2023, we
announced that the Board approved an increase in the regular quarterly cash dividend by 17 %, from $ 0. 06 per share
to $ 0. 07 per share. On February 9, 2024, we announced the Board approved an increase in the regular quarterly cash
dividend by 14 % from $ 0. 07 per share to $ 0. 08 per share and declared a special cash dividend of $ 0. 50 per share.
Our strategy continues to be focused on optimizing our capital structure to improve returns to stockholders, through
special cash dividends, while allowing flexibility for us to develop our strategic growth project Blue Creek. We intend on
returning cash to stockholders in stronger price markets where we are generating significant amounts of cash flow, and
less cash to stockholders during weaker markets. We also intend on using stock repurchases when there is no short- or
long- term use for additional cash that will deliver meaningful value to stockholders. We have paid a regular quarterly
cash dividend every quarter since the Board adopted the Capital Allocation Policy. The Capital Allocation Policy states
the following: In addition to the regular quarterly dividend and to the extent that the Company generates excess cash
that is beyond the then current requirements of the business , the Board may suffer-consider returning all or a portion of
such excess cash to stockholders through a special dividend or implementation of a stock repurchase program. Any
future dividends or stock repurchases will be at the discretion of the Board and subject to consideration of a number of
factors, including business and market conditions, future financial performance and other strategic investment
opportunities. The Company will also seek to optimize its capital structure to improve returns to stockholders while
allowing flexibility for the Company to pursue selective strategic growth opportunities that can provide compelling
stockholder returns. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we have paid $ 43. 8 million of regular quarterly and
special cash dividends under the Capital Allocation Policy. Stock Repurchase Program On March 26, 2019, the Board
approved the Company' s second stock repurchase program (the “ New Stock Repurchase Program ) that authorizes
repurchases of up to an aggregate of $ 70. 0 million of the Company' s outstanding common stock. The Company fully
exhausted its previous stock repurchase program (the" First Stock Repurchase Program'') of $ 40. 0 million of its
outstanding common stock. The New Stock Repurchase Program does not require the Company to repurchase a specific
number of shares or have an expiration date. The New Stock Repurchase Program may be suspended or discontinued by
the Board at any time without prior notice. Under the New Stock Repurchase Program, the Company may repurchase
shares of its common stock from time to time, in amounts, at prices and at such times as the Company deems
appropriate, subject to market and industry conditions, share price, regulatory requirements and other considerations
as determined from time to time by the Company. The Company’ s repurchases may be executed using open market
purchases or privately negotiated transactions in accordance with applicable securities laws and regulations, including
Rule 10b- 18 of the Exchange Act and repurchases may be executed pursuant to Rule 10bS- 1 under the Exchange Act.
Repurchases will be subject to limitations in the ABL Facility and the Indenture. The Company intends to fund



repurchases under the New Stock Repurchase Program from cash on hand and / or other sources of liquidity. Any
future repurchases of shares of the Company' s common stock will be subject to the 1 % excise tax under the IRA. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company has repurchased 0. 5 million shares for approximately $ 10. 6 million, leaving $ 59. 4
million of share repurchases authorized under the New Stock Repurchase Program. On December 6, 2021, we entered
into the Second Amended and Restated Asset- Based Revolving Credit Agreement (the “ Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement ), by and among us and certain of our subsidiaries, as borrowers, the guarantors party thereto, the
lenders from time to time party thereto and Citibank, as administrative agent (in such capacity, the" Agent'"), which
amends and restates in its entirety the existing Amended and Restated Asset- Based Revolving Credit Agreement (as
amended, the “ ABL Facility ”). The Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, among other things, (i) extended
the maturity date of the ABL Facility to December 6,2026; (11) changed the calculatlon of the interest rate payable on
borrowings from being based on a stbsta etrg-London Inter- Bank Offered
Rate to be based on a Secured Overnight Flnancmg Rate, with correspondlng changes to the applicable interest rate
margins with respect to such borrowings, (iii) amended certain definitions related to the calculation of the borrowing
base; (iv) increased the commitments that may be used to issue letters of credit to $ 65. 0 million; and demand-or-(v)
amended certain baskets contained in the covenants to conform to the baskets contained in the indenture governing the
Notes (the" Indenture'). The Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also allows us to borrow up to $ 116. 0
mllhon through November 2026, subject to avallablhty under the borrowmg base and other faeters-beyond-oureontrok
of-div 6 b d A e r-conditions . Under the ABL Facility ,
fesul-ts—up t0$10.0 mllhon ol eperat—teﬂs—the commltments may be used to incur swingline loans from Citibank and up to $
65. 0 million of the commitments may be used to issue letters of credit. The ABL Facility will mature on December 6,
2026. As of December 31, 2024, no loans were outstanding under the ABL Facility and there were $ 2. 5 million of letters
of credit issued and outstanding under the ABL Facility. At December 31, 2024, the Company had $ 113. 5 million of
availability under the ABL Facility. Revolving loan (and letter of credit) availability under the ABL Facility is subject to
a borrowing base, which at any time is equal to the sum of certain ehglble bllled and unbllled accounts, certain ehglble
inventory, certain eligible supplies inventory and qualified cash flows A A y
operatingrisks-, and-in each case, sub]ect to spec1ﬁed advance rates. The borrowmg base avallablhty is subject to certaln
reserves dependent-uponan y y A , which may eause-be established by the agent in its
reasonable credlt dlscretlon The reserves may include rent reserves, lower of cost or market reserve, port charges
reserves and any other reserves that the Agent determines in its reasonable credit judgment to the extent such reserves
relate to conditions that could reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on the value of the collateral included in
the borrowing base. Subject to permitted exceptions, the obligations of the borrowers under the ABL Facility are
guaranteed by each of our prefitability-domestic subsidiaries and secured by (i) first- priority security interests in the ABL
Priority Collateral (as defined in the Indenture), which includes, among other things, certain accounts receivables,
inventory and cash of ours and the guarantors, and (ii) second- priority security interests in the Notes Priority Collateral
(as defined in the Indenture), which includes, among other things, material mining properties, shares of capital stock of
the guarantors, intellectual property, as extracted collateral (to the extent not constituting inventory), and certain fixed
assets of ours and the guarantors. Borrowings under the ABL Facility bear interest at a rate equal to either (i) SOFR,
plus a credit adjustment spread, ranging currently from approximately 11 bps to 43 bps depending on the interest period
selected by us, or (ii) and-- an alternate base rate plus, in each case of the foregoing (i) and (ii), an applicable margin,
which is determined based on the average availability of the commitments under the ABL Facility, ranging currently
from 150 bps to 200 bps or 50 bps to 100 bps, respectively. In addition to paying interest on the outstanding borrowings
under the ABL Facility, we are required to pay a fee in respect of unutilized commitments, which is based on the
availability of the commitments under the ABL Facility, ranging from 25 bps to 37. 5 bps. We are also required to pay a
fee on amounts available to be drawn under outstanding letters of credit under the ABL Facility at a rate not in excess of
200 bps, and certain administrative fees. We are able to voluntarily repay outstanding loans and reduce unused
commitments, in each case, in whole or in part, at any time without premium or penalty. We are required to repay
outstanding loans and cash collateralize letters of credit anytime the outstanding loans and letters of credit exceed the
maximum availability then in effect. We are also required to use net proceeds from certain significant asset sales to repay
outstanding loans, but may re- borrow following such prepayments if the conditions to borrowings are met. The ABL
Facility contains customary covenants for asset- based credit agreements of this type, including among other things: (i)
requirements to deliver financial pesition-to-deeline-statements, other reports and notices ; «Negative-views-(ii) restrictions
on the existence or incurrence of certain indebtedness; (iii) restrictions on the existence or incurrence of certain liens; (iv)
restrictions on making certain restricted payments; (v) restrictions on making certain investments; (vi) restrictions on
certain mergers, consolidations and asset dispositions; (vii) restrictions on certain transactions with affiliates; and (viii)
restrictions on modifications to certain indebtedness. Additionally, the ABL Facility contains a springing fixed charge
coverage ratio of not less than 1. 00 to 1. 00, which ratio is tested if availability under the ABL Facility is less than a
certain amount. As of December 31, 2024, we were not subject to this covenant. Subject to customary grace periods and
notice requirements, the ABL Facility also contains customary events of default. We were in compliance with all
applicable covenants under the ABL Facility as of December 31, 2024. Senior Secured Notes On December 6, 2021, we
issued $ 350. 0 million in aggregate principal amount of 7. 875 % senior secured notes due 2028 (the “ Notes ) at an
initial price of 99. 343 % of their face amount. The Notes were issued to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule
144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act ”), and to certain non- U. S. persons in
transactions outside the United States in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. We used the net




proceeds of the offering of the Notes, together with cash on hand, to fund the redemption of all of our outstanding 8. 00
% senior secured notes due 2024 (the “ Existing Notes ”), including payment of the redemption premium in connection
with such redemption. The Notes will accrue interest at a rate of 7. 875 % per year from December 6, 2021. Interest on
the Notes will be payable on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing on June 1, 2022. The Notes will mature
on December 1, 2028. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we repurchased in the open market and extinguished
approximately $ 8. 0 million principal amount of our Notes. In connection with the extinguishment of our Notes, we
recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt of $ 0. 1 million which is included in interest income (expense), net in
the Statements of Operations. Offers to Purchase the Notes On August 9, 2023, we commenced an offer to purchase (the
“ Restricted Payment Offer ), in cash, up to $ 150. 0 million principal amount of its outstanding Notes, at a repurchase
price of 103 % of the aggregate prmclpal amount of such Notes, plus accrued and unpald interest w ith 1e\pul to such
Notes to env d d-govern d h 610
eertaininvestors-, but not environmental-and-elimate-change-aetivist-groups—an A A

of repurchase (the “ Restricted Payment Repurchase Prlce ”) Concurrently w1th but separate from, the Restrlcted
Payment Offer, we commenced a cash tender offer (the “ Tender Offer  and, together with the Restricted Payment
Offer, the “ Offers ”) to purchase up to $ 150. 0 million principal amount of the Notes at a repurchase price of 104. 25 %
of the aggregate principal amount of such Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the date of
repurchase (the “ TO Repurchase Price ). The Offers expired on September 7, 2023 (the *“ Expiration Date ). As of the
Expiration Date, $ 0. 2 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn
pursuant to the Restricted Payment Offer. Pursuant to the terms of the Restricted Payment Offer: (1) and- an insuranee
eompantes-automatic pro ration factor of 49. 5674 % was applied to the $ 0. 2 million aggregate principal amount of the
Notes that were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn in the Restricted Payment Offer (rounded down to avoid the
purchase of Notes in a principal amount other than in integrals of § 1 , adverselyaffeeting-otr-000), which resulted in $ 0.
1 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes (the “ RP Pro- Rated Tendered Notes ”); (2) we accepted all § 0. 1
million aggregate principal amount of the RP Pro- Rated Tendered Notes for payment of the Restricted Payment
Repurchase Price in cash; and (3) the remaining balance of $ 0. 1 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes
tendered that were not RP Pro- Rated Tendered Notes were not accepted for payment and were returned to the
tendering holder of the Notes. We consummated the Restricted Payment Offer on September 8, 2023. Accordingly,
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d-a number of factors




salescontracts—Howeverthere-ean ces-thatwe \\111 make any Proposed Restrlcted Payments mbe—&b-}e—te
mitigate-sueheonditions-as-they— the &Hse-future Met-eoat-has-beerrAs of the Expiration Date, $ 294. 8 million aggregate
principal amount of the Notes were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn pursuant to the Tender Offer. Pursuant
to the terms of the Tender Offer: (1) an extremely-volatile-commedity-over-automatic pro ration factor of 49. 5674 % was
applied to the $ 294. 8 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes that were validly tendered and not validly
withdrawn in the Tender Offer (rounded down to avoid the purchase of Notes in a principal amount the-other than past
ten-years-and-prices-may -beecome-volatite-again-in integrals the-futare-given-theraptd-inerease-of thelastfew-years-and-the
sharp-deeline-$ 1, 000), which resulted in $ 146 theseeond-half-of 2649~ Anysustained-fathure-0 million aggregate principal
amount of the Notes (the “ TO Pro- Rated Tendered Notes ”); (2) we accepted all $ 146. 0 million aggregate principal
amount of the TO Pro- Rated Tendered Notes for payment of the TO Repurchase Price in cash; and (3) the remaining
balance of $ 148. 8 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes tendered that were not TO Pro- Rated Tendered
Notes were not accepted for payment and were returned to be-able-to-market-oureoat-the tendering holder of the Notes.
We consummated the Tender Offer on September 11, 2023. In connection with the payments for the RP Pro- Rated
Tendered Notes and the TO Pro- Rated Tendered Notes, we recogmzed a loss on early extmgulshment of debt of $ 11 7




December 31 2()2 3 . Short- Term Investments As of December 31 2024 éefwed—qapfe*ﬂﬁatel-yéé—had $9 . 7%S
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These are-inherentrisks-whenever-a-stgnifteantpereentage-investments were posted as collateral for the self- insured black
lung related claims asserted by or on behalf of tetal-reventes-are-eoneentrated-former employees of Walter Energy and its

subsidiaries, which were assumed in the acquisition of certain assets of Walter Energy and relate to periods prior to
March 31, 2016. We also had $ S. 1 million in fixed income securities as of December 31, 2024 with maturities less than
twelve months a—l-nﬁrted—ntnﬂber—e%eustemefs,—and ﬁ—ts—the Company had 6t NO pesstb-}e-feﬁs—te-pfediet—the—f&t&fe—}evel-ef
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infrastructure is capital intensive. Specifically, IhL exploration, permitting and dev LlOleCHl of slcdmdkm(T LOdl reserves,
mining costs, the maintenance of machinery sfaetities-and equipment and compliance with applicable laws and regulations
require ongoing capital expenditures . The cost of our capital expenditures are also impacted by inflation and any



prolonged inflation could result in higher costs and decreased margins and earnings . While a significant amount of the
capital expenditures required at our mines has been spent, we must continue to invest capital to maintain our production. In
addition, any decisions to increase production at our extsting-mines er-and the development of the high- quality met
steelmaklng u)al recov leblL reserves at Blm C lLLl\ u)uld also affect our Ldpllal needs or cause future Ldpllal L\])LndllulL\ to

to access the Ldpllal mdlkus 101 lLllLllL equity or dd)l o lum”s —eﬁ—t-he—e{-her—h&ﬂd—mm be limited by our lmdnual u)ndllmn at
the time of any such financing or offering and the covenants in our existing-current or future debt agreements, as well as by
general economic conditions, contingencies and uncertainties , that are beyond our control . Qur capital expenditures were $
457. 2 million and $ 491. 7 million for the years ended December 31 , sueh-25-2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.
During 2024, we spent approximately $ 87. 0 million in sustaining capital and an additional $ 370. 0 million in the-other
€OHD-—19pandemte-discretionary capital, which primarily included capital spent on the development of Blue Creek of $
350 . Heash-flowgenerated-by-S million, capital spent on the bunker at Mine No. 4 of $ 17. 2 million and other
discretionary capital of $ 2. S million. Our deferred mine development costs were $ 31. 1 million and $ 33. 1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, and primarily relate to the development of Blue
Creek and Mine No. 4 North. We evaluate our spending on an ongoing basis in connection with our mining plans and the
prices of steelmaking coal taking into consideration the funding available to maintain our operations at optimal
production levels. Our capital spending is expected to range from $ 315. 0 million to $ 350. 0 million erfor the full year
2025, consisting of sustaining capital expenditures of approximately $ 90. 0 to $ 100. 0 million and discretionary capital
expenditures of approximately $ 225. 0 to $ 250. 0 million for the development of Blue Creek. Our sustaining capital
expenditures include expenditures related to longwall operations, continuous miners, new ventilation, and bleeder
shafts. Amended Rights Agreement On February 14, 2020, we adopted an NOL Rights Agreement, which was amended
on March 4, 2022 by Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement and on December 8, 2023 by Amendment No. 2 to the
Rights Agreement, to supplement the 382 Transfer Restrictions. The Company' s stockholders ratified the Rights
Agreement at the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and ratified the Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement at the
2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Amended Rights Agreement is intended to supplement the 382 Transfer
Restrictions and is designed to serve the interests of all stockholders by preserving the availabte-availability of berrowings
under-our bank-finaneing-arrangements-are-instffietent-federal and state NOLs and is similar to meet-plans adopted by other
companies with significant federal and state NOLs. Pursuant to the Amended Rights Agreement, one preferred stock
purchase right (a “ Right ” eur—- or eapttal-requirements-and-we-the “ Rights ) was distributed to stockholders of the
Company for each are-share unable-to-aeeess-of common stock of the eapital-markets-Company outstanding as of the close
of business on aeeeptable-terms-or-February 28, 2020. Initially, these Rights will not be exercisable and will trade with the
shares of common stock. If the Rights become exercisable, each Right will initially entitle stockholders to buy one one-
thousandth of a share of a newly created series of preferred stock designated as “ Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock ” at al-an exercise price of $ 159. 00 per Right. While the Amended Rights Agreement is in effect , we
any person or group that acquires beneficial ownership of 4. 99 % or more of the common stock or any existing
stockholder who currently owns 5. 00 % or more of the common stock that acquires any additional shares of common
stock (such person, group or existing stockholder, an'" Acquiring Person') without approval from the Board eoutd-would
be foreed-subject to eurtail-significant dilution in the-their expansion-efourexisting-mines-ownership interest in the
Company. In such and- an event the-development-efeourproperties-, each Right will entitle its holder whieh,inturi,-eotld
fead-to buy, at the exercise price, common stock having a deeline-in-ourproduetion-market value of two times the then
current exercise price of the Right and the Rights held by such Acquiring Person will become void. The Amended Rights
Agreement also gives discretion to the Board to determine that someone is and-- an Acquiring Person even if they do not
own 4. 99 % or more of the Common Stock but do own 4. 99 % or more in value of the outstanding stock, as determined
pursuant to Section 382 of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder. In addition, the Board has established
procedures to consider and approve requests to exempt certain acquisitions of the Company’ s securities from the
Amended Rights Agreement if the Board determines that doing so eetild-would materiaty-not limit or impair the
availability of the federal and adversely-state NOLs or is otherwise in the best interests of the Company and conditioned
upon and subject to the satisfaction of certain continuing factual representations and covenants. The Board may redeem
the Rights for $ 0. 01 per Right at any time before any person or group triggers the Amended Rights Agreement. The
distribution of the Rights is not a taxable event for stockholders of the Company and will not affect eur-businress;-the
Company’ s financial condition ane-or results of operations (including earnings per share) . —Workstoppages-The Rights
will expire on the earliest of (i) the close of business on April 19 , steh-2026, (ii) the time at which the Rights are
redeemed as provided the-strike-initiated-by-the UMWA-In Apri-262+-the Amended Rights Agreement , ane-(iii) the time at
which the Rights are exchanged as provided in the Amended Rights Agreement, (iv) the time at which the Board
determines that the NOLs are fully utilized or no longer available under Section 382 of the Code, (v) the effective date of
the repeal of Section 382 of the Code if the Board determines that the Amended Rights Agreement is no longer necessary
or desirable for the preservation of NOLs, or (vi) the closing of any merger or other laborrelations-matters-acquisition



transaction involving the Company pursuant to an agreement of the type described in the Amended Rights Agreement.
Additional details about the Amended Rights Agreement are contained in our Current Reports on Form 8- K filed with
the SEC on February 14, 2020, March 4, 2022 and December 8, 2023. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates The
financial statements are prepared in conformity with GAAP, which require the use of estimates, judgments and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses in the period presented.
Management evaluates these estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis, using historical experience, consultation
w1th experts and other methods considered reasonable in the partlcular circumstances. Nevertheless, actual results may
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estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. These estimates are based upon management’ s
historical experlence and on varlous other assumptlons that we belleve reasonable under the clrcumstances. changes
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Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our business-were-more-diversified-financial statements



included elsewhere in this Annual Report . fi-addition-Coal Reserves Our mineral reserves and resources estimates are
calculated in accordance with subpart 1300 of Regulation S- K under the Modernization of Property Disclosures for
Mining Registrants of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 . as amended (the" Exchange Act'). Our mineral reserves
and resources are updated on an annual basis. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities and
values of mlneral reserves and resources, 1nclud1ng many factors that are beyond our control -}aeiee-ﬁdwersrﬁe&ﬁeﬂ—may
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agencies; * previously completed geological ourability-to-obtain,maintairand reserve studies renew-at-required-permits;=
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of the-reserves; and ° a -future steelmaking-eoal-priees;-operating
costs rinetading-. Some of fhese——— the factors and assumptions, whlch will change from time to time, that impact mineral

reserve and resource estimates include, among other factors: » mining activities; * new engineering and geological data; ¢
acquisition for- or dlvestlture of reserve holdmgs, erﬁea-l—sapp-l-res—saeh—as—fuel—t-&es—and . modlﬁcatlon of mmmg plans or
mining methods exp pend ; i

considerably from the dssumpuons used in csllmalmg the—lucu es and resources . As—a—fes-u-l-t—For these reasons , L,SlllndlLS of

the—qtt&n-t—it—ies—aﬂd-qﬂa-l-rt—tes—o[ economically recoverable steelmaking-quantities of coal attributable to any-a particular group of
pmpuucs and elaxsmcallons of these reserves and resources deLd on risk of recovery —esﬁma-ted—eest—e—ﬁpfe&ueﬁeﬂ,—and
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may-respect to reserves and resources will likely vary matertally-from estimates and these variances may be material .
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rates . H-As of December 31, 2024, we had estimated reserves totaling 157. 8 million metric tons and estimated mineral



resources exclusive of reserves of 39. 7 million metric tons. Asset Retirement Obligations Our asset retirement
obligations primarily consist of spending estimates to reclaim surface lands and supporting infrastructure at both
surface and underground mines in accordance with applicable reclamation laws in the United States as defined by each
mining permit. Significant reclamation activities include reclaiming refuse piles and slurry ponds, reclaiming the pit and
support acreage at surface mines, and sealing portals at underground mines. Asset retirement obligations arec determined

unable-to-develop-or-for aequire-replacementreserves-each mine using various estimates and assumptions ., eutr-including

estimates of dlsturbed acreage as determmed from englneermg data, estimates of future costs to reclaim the disturbed
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credit- adjusted , risk- free tn-tefest—fafes- rate. Our asset retlrement obhgatlons also mclud estimates to reclaim gas wells
in accordance with the Oil and Gas Board of Alabama. On at least an annual basis, we review our entire asset retirement
obligation liability and make necessary adjustments for permit changes, the anticipated timing of mine closures, and
revisions to cost estimates and productivity assumptions to reflect current experience. As changes in estimates occur, the
carrying amount of the obligation and asset are revised to reflect the new estimate after applying the appropriate credit-
adjusted, risk- free discount rate. For sites where there is no asset, expense or income is recognized for changes in
estimates . |f these-acernals-are-insuffietent-or-our Hability-assumptions differ from actual experience, or if changes in the

regulatory environment occur a—p&f&eu%&ﬁyeaﬁs—greafef&mn—et&fef&}y—afmetp&ted— our fufufe-epef&&ng—feﬁﬂ-ts—actual cash
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: att i ayt i our-ability-liability to-utilize-oursignifieant federal-and-state-tax
N@I:S-e%eu-ﬁdefeﬁed-ta*assefs- Income Taxes ln connection with the acquisition of certain assets of Walter Energy
consummated on March 31, 2016, we acquired deferred tax assets primarily associated with federal and state NOLs attributable
to Walter Energy' s write- off of its investment in Walter Energy Canada Holdings, Inc. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we
believe we have utilized all of our federal NOLs and federal general business credit carryforwards . The Company has state
NOL carryforwards of approximately $ 945. 2 million, which expire predominantly on December 31, 2029 through
December 31, 203S. We believe the utilization of the state NOLs . subject to certain limitations, will significantly reduce
the amount of state income taxes payable by us as compared to what we would have had to pay at the statutory rates
without the-these fiting-NOL benefits. Under state law provisions similar to Section 382 of the Code, the-these 2623-NOLs
could be subject to annual limitations, further limitations, or elimination, as described below, if we were to undergo a
subsequent ownership change in the future. To the extent we have taxable income in the future and can utilize these
NOL carryforwards, subject to certain limitations, to reduce taxable income, our cash taxes will be significantly reduced
in those future years. See “ Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business — We may be unable to
generate sufficient taxable income from future operations, or other circumstances could arise, which may limit or
eliminate our ability to utilize our significant federal and state tax NOLs or maintain our deferred tax assets. ” On
September 18, 2017, the IRS issued to us a private letter ruling, which favorably resolved certain questions about our
ability to qualify for an exceptlon to the annual llmltatlons under Sectlon 382 of the Code on the utilization of NOLSs to
reduce taxable income S ed-th s- Based on such private letter
ruling,we believe that there is no euffeﬁt—llmltallon ﬂnder—Seeﬁeﬁ—}S%on 1hc ullluduon of our -feéefa-l-N()Ls to shield our
income from federal taxation , and that a similar anabysis-approach would be applied to-our-at the state NOEs-level . The private
letter ruling was issued based on,among other things,certain facts and assumptions,as well as certain representations,statements
and undertakings provided to the IRS by us.If any of these matertal-facts,assumptions,representations,statements or undertakings
are,or become,incorrect,inaccurate or incomplete,the private letter ruling may be ivahdated----- invalid and eur-ability-terely
en-the conclusions reached therein could be jeopardized .If we were to undergo a subsequent ownership change,our ability
to utilize our federal and state NOLs and other tax return-attributes could be subject to severe limitations. GAAP
requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary
differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are required to be
reduced by a valuation allowance if it is “ more likely than not ” that some portion or the entire deferred tax asset will
not be realized. In our evaluation of the need for a valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets, we consider, among
other things, all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities,
projected future taxable income, the overall business environment, our historical financial results, our industry' s
historically cyclical financial results, our cumulative three- year income or loss position and potential current and future
tax planning strategies . On February 12, 2021, the Alabama Governor signed into law Alabama House Bill 170, now Act
2021- 1 (the =" Act 2" ). The Act makes several changes to the state’ s business tax structure. Among the provisions of the
Act, is the repeal of the so- called corporate income tax ““ throwback rule. ” That rule required all sales originating in Alabama
and delivered to a jurisdiction where the seller was not subject to tax, to be included in the seller’ s Alabama income tax base.




Thus, prior to repeal of the throwback rule, we had to rely on eurits Alabama NOL carryforwards to shelter taxes imposed
under such throwback rule. As a result of the now repealed throwback rule, effective January 1, 2021, all such sales should now
be excluded from Alabama taxable income without the need to utilize Alabama NOLs. As a result of the repeal of the
throwback rule, we have determined that it is not more likely than not that we would have sufficient taxable income to utilize all
of our Alabama deferred income tax assets prior to expiration. Therefore, at December 31, 2623-2024 , we have a valuation
allowance against our state deferred income tax assets of approximately $ 44. 7 million. Recently Adopted Accounting
Standards See Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements for disclosures related to new accounting
pronouncements. Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Commodity Price Risk We are
exposed to commodity price risk on sales of coal. We typically sell our steelmaking coal under contracts primarily with
pricing terms of three months and volume terms of one to three years. Sales commitments in the steelmaking coal
market are typically not long- term in nature, and we are, therefore, subject to fluctuations in market pricing. We
occasionally enter into natural gas swap contracts to hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows
associated with the fluctuations in the price of natural gas related to our forecasted sales. Our natural gas swap contracts
economically hedge certain risk but are not designated as hedges for financial reporting purposes. All changes in the fair
value of these derivative instruments are recorded as other revenues in the Statements of Operations. Historically, all of
our derivative instruments were entered into for hedging purposes rather than speculative trading. As of December 31,
2024, the Company had S. 5 metric million British thermal unit gas contracts outstanding. We have exposure to price
risk for supplies that are used directly or indirectly in the normal course of production, such as diesel fuel, steel,
explosives and other items. We manage our risk for these items through strategic sourcing contracts in normal quantities
with our suppliers. We historically have not entered into any derivative commodity instruments to manage the exposure
to changing price risk for supplies. Credit Risk Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a concentration of
credit risk consist principally of trade receivables. We provide our products to customers based on an evaluation of the
financial condition of our customers. In some instances, we require letters of credit, cash collateral or prepayments from
our customers on or before shipment to mitigate the risk of loss. Exposure to losses on receivables is principally
dependent on each customer’ s financial condition. We monitor the exposure to credit losses and maintain allowances for
anticipated losses. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 we did not have any allowances for credit losses
associated with our trade accounts receivables. Interest Rate Risk We are exposed to market risk from changes in
interest rates. Our Notes have a fixed rate of interest of 7. 875 % per annum and are payable semi- annually in arrears
on June 1 and December 1 of each year. Our ABL Facility bears an interest rate equal to SOFR, plus a credit adjustment
spread, ranging currently from 11 bps to 43 bps, or an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin, which is
determined based on the average availability of the commitments under the ABL Facility, ranging currently from 150
bps to 200 bps or 50 bps to 100 bps, respectively. Any debt that we incur under the ABL Facility will expose us to interest
rate risk. If interest rates increase significantly in the future, our exposure to interest rate risk will increase. As of
December 31, 2024, assuming we had $ 113. 5 million outstanding under our ABL Facility, a 100 basis point increase or
decrease in interest rates would increase or decrease our annual interest expense under the ABL Facility by
approximately $ 1. 1 million. Impact of Inflation We have exposure to inflation for supplies that are used directly or
indirectly in the normal course of production, such as belt structure, roof bolts, cable, magnetite, rock dust and other
supplies, plus labor and parts on repair and rebuild equipment. These inflationary pressures have contributed to rising
costs for us and may continue to do so in the future. We are applying a number of different strategies to mitigate the
impact of inflation on our operations, including placing purchase orders earlier, utilizing short term contracts and
leveraging our supplier relationships. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data The information required
by this item appears beginning on page F- 1 following the signature pages of this Annual Report. Item 9. Changes in and
Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure None. Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures As required by Rule 13a- 15 (b) under the Exchange Act, our management, under
the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) under the Exchange Act) as of
December 31, 2024. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the SEC' s rules and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure
controls and procedures or our internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A control
system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. Management' s Annual Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a- 15 (f) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our
management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024. In
making this assessment, our management used the criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework



(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("' COSO"). Our
management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based
on this assessment and these criteria. Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP (PCAOB
ID: 0042), has audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as stated in their attestation
report included in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There were
no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2024, that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Item 9B.
Other Information Amended and Restated Employment Agreements The Company is a party to an employment
agreement with each of Walter J. Scheller, III, Jack K. Richardson, Kelli K. Gant and Charles Lussier (each, an
Executive ”). On February 10, 2025, the Company and each Executive entered into an Amended and Restated
Employment Agreement (collectively, the “ Amended Employment Agreements ), which replace the prior employment
agreements in their entirety. The Amended Employment Agreements (i) provide that, if an Executive’ s employment is
terminated without Cause or for Good Reason within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control (as such
capitalized terms are defined in the Amended Employment Agreements), the Executive shall receive (A) a prorated
bonus for the year of termination if such termination occurs following the third quarter of the Company’ s fiscal year
and (B) accelerated vesting of the portion of an equity award that would have become vested within thirty (30) days
following the date of termination; (ii) standardize the severance payments and other benefits that the Executives will
receive upon a termination without Cause or for Good Reason; and (iii) amend the definition of “ Good Reason, ” as well
as provide for certain other administrative, clarifying and conforming changes. The above summary of the Amended
Employment Agreements is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the Amended
Employment Agreements, copies of which are filed as Exhibits 10. 6, 10. 7, 10. 9 and 10. 10 to this Annual Report on
Form 10- K and are incorporated herein by reference. Rule 10b5- 1 Trading Arrangements From time to time, members
of the Company' s Board of Directors and officers of the Company may enter into Rule 10bS- 1 trading plans, which
allow for the purchase or sale of common stock under pre- established terms at times when directors and officers might
otherwise be prevented from trading under insider trading laws or because of self- imposed blackout periods. Such
trading plans are intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10bS- 1 (c) under the Exchange Act and
comply with the Company' s insider trading policy. During the three months ended December 31, 2024, none of the
Company’ s directors or officers adopted or terminated a “ Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” or a “ non- Rule 10bS- 1
trading arrangement, ” as each term is defined in Item 408 of Regulation S- K. Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign
Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections Part I1I Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Information regarding our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Corporate Governance Guidelines for our
principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer are described in “ Item 1. Business ” in this
Annual Report. Pursuant to paragraph 3 of General Instruction G to Form 10- K, we incorporate by reference into this
Item 10 the information to be disclosed in our definitive proxy statement, which is to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A
with the SEC within 120 days after the close of the year ended December 31, 2024. Insider Trading Policies and
Procedures Item 11. Executive Compensation Pursuant to paragraph 3 of General Instruction G to Form 10- K, we
incorporate by reference into this Item 11 the information to be disclosed in our definitive proxy statement, which is to
be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC within 120 days after the close of the year ended December 31, 2024.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters Equity
Compensation Plans The following table sets forth certain information relating to our equity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2024: Number of Securities to be Issued upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants, and
RightsWeighted Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options, Warrants, and Rights (1) Number of Securities
Remaining Available for Future IssuanceEquity compensation plans approved by security holders: 2017 Equity
Incentive Plan499, 694 $ — 4, 178, 991 (1) The weighted- average exercise price does not take into account restricted
stock units or phantom units, which do not have an exercise price. Pursuant to paragraph 3 of General Instruction G to
Form 10- K, we incorporate by reference into this Item 12 all other information to be disclosed in our definitive proxy
statement, which is to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC within 120 days after the close of the year ended
December 31, 2024. Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence Pursuant to
paragraph 3 of General Instruction G to Form 10- K, we incorporate by reference into this Item 13 the information to be
disclosed in our definitive proxy statement, which is to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC within 120 days
after the close of the year ended December 31, 2024. Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services Pursuant to
paragraph 3 of General Instruction G to Form 10- K, we incorporate by reference into this Item 14 the information to be
disclosed in our definitive proxy statement, which is to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC within 120 days
after the close of the year ended December 31, 2024. Part IV Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules (a) (1)
Financial Statements Our consolidated financial statements are included in this Annual Report beginning on page F- 1.
(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules All schedules have been omitted because they are either not applicable, not
required or the information called for therein appears in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto. (a) (3)
Exhibits ExhibitNumber Description 2. 1 # Amended and Restated Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 31,
2016, by and among Warrior Met Coal, LLC and the other purchasers party thereto, as buyers, and Walter Energy, Inc.
and certain subsidiaries of Walter Energy, Inc., as sellers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 1 to the Registrant' s
Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the Commission on March 7, 2017). 2. 2Form of
Certificate of Conversion of Warrior Met Coal, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 2 to the Registrant' s
Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the Commission on April



3, 2017). 3. 1Certificate of Incorporation of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the
Registrant' s Registration Statement on Form S- 8 (File No. 333- 217389) filed with the Commission on April 19, 2017). 3.
2Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant' s Current Report on Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on March
20, 2020). 3. 3Second Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of Warrior Met Coal, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant' s Current Report on Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed
with the Commission on April 26, 2022). 3. 4Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Warrior Met Coal, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the
Commission on October 25, 2024).). 3. SCertificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of
Warrior Met Coal, Inc., as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on February 14, 2020 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant' s Current Report on Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the
Commission on February 14, 2020). 4. 1Indenture, dated as of December 6, 2021, by and among Warrior Met Coal, Inc.
the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto from time to time and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee and
as priority lien collateral trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant' s Current Report on Form
8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on December 7, 2021). 4. 2Specimen Certificate for shares of
common stock, par value $ 0. 01 per share, of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant' s
Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the Commission on April
3, 2017). 4. 3Rights Agreement, dated as of February 14, 2020, between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and Computershare
Trust Company, N. A., as rights agent (including the form of Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock attached thereto as Exhibit A, the form of Right Certificate attached thereto as Exhibit B and the
Summary of Rights to Purchase Preferred Shares attached thereto as Exhibit C (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.
1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on February 14,
2020)). 4. 4Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement dated as of March 4, 2022 between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and
Computershare Trust Company, N. A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant' s Current Report on
Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on March 4, 2022). 4. SAmendment No. 2 to Rights
Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2023, between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N. A.,
as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant' s Current Report on Form 8- K (File No.
001- 38061) filed with the Commission on December 8, 2023). 4. 6Description of Securities Registered Pursuant to Section
12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 10. 1 # Second Amended and Restated Asset- Based Revolving Credit
Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2021, by and among Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries, as
borrower, the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto and Citibank, N. A., as administrative agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant' s Current Report on Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed
with the Commission on December 7, 2021). 10. 2Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2021, among
Citibank, N. A., initial ABL agent, Wilmington Trust, National Association, initial term agent and initial term
representative, and each additional term agent and additional term representative from time to time party thereto. 10. 3
1+ Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant' s
Current Report on Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on April 19, 2017). 10. 4 ¥ Warrior Met
Coal, LLC 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 11 to the Registrant' s Amendment No. 1
to the Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the Commission on March 27, 2017). 10. S +
Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant' s
Current Report on Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on April 19, 2017). 10. 6 * Amended and
Restated Employment Agreement, dated February 10, 2025 by and between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and Walter J.
Scheller, III. 10. 7 * Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated February 10, 2025, by and between Warrior
Met Coal, Inc. and Jack K. Richardson. 10. 8 + Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2017, by and between
Warrior Met Coal, LLC and Dale W. Boyles (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 10 to the Registrant' s
Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the Commission on March 7, 2017). 10. 9 *
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated February 10, 2025, by and between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and
Kelli K. Gant. 10. 10 * Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated February 10, 2025, by and between
Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and Charles Lussier. 10. 11 * Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated February
10, 2025, by and between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and Brian M. Chopin. 10. 12 ¥ Form of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017
Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the
Registrant' s Current Report on Form 8- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on June 5, 2017). 10. 13 +
Restricted Unit Award Agreement, dated March 31, 2016, by and between Warrior Met Coal, LLC and Walter J.
Scheller, III (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 13 to the Registrant' s Amendment No. 3 to the Registration
Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the Commission April 10, 2017). 10. 14  Restricted Unit Award
Agreement, dated April 20, 2016, by and between Warrior Met Coal, LLC and Jack K. Richardson (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 15 to the Registrant' s Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No.
333- 216499) filed with the Commission on April 10, 2017). 10. 15  Restricted Unit Award Agreement, dated January 1,
2017, by and between Warrior Met Coal, LLC and Dale W. Boyles (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 16 to the
Registrant' s Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the
Commission on April 10, 2017). 10. 16 1 Restricted Unit Award Agreement, dated March 31, 2016, by and between
Warrior Met Coal, LLC and Stephen D. Williams (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 17 to the Registrant' s
Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the Commission on April



10, 2017). 10. 17 + Restricted Unit Award Agreement, dated February 24, 2017, by and between Warrior Met Coal, LLC
and Stephen D. Williams (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 18 to the Registrant' s Amendment No. 3 to the
Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the Commission on April 10, 2017). 10. 18 +
Phantom Unit Award Agreement, dated March 31, 2016, by and between Warrior Met Coal, LLC and Stephen D.
Williams (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 19 to the Registrant' s Amendment No. 3 to the Registration
Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 216499) filed with the Commission on April 10, 2017). 10. 19 } Restricted Stock
Unit Award Agreement, dated April 19,2017, by and between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and Stephen D. Williams
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 23 to the Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed
with the Commission on February 21, 2019). 10. 20 + Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (for non-
employee directors), dated April 27,2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 24 to the Registrant' s Annual Report
on Form 10- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on February 21, 2019). 10. 21 { Form of Restricted Stock
Unit Award Agreement (for non- employee directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 25 to the Registrant' s
Annual Report on Form 10- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on February 21, 2019). 10. 22 + Form of
Amendment to Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (for non- employee directors). 10. 23 + Form of Warrior Met
Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Time- Based Vesting Award)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant' s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q (File No. 001- 38061)
filed with the Commission on May 2, 2018). 10. 24 ¥ Form of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance- Based Vesting Award) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.
2 to the Registrant' s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on May 2, 2018).
10. 25 1 Form of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance- Based
Vesting Award- 2019 Retention Grant) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 26 to the Registrant' s Annual Report
on Form 10- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on February 21, 2020). 10. 26 + Form of Amendment to
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreements (for executive officers), effective January 1, 2020 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 27 to the Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on
February 21, 2020). 10. 27 + Form of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
(Time- Based Vesting Award- Revised) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 26 to the Registrant' s Annual Report
on Form 10- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on February 21, 2020). 10. 28 + Form of Warrior Met
Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance- Based Vesting Award- Revised)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 26 to the Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K (File No. 001- 38061) filed
with the Commission on February 21, 2020). 10. 29 1+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (for non-
employee director grants in 2023) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant' s Quarterly Report on
Form 10- Q (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the commission on May 3, 2023). 10. 30 ¥ Form of Restricted Stock Unit
Award Agreement (for non- employee director grants in 2023 with deferral election) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant' s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on
May 3, 2023). 10. 31 + Warrior Met Coal, Inc. Transformational Retention / Incentive Award Agreement, dated May 1,
2023, by and between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and Walter J. Scheller, III (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to
the Registrant' s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on May 3, 2023). 10.
32 1 Form of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. Transformational Retention / Incentive Award Agreement (for non- CEO named
executive officers), dated May 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the Registrant' s Quarterly Report
on Form 10- Q (File No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on May 3, 2023). 19. 1 * Insider Trading Policy21. 1 *
List of Subsidiaries of the Company. 23. 1 * Consent of Ernst & Young LLP. 23. 2 * Consent of Marshall Miller &
Associates, Inc. 23. 3 * Consent of McGehee Engineering Corp. 31. 1 * Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant
to Rule 13a- 14 (a) / 15d- 14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 31. 2 * Certification of Chief
Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (a) / 15d- 14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 32. 1 * *
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18. U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 95 * Mine Safety Disclosures Pursuant to Section 1503 (a) of
the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S- K (17 CFR 299. 104)
96. 1 * Technical Report Summary for Mine No. 7- S- K 1300 Report96. 2Technical Report Summary for Mine No. 4- S-
K 1300 Report (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 96. 2 to the Registrant' s Amendment No. 1 on Form 10- K/ A (File
No. 001- 38061) filed with the Commission on May 18, 2023 to the Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K (File No.
002- 38061) filed with the Commission on February 15, 2023) 96. 3Technical Report Summary for Blue Creek- S- K 1300
Report (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 96. 3 to the Registrant' s Annual Report on Form 10- K (File No. 002-
38061) filed with the Commission on February 14, 2024). 97. 1Warrior Met Coal, Inc. Policy for the Recovery of
Erroneously Awarded Compensation. 101INS * XBRL Instance Document- the instance document does not appear in
the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document. 101. SCH * Inline
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document101. CAL * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation LinkBase
Document101. DEF * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition LinkBase Document101. LAB * Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Label LinkBase Document101. PRE * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation LinkBase
Document104 * Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted Inline XBRL and included in the Interactive Data Files
submitted under Exhibit 101). * Filed herewith. * * Furnished herewith. + Management contract, compensatory plan or
arrangement. # The schedules to this agreement have been omitted for this filing pursuant to Item 601 (b) (2) of
Regulation S- K. The Company will furnish copies of such schedules to the SEC upon request. Item 16. Form 10- K
Summary SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of



1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Warrior Met Coal, Inc. By: / s / Dale W. Boyles Dale W. BoylesChief Financial Officer (on behalf of the registrant) Date:
February 13, 2025 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Signature
Title Date / s / Walter J. Scheller, [lIWalter J. Scheller, IIIChief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and
DirectorFebruary 13,2025 /s / Dale W. BoylesDale W. BoylesChief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer) February 13,2025 /s / J. Brett Harvey J. Brett HarveyDirectorFebruary 13,2025 /s / Alan H.
SchumacherAlan H. SchumacherDirectorFebruary 13,2025 /s / Ana B. AmicarellaAna B. AmicarellaDirectorFebruary
13,2025 /s / Stephen D. WilliamsStephen D. WilliamsDirectorFebruary 13, 2025 /s / Lisa M. SchnorrLisa M.
SchnorrDirectorFebruary 13, 2025 INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Reports of Independent Registered Public
Accounting FirmF- 2Balance Sheets at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023F- SStatements of Operations for the
years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022F- 6Statements of Changes in Equity for the
years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022F- 7Statements of Cash Flows for the years
ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022F- 8Notes to Financial StatementsF- 10 Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Warrior Met Coal,
Inc. Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Warrior Met Coal, Inc.
(the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related statements of operations, changes in equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the «
consolidated financial statements ). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U. S. generally accepted
accounting principles. We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company' s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 13, 2025 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon. Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company' s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company' s financial statements based on our audits.
We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matter The critical audit matter
communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures
that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex
judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a
separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates. Asset Retirement
ObligationsDescription of the MatterAt December 31, 2024, the Company had recorded asset retirement obligations of
approximately $ 85. 2 million for the estimated costs to reclaim surface lands and supporting infrastructure in
accordance with applicable reclamation laws in the United States as defined by each mining permit. Changes in the asset
retirement obligations are more fully described in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements. The calculation of
reclamation obligations requires significant judgment due to the inherent complexity in estimating the amount and
timing of future costs and determining an appropriate rate to discount these costs back to their present value. Auditing
the Company' s asset retirement obligations involved a high degree of subjectivity as estimates underlying the
determination of the obligation were based on assumptions unique to mining operations and subject to various laws and
regulations governing the protection of the applicable environment, including estimates of disturbed acreage as
determined from engineering data, estimates of future costs to reclaim the disturbed acreage and the timing and amount
of related cash flows, which are discounted using a credit- adjusted, risk- free rate. Actual costs incurred in future
periods could differ from amounts estimated and future changes to environmental laws and regulations could increase
the extent of reclamation work required. How We Addressed the Matter in Our AuditWe obtained an understanding,
evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’ s process for evaluating the
asset retirement obligations. For example, we tested controls over management’ s review of the assumptions described
above. To test the asset retirement obligations, our audit procedures included, among others, involving our specialist to
assist us in evaluating the Company’ s reclamation cost estimates, including estimates of disturbed acreage, the scope of
estimated reclamation activities against regulatory requirements, the associated future reclamation costs, and the timing
of related cash flows, and the Company' s reclamation methodology against industry practice. We also evaluated
management’ s methodology for determining the credit adjusted risk- free rate used to discount the asset retirement



obligations. / s / Ernst & Young LLLP We have served as the Company' s auditor since 2016. Birmingham, Alabama F- 3
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting We have audited Warrior Met Coal, Inc.’ s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO
criteria). In our opinion, Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on the COSO criteria. We also have audited, in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related statements of operations, changes in
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and our
report dated February 13, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. The Company’ s management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’ s Annual Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance
with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting A
company’ s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’ s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Birmingham, Alabama F- 4 WARRIOR MET COAL, INC. BALANCE SHEETS December
31, 2024December 31, 2023 ASSETSCurrent assets: Cash and cash equivalents $ 4+-491 , 547 § 738, 197 Short- term
investments14, 622 9, 030 Trade accounts receivable140, 867 98, 225 Other receivables728 4, 379 Income tax receivable
— 7, 833 Inventories, net207, 590 183, 949 Prepaid expenses and other31, 708 27, 553 Total current assets887, 062 1, 069,
166 Restricted cash7, S85 — Mineral interests, net72, 245 80, 442 Property, plant and equipment, netl, 549, 470 1, 179,
609 Deferred income taxes3, 210 S, 854 Long- term investments44, 604 — Other long- term assets27, 340 21, 987 Total
assets $ 2, 591, 516 $ 2, 357, 058 LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY Current liabilities: Accounts payable
$40,178 $ 36, 245 Accrued expenses85, 369 81, 612 Asset retirement obligations13, 032 12, 500 Short- term financing
lease obligations13, 208 11, 463 Other current liabilities18, 643 5, 850 Total current liabilities170, 430 147, 670 Long-
term debt153, 612 153, 023 Asset retirement obligations72, 138 71, 666 Black lung obligations34, 467 26, 966 Financing
lease obligations6, 217 8, 756 Deferred income taxes63, 835 74, S31 Total liabilitiesS00, 699 482, 612 Stockholders’
Equity: Common stock, $ 0. 01 par value per share (Authorized- 140, 000, 000 shares, 54, 533, 374 issued and 52, 311,
533 outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 54, 240, 764 issued and 52, 018, 923 outstanding as of December 31, 2023)
545 542 Preferred stock, $ 0. 01 par value per share (10, 000, 000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding)
— — Treasury stock, at cost (2, 221, 841 shares as of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023) (50, 576) (50, 576)
Additional paid in capital289, 808 279, 332 Retained earnings 1, 851, 040 1, 645, 148 Total stockholders’ equity2, 090, 817
1, 874, 446 Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 2, 591, 516 $ 2, 357, 058 The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these consolidated financial statements. STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (in thousands, except per share
amounts) For the years ended December 31, 202420232022Revenues: Sales $ 1,499,980 $ 1, 647,992 § 1, 707, 579 Other
revenues2S, 240 28, 633 31, 159 Total revenuesl, 525, 220 1, 676, 625 1, 738, 738 Costs and expenses: Cost of sales
(exclusive of items shown separately below) 1, 007, 297 910, 269 710, 605 Cost of other revenues (exclusive of items shown
separately below) 45, 449 37, 486 27, 047 Depreciation and depletion153, 982 127, 356 115, 279 Selling, general and
administrative63, 078 51, 817 48, 791 Business interruptionS24 8, 291 23, 455 Idle mine — — 12, 137 Total costs and
expensesl, 270, 330 1, 135, 219 937, 314 Operating income 254, 890 541, 406 801, 424 Interest expense (4, 271) (17, 960)
(31, 433) Interest income33, 047 40, 699 12, 438 Loss on early extinguishment of debt — (11, 699) — Other (expense)
income — (1, 027) 675 Income before income taxes283, 666 551, 419 783, 104 Income tax expense 33, 063 72, 790 141, 806
Net income $ 250, 603 $ 478, 629 $ 641, 298 Basic and diluted net income per share: Net income per share — basic $ 4. 79
$9.21 8 12. 42 Net income per share — diluted $ 4. 79 $ 9. 20 $ 12. 40 Weighted average number of shares outstanding
— basicS2, 287 51, 973 51, 622 Weighted average number of shares outstanding — diluted52, 345 52, 045 51, 715



Dividends per share: $0.82 $1.16 $ 1. 54 STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Common StockPreferred
StockTreasury StockAdditional Paid in CapitalRetained EarningsTotalStockholders’ EquityBalance at December 31,
2021 $537$—$ (50,576) $ 256, 059 $ 665, 963 $ 871, 983 Net income — — — — 641, 298 641, 298 Dividends declared
($ 1. 54 per share) — — — — (79, 665) (79, 665) Stock compensation — — — 17, 621 — 17, 621 Other2 — — (3, 724) —
(3, 722) Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 539 § — $ (50, 576) $ 269, 956 $ 1, 227,596 $ 1, 447, 515 Net income — — — —
478, 629 478, 629 Dividends declared ($ 1. 16 per share) — — — — (61, 077) (61, 077) Stock compensation — — — 18,
300 — 18, 300 Other3 — — (8, 924) — (8, 921) Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 542 $ — $ (50, 576) $ 279, 332 $ 1, 645,
148 $ 1, 874, 446 Net income — — — — 250, 603 250, 603 Dividends declared ($ 0. 82 per share) — — — — (44, 711)
(44, 711) Stock compensation — — — 22, 256 — 22, 256 Other3 — — (11, 780) — (11, 777) Balance at December 31,
2024 $545% —$ (50,576) $ 289,808 $ 1, 851, 040 $ 2, 090, 817 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands) For
the years ended December 31, 2024202320220PERATING ACTIVITIESNet income $ 250, 603 $ 478, 629 § 641, 298
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: Depreciation and depletion153, 982
127, 356 115, 279 Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (8, 052) 52, 871 141, 806 Stock- based compensation expense22,
070 18,207 17, 621 Mark- to- market loss on gas hedges1, 835 — 4, 043 Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt
discountl, 590 2, 094 3, 165 Accretion and valuation adjustment of AROS, 435 4, 535 1, 941 Loss on early
extinguishment of debt — 11, 699 — Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Trade accounts receivable (42, 642) 53,
601 (29, 676) Other receivables3, 651 1, 187 7, 225 Income tax receivable7, 833 (7, 833) — Inventories (18, 495) (30, 785)
(79, 845) Prepaid expenses and other current assets (4, 155) (2, 034) 888 Accounts payable (2, 551) 215 (5, 442) Accrued
expenses and other current liabilities1, 207 (8, 645) 22, 803 Other (4, 863) 11 798 Net cash provided by operating
activities367, 448 701, 108 841, 904 INVESTING ACTIVITIESPurchase of property, plant and equipment (457, 221)
(491, 674) (205, 242) Deferred mine development costs (31, 060) (33, 112) (48, 935) Purchase of investments (49, 721) — —
Acquisition of leased mineral rights — — (3, 500) Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (2, 421) 2, 533 Net cash used in
investing activities (538, 002) (527, 207) (255, 144) FINANCING ACTIVITIESDividends paid (43, 823) (61, 077) (79, 665)
Retirements of debt — (162, 358) (39, 382) Proceeds from financing lease obligations4, 503 — — Principal repayments of
financing lease obligations (17, 414) (32, 330) (30, 348) Other (11, 777) (9, 419) (3, 724) Net cash used in financing
activities (68, 511) (265, 184) (153, 119) Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (239, 065) (91, 283) 433, 641
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period738, 197 829, 480 395, 839 Cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash at end of period $ 499, 132 § 738, 197 § 829, 480 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period $ 738,
197 $ 829, 480 $ 395, 839 Restricted cash at beginning of period — — — Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
beginning of period $ 738, 197 § 829, 480 $ 395, 839 Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 491, 547 § 738, 197 $§
829, 480 Restricted cash at end of period7, 585 — — Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 499,
132 $ 738,197 $ 829, 480 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) For the years ended December 31,
202420232022SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION: Interest paid, net of capitalized
interest $ 13, 621 $ 23,970 $ 27, 810 Cash paid for income taxes $ 26, 500 $ 27, 004 $ — SUPPLEMENTAL
DISCLOSURE OF NON- CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES: Financing leases- equipment $ 12, 147
$11,312 $ 8, 150 F- 9 WARRIOR MET COAL, INC. NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Note 1 — Business and
Basis of Presentation Description of the Business Warrior Met Coal, Inc. is a U. S.- based, environmentally and socially
minded supplier to the global steel industry. The Company is dedicated entirely to mining non- thermal steelmaking coal
used as a critical component of steel production by metal manufacturers in Europe, South America and Asia. The
Company is a large- scale, low- cost producer and exporter of premium steelmaking coal, also known as hard- coking
coal (" HCC"), operating highly efficient longwall operations in its underground mines based in Alabama. The HCC
that the Company produces from the Blue Creek coal seam contains very low sulfur and has strong coking properties.
The Company also generates ancillary revenues from the sale of natural gas extracted as a byproduct from the
underground coal mines and royalty revenues from leased properties. The accompanying financial statements include
the accounts of Warrior Met Coal, Inc and its subsidiaries (the'" Company'). All significant intercompany transactions
and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Collective Bargaining Agreement The Company' s Collective
Bargaining Agreement (“ CBA ”) contract with the United Mine Workers of America (“ UMWA ”) expired on April 1,
2021 and the labor union initiated a strike after an agreement on a new contract was not reached. As a result of the
strike, the Company initially idled Mine No. 4 and scaled back operations at Mine No. 7. In the first quarter of 2022, the
Company restarted operations at Mine No. 4. Due to the reduced operations at Mine No. 4 and Mine No. 7, the
Company incurred idle mine expense of $ 12. 1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This expense is reported
separately in the Statements of Operations and represents expenses incurred while the respective mine was idled or
operating below normal capacity, such as electricity, insurance and maintenance labor. The Company incurred no idle
mine expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The Company incurred business
interruption expenses of approximately $ 0. 5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which represents ongoing
legal expenses associated with the ongoing labor negotiations. The Company incurred $ 8. 3 million and $ 23. S million
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, which represent non- recurring expenses
that were directly attributable to the labor strike for incremental safety and security, labor negotiations and other
expenses. These expenses are also presented separately in the Statements of Operations. On February 16, 2023, the labor
union representing certain of the Company' s hourly employees announced that they were ending the strike and made an
unconditional offer to return to work. The Company continues to engage in good faith efforts with the labor union to
reach an agreement on a new contract. Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Use of Estimates The
Company prepares its financial statements in conformity with GAAP, which requires management to make estimates



and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods
presented. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash Cash and cash equivalents include short- term deposits and highly
liquid investments that have original maturities of three months or less when purchased and are stated at cost, which
approximates fair value. Restricted cash consist of cash that the Company is contractually obligated to maintain in a
money market account as collateral for workers' compensation claims. Restricted cash is classified as noncurrent based
on the nature of the restriction. Instruments with maturities greater than three months, but less than twelve months, are
included in short- term investments. The Company purchases fixed income securities and certificates of deposits with
varying maturities that are WARRIOR MET COAL, INC. NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
classified as available for sale and are carried at fair value. Securities classified as held to maturity securities are those
securities that management has the intent and ability to hold to maturity. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31,
2023, short- term investments consisted of $ 14. 6 million and $ 9 in cash and fixed income securities . Certain
The short- term investments as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, consists of $ 14. 6 million and $ 9. 0 million
posted as collateral for the self- insured black lung related claims asserted by or on behalf of former employees of Walter
Energy, Inc. (" Walter Energy") and its subsidiaries, which were assumed by the Company and relate to periods prior
to March 31, 2016, respectively. The Company also had $ S. 1 million in fixed income securities as of December 31, 2024
with maturities less than twelve months and the Company had no such investments as of December 31, 2023. As of
December 31, 2024, long- term investments consisted of $ 44. 6 million in fixed income securities with maturities greater
than twelve months. The Company had no such investments as of December 31, 2023. Concentrations of Credit Risk and
Major Customers The Company’ s principal line of business is mining and marketing steelmaking coal to foreign steel
producers. For the year ended December 31, 2024, approximately 98. 3 % of sales were derived from coal shipments to
customers, located primarily in Europe, South America and Asia. At December 31, 2024 approximately 98. 0 % of trade
receivables were related to these customers. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company' s geographic customer
mix was 42 % in Asia, 38 % in Europe, 19 % in South America and 1 % in the U. S. During the year ended December
31, 2024, three of our customers accounted for $ 190. 8 million, or 12. 7 %, $ 190. 1 million, or 12. 7 %, and $ 178. 1
million, or 11. 9 % of total revenues, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2023, three of our customers
accounted for $ 246. 4 million, or 14. 9 %, $ 205. 7 million, or 12. 4 % and $ 195. 3 million, or 11. 8 % of total revenues,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2022, three of our customers accounted for $ 330. 1 million, or 19. 1
%, $ 207. 8 million, or 12. 0 %, and $ 187. 0 million, or 10. 8 % of total revenues, respectively. Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when performance obligations under the terms of a contract with the Company' s customers are
satisfied; for all contracts this occurs when control of the promised goods have been transferred to the Company' s
customers and risk of loss passes to the customer. For coal shipments to domestic customers via rail, control is
transferred when the railcar is loaded. For coal shipments to international customers via ocean vessel, control is typically
transferred when the vessel is loaded at the Port of Mobile in Alabama. Occasionally, the Company will sell coal
stockpiles at the barge loadout or port upon which control, title and risk of loss transfers when stockpiles are segregated.
For all steelmaking coal sales under average pricing contracts where pricing is not finalized when revenue is recognized,
revenue is recorded based on estimated consideration to be received at the date of the sale. For natural gas sales, control
is transferred when the gas has been transferred to the pipeline. Revenue is disaggregated between coal sales within the
Company' s mining segment and natural gas sales included in all other revenues, as disclosed in Note 20. The Company'
s coal and gas sales generally include up to 45- day payment terms following the transfer of control of the goods to the
customer unless secured by a letter of credit which could include up to 60- day payment terms. The Company typically
does not include extended payment terms in its contracts with customers. Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for
Credit Losses Trade accounts receivable are stated at cost. Trade accounts receivable represent customer obligations
that are derived from revenue recognized from contracts with customers. Credit is extended based on an evaluation of
the individual customer' s financial condition. The Company maintains trade credit insurance on the majority of its
customers and the geographic regions of coal shipments to these customers. In some instances, the Company requires
letters of credit, cash collateral or prepayments from its customers on or before shipment to mitigate the risk of loss.
These efforts have consistently resulted in the Company recognizing no historical credit losses. The Company also has
never had to have a claim against its trade credit insurance policy. In order to estimate the allowance for credit losses on
trade accounts receivable, the Company utilizes an aging approach in which potential impairment is calculated based on
how long a receivable has been outstanding (e. g., current, 1- 31, F- 11 31- 60, etc.). The Company calculates an expected
credit loss rate based on the Company’ s historical credit loss rate, the risk characteristics of its customers, and the
current steelmaking coal and steel market environments. As of December 31, 2024, the estimated allowance for credit
losses was immaterial and did not have a material impact on the Company' s financial statements. Shipping and
Handling Costs incurred to transport coal to the point of sale at the Port of Mobile, Alabama, are included in cost of sales
and the gross amounts billed to customers, if any, to cover shipping and handling to the ultimate / final destination are
included in sales. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Coal inventory costs include labor,
supplies, equipment costs, operating overhead, freight, royalties, depreciation and depletion and other related costs. Coal
inventories are valued using the first- in, first- out inventory valuation method. The valuation of coal inventories is
subject to estimates due to possible gains and losses resulting from inventory movements from the mine site to storage
facilities, inherent inaccuracies in belt scales and aerial surveys used to measure quantities and fluctuations in moisture
content. Periodic adjustments to coal tonnages on hand are made for an estimate of coal shortages and overages due to



these inherent gains and losses, primarily based on historical results from aerial surveys and periodic coal pile clean-
ups. Supplies inventories are valued using the average cost method of accounting. Management evaluates its supplies
inventory in terms of excess and obsolete exposures which includes such eould-as anticipated usage, inventory
turnover, inventory levels and ultimate market value. A reserve for excess and obsolete supplies inventory is established
and charged to cost of sales in the Statements of Operations. Deferred Longwall Move Expenses Direct costs, including
labor and supplies, associated with moving longwall equipment and the related equipment refurbishment costs are
deferred and included in prepaid expenses. These deferred costs are amortized on a units- of- production basis into cost
of sales over the life of the subsequent panel of coal mined by the longwall equipment. See Note 4 for further disclosures
related to deferred longwall move expenses. Advanced Mining Royalties Lease rights to coal reserves are often acquired
in ehange-exchange or-for eireumstanees-eotld-royalty payments. Advance mining royalties arise--- are advance payments
made to lessors under terms of mineral lease agreements eoutd-further-limit-are recoupable against future production
royalties. These advance payments are deferred and charged to operations as the coal reserves are mined. Advance
mining royalties are included in other long- term assets. See Note 6. Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and
equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is recorded principally on the straight- line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized on the straight- line method over the lesser of the useful
life of the improvement or the remaining lease term. Estimated useful lives used in computing depreciation expense range
from three to ten years or-for eliminate-machinery and equipment, and from fifteen to thirty years for land improvements
and buildings. Well life is used to estimate the useful life for gas properties and related development, and mine life is
used for amortizing mine development costs. Gains and losses upon disposition are reflected in the Statements of
Operations in the period of disposition. Maintenance and repair expenditures are charged to cost of sales as incurred.
Deferred Mine Development Costs of developing new underground mines and certain underground expansion projects
are capitalized. Underground development costs, which are costs incurred to make the coal physically accessible, may
include construction permits and licenses, mine design, construction of access roads, main entries, airshafts, roof
protection and the-other facilities. Mine development costs are amortized primarily on a units- of- production basis over
the estimated reserve tons directly benefiting from the capital expenditures. Costs amortized during the production
phase of a mine are capitalized into inventory and expensed to cost of sales as the coal is sold. Coal sales revenue related
to incidental production during the development phase are recorded as sales with an offset to cost of sales based on the
estimated cost per ton sold for the mine when the asset is in F- 12 place for its intended use. Amortization expense was $
5. 5 million and $ 2. 3 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, and is
included in depreciation and depletion in the accompanying Statements of Operations. No such amortization had
occurred for the year ended December 31, 2022. Owned and Leased Mineral Interests Costs to obtain coal reserves and
lease mineral rights are capitalized based on cost or the fair value at acquisition and depleted using the units- of-
production method over the life of proven and probable reserves. Lease agreements are generally long- term in nature
(original terms range from 10 to S0 years) and substantially all of the leases contain provisions that allow for automatic
extension of the lease term provided certain requirements are met. Depletion expense was $ 8. 4 million, $ 7. 3 million,
and $ 7. 4 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively, and
is included in depreciation and depletion in the accompanying Statements of Operations. The Company has certain asset
retirement obligations primarily related to mine closing reclamation costs, perpetual water care costs and other costs
associated with dismantling and removing facilities. Asset retirement obligations are determined for each mine using
various estimates and assumptions, including estimates of disturbed acreage as determined from engineering data,
estimates of future costs to reclaim the disturbed acreage and the timing of related cash flows, discounted using a credit-
adjusted, risk- free rate. The Company' s asset retirement obligations also include estimates to reclaim gas wells in
accordance with the Oil and Gas Board of Alabama. On at least an annual basis, the Company reviews the entire asset
retirement obligation liability and makes necessary adjustments for permit changes, the anticipated timing of mine
closures, and revisions to cost estimates and productivity assumptions to reflect current experience. As changes in
estimates occur, the carrying obligation avatable-federat-and asset are revised to reflect the new state
estimate NOLs-to-after applying the appropriate credit- adjusted, risk- free discount rate. The future costs of these
obligations are accrued at the estimated fair value in the period in which the-they Company;-sueh-are incurred if a
reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The present value of the estimated asset retirement cost is capitalized
anownership-part of the carrying amount of the long- lived asset. For sites where there is no asset, expense or income is
recognized for ehange-changes in estimates. Capitalized asset retirement costs are amortized on a units- of- production
basis over the estimated reserves. Accretion of the asset retirement obligation is recognized over time and generally will
escalate over the life of the producing asset , typically as production declines. Accretion is included in cost of sales on the
Statements of Operations. Accrued mine closing costs, perpetual care costs and reclamation costs and other costs of
dismantling and removing facilities are regularly reviewed by management and revised for changes in future estimated
costs and regulatory requirements, as necessary. For ongoing operations, adjustments to the liability result in

to the corresponding asset. For some operations, adjustments to the liability are recognized as income or
expense in the period the adjustment is recorded as no asset exists. Any difference between the recorded obligation and
the actual cost of reclamation is recorded in profit or loss in the period the obligation is settled. See Note 8 for further
disclosures related to asset retirement obligations. Impairment of Long- Lived Assets Property, plant and equipment
and other long- lived assets are reviewed for impairment at least annually or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the book value of the asset may not be recoverable. The Company periodically evaluates
whether events and circumstances have occurred that would indicate possible impairment. When impairment indicators



exist, the Company uses an estimate of the future undiscounted cash flows of the related asset or asset group over the
remaining life in measuring whether or not the asset values are recoverable. If the carrying amount of an asset or asset
group exceeds its estimated future cash flows, impairment is recognized equal to the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset or asset group. Fair value is generally determined using market
quotes, if available, or a discounted cash flow approach. The Company’ s estimate of future undiscounted cash flows is
based on assumptions including long- term steelmaking coal pricing forecasts, anticipated production volumes and mine
operating costs for the life of the mine or estimated useful life of the asset. F- 13 Equity Award Compensation The
Company accounts for equity award- based compensation to employees and non- employee / directors in accordance
with ASC 718 requiring employee equity awards to be accounted for under the fair value method. The Company
recognizes forfeitures as they occur. The Company recognizes compensation expense associated with equity awards for
all awards made to employees as the requisite service, performance and market vesting conditions are met. For units
granted containing only service and performance conditions, the fair value of the award is equal to the market price of
the Company' s common stock at the date of grant. For units granted containing only a market condition, the fair value
of the award is determined utilizing a Monte Carlo simulation model which incorporates the total stockholder return
hurdles set for each grant. Compensation expense for equity awards with a service- only condition is recognized over the
employee’ s requisite service period using a graded vesting method. For awards with a performance condition that
affects vesting, the performance condition is not considered in determining the award’ s grant- date fair value; however,
the performance conditions are considered when estimating the quantity of awards that are expected to vest. No
compensation expense is recorded for awards with performance conditions until the performance condition is
determined to be probable of achievement. For awards with a market condition that affects vesting, the market condition
is considered in determining the award’ s grant- date fair value. Compensation expense for awards with a market
condition is recognized straight- line over the derived or implied service period. Compensation expense for equity
awards is included in cost of sales, cost of other revenues and selling, general and administrative costs in the
accompanying Statements of Operations. Deferred Financing Costs The costs to obtain new debt financing or amend
existing financing agreements are deferred and amortized to interest expense over the life of the related indebtedness or
credit facility using the straight- line method. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were $ 2. 0 million
and $ 3. 0 million, respectively, of unamortized origination fees related to the ABL Facility (as defined in Note 13) in
other long- term assets on the accompanying Balance Sheets. See Note 6 for further disclosure related to origination fees.
As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 there were $ 2. 9 million and $ 3. S million, respectively, of unamortized
deferred financing costs and debt discount, net, related to the Notes (as defined in Note 13), which is presented as a net
deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt recognized in the accompanying Balance Sheets. Income Taxes

The Company records authority-provision or-for the expected ehaﬂges—rn—state—aﬂd—fedefa-l- }egls}aﬁeﬂ—effects of the

reported results of operations . The provision for # o
fature-taxable- from-operations;eouldlimit-our-taxes is determmed usmg the asset and abﬂ-rty—llablhty to-fully-utitize
eur-method, under which and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax impact of temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and for operating losses and tax credit
carryforwards . Under-Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax rates that
apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which those tax assets and liabilities are expected to be realized or
settled. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount that is believed
more likely than not to be realized. When the Company concludes that all or part of the net deferred income tax assets
are not realizable in the future, the Company makes an adjustment to the valuation allowance that is charged to
earnings in the period that such determination was made. The Company recognizes tax benefits from uncertain tax
positions only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities,
based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such positions
are the-then nternal-Revente-Code-measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 % likelihood of +986;
being realized upon ultimate settlement. Fair Value Measurements Fair value is defined as amended<the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. A the-three level hierarchy has been established for valuing assets and liabilities based on how
transparent (observable) the inputs are that are used to determine fair value, with the inputs considered most observable
categorized as Level 1 and those that are the least observable categorized as Level 3. Hierarchy levels are defined as
follows: F- 14 Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. Level 2: Observable inputs
(other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices
in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data. Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity
that are significant to determining the fair value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies and similar techniques. Leases The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. The
Company has an accounting policy election that leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on its
balance sheet and lease payments are recognized in the Statements of Operations on a straight- line basis over the lease
term. A right- of- use asset represents the Company' s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease
liabilities represent its obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease right- of- use assets and
liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease
term. For purpose of calculating such present values, lease payments include components that vary based on an index or
rate, using the prevailing index or rate at the commencement date and exclude components that vary based upon other




factors. For those leases that do not contain a readily determinable implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental
borrowing rate at commencement to determine the present value of lease payments. Variable lease payments not
included within lease contracts are expensed as incurred. The Company' s leases may include options to extend or
terminate the lease, and such options are reflected in the term when their exercise is reasonably certain. Lease expense is
recognized on a straight- line basis over the lease term. New Accounting Pronouncements In November 2024, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (" €ede-FASB ") issued Accounting Standard Update (" ASU") No. 2024- 03
Income Statement- Reporting Comprehensive Income- Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220- 40), which
requires a public entity to disclose in each interim and annual reporting period the amount of (a) purchases of inventory,
(b) employee compensation, (c) depreciation, (d) intangible asset amortization, and (e) depreciation, depletion, and
amortization recognized as part of oil- and gas- producing activities included in each relevant expense caption. It further
requires a public entity to disclose a qualitative description of the amounts remaining in relevant expense captions that
are not separately disaggregated quantitatively. Additionally, it requires a public entity to disclose the total amount of
selling expenses and, in annual reporting periods, an entity' s definition of selling expenses. The new standard is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2027, with early adoption permitted. A public entity should apply the amendments in this ASU either prospectively to
financials statements issued for reporting periods after the effective date of the update or retrospectively to any and all
prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company expects this ASU to only impact our disclosures with
no impacts to our results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. Note 3 — Inventories, net Inventories, net are
summarized as follows (in thousands): December 31, 2024December 31, 2023Coal § 118, 504 $ 129, 989 Raw materials,
parts, supplies and other, net89, 086 53, 960 Total inventories, net $ 207, 590 $ 183, 949 F- 15 Note 4 — Prepaid Expenses
and Other Prepaid expenses and other consisted of the following (in thousands): December 31, 2024December 31,
2023Deferred longwall move expenses $ 24, 643 $ 18, 513 Prepaid insurance3, 616 1, 991 Other3, 449 7, 049 Total
prepaid expenses and other $ 31, 708 § 27, 553 Note 5 — Mineral Interests and Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Mineral interests totaled $ 147. 7 million and the related accumulated depletion totaled $ 75. S million and $ 67. 3 million
as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. Property, plant and equipment are summarized as follows
(in thousands): December 31, 2024December 31, 2023Land § 77, 351 $ 74, 631 and-Land similarimprovements19, 939 18,
372 Building and leasehold improvements73, 543 38, 223 Asset retirement obligation assets62, 301 60, 898 Mine
development and infrastructure costs126, 266 95, 021 Machinery and equipmentl, 435, 650 1, 087, 635 Financing lease
right of use asset106, 959 105, 469 Construction in progress513, 072 425, 124 Total2, 415, 081 1, 905, 373 Less:
Accumulated depreciation (865, 611) (725, 764) Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1, 549,470 $ 1, 179, 609
Depreciation and depletion expense was $ 154. 0 million, $ 127. 4 million, and $ 115. 3 million, for the years ended
December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. Construction in progress includes
capitalized interest of $ 12. 7 million, $ 12. 1 million, and $ 1. 4 million as of December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and
December 31, 2022, respectively. F- 16 Note 6 — Other Long- Term Assets Other long- term assets consisted of the
following (in thousands): December 31, 2024December 31, 2023Advance mining royalties $ 23, 133 § 11, 268 ABL
Facility origination fees2, 002 3, 003 Other2, 205 7, 716 Total other long- term assets $ 27, 340 $ 21, 987 Note 7 —
Income Taxes Income tax expense consisted of the following (in thousands): For the years ended December 31,
202420232022CurrentFederal $ 41, 112 $ 19, 914 $ — State3 5 — 41, 115 19, 919 — DeferredFederal (10, 696) 51, 153
143, 897 State2, 644 1, 718 (2, 091) (8, 052) 52, 871 141, 806 Total $ 33, 063 $ 72, 790 $ 141, 806 For the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company recognized income tax expense of $ 33. 1 million or an effective tax rate of 11. 7 %.
The Company' s federal income tax payments were $ 26. S million and $ 27. 0 million in 2024 and 2023, respectively, and
there were no federal income tax payments in 2022. There were no {aws-income tax payments for any periods
presented. As of December 31 , 2024, the Company has a current income tax payable of $ 7. 6 million, which is included
in other current liabilities in the Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2023, the had a current income tax
receivable of $ 7. 8 million. Total income tax expense differs from the expected tax expense (computed by multiplying the
U. S. federal statutory rate of 21 % by income before income taxes) as a result of the following (in thousands): For the
years ended December 31, 202420232022AmountRate AmountRate AmountRate Income before income tax expense283,
666 551, 419 783, 104 Tax expense at statutory tax rate $ 59, 570 21. 0 % $ 115, 798 21. 0 % $ 164, 452 21. 0 % Effect of:
Executive compensation limitation4, 595 1. 6 % 3, 548 0. 6 % 3, 659 0. 5 % Foreign- derived intangible income deduction
(12, 118) (4. 3) % (26, 077) (4. 7) %o — — % Percentage depletion (14, 400) (5. 1) % (21, 811) (4. 0) % (23, 638) (3. 0) %
State and local income tax, net of federal effect2, 370 0. 8 % 1, 508 0. 3 % (2, 404) (0. 3) % Marginal well tax credit (4,
943) (1. 7) % — — % (87) — % Other (2, 011) (0. 7) % (176) — % (176) — % Tax expense recognized $ 33, 063 11. 7 %
$72,790 13.2 % $ 141, 806 18. 1 % F- 17 Deferred Taxes Deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflect the effects of
tax losses, credits, and the future income tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates that apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. Significant components of the Company' s deferred income tax assets and liabilities were (in
thousands): December 31, 2024December 31, 2023Deferred income tax assets: Net operating loss and credit
carryforwards $ 48, 804 $ 47, 940 Inventory8, 670 2, 204 Asset retirement obligations18, 114 17, 900 Black lung
obligations7, 793 6, 134 Accrued expenses8, 861 6, 259 Otherl, 852 1, 299 Total deferred income tax assets94, 094 81, 736
Less: valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets (44, 674) (41, 016) Net deferred income tax assets49, 420 40, 720
Deferred income tax liabilities: Prepaid expenses (10, 930) (6, 757) Property, plant and equipment (98, 283) (100, 834)
Other (832) (1, 806) Total deferred income tax liabilities (110, 045) (109, 397) Net deferred income tax liability $ (60, 625)



$ (68, 677) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company fully utilized all of its federal net operating loss ("
NOL") carryforwards and general business credits. The Company has state NOL carryforwards of approximately $ 945.
2 million, which expire predominantly on December 31, 2029 through December 31, 2035. A company generally is
generalhy-allowed a deduction for federal and state NOLs against its federal and state taxable income. At-Deeember3+If a
Company undergoes an “ ownership change ” as defined in Section 382 of the Code or similar provisions of state law ,

%92—3—we—had-1ts ablhty to deduct federal and state N()Ls agalnst its federal or e#appre*rmatel—y%%nl—hen—"l:hese-slatc

abtlity-to-deduetits-federal-and-state NOLs-and utilize certain olhcr av dllablc tax attributes can bc hmlted substdntmlly

constrained under the general annual limitation...... the conclusions reached therein could be jeopardized . While swe-de-the
Company does not believe an ownership change has occurred since April 1, 2016, because the rules under Section 382 are
highly complex and actions of eur-the Company' s stockholders which are beyond eut-its control or knowledge could impact
whether an ownership change has occurred, swe-the Company cannot give you any assurance that another Section 382
ownership change has not occurred or will not occur in the future. As-aresult-ofourquatifyingfor-the-aforementioned
exeeption;-were-Were we-the Company to have undergone a subsequent ownership change prior to April 1, 2018, etsits
federal and state NOLs would effectively be reduced to zero. An ownership change after such date would severely limit eurthe
Company s dbllltv to uuluc ourits federal and state NOLs and other tax attributes. Gerta-rn—tr&nsaeﬁeﬁs—On February 14

+4;2026,-we-adopted-anr NOLsrights-agreement-, which was amended on March 4, "()22 by Amendment No. 1 to the nghts
Agreement and on December 8, 2023 by Amendment No. 2 (the <" Rights Agreement " , 2-and as amended, the" Amended
Rights Agreement"), in an effort to prevent the imposition of significant limitations due to an" ownership change'" within
the meaning of Section 382 of the Code on the Company' s ability to utilize its current federal and state NOLs to reduce
its future tax liabilities. The Company' s stockholders ratified the Rights Agreement at the 2020 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and ratified the Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement at the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. F-
18 The Amended Rights Agreement is intended to supplement the 382 Transfer Restrictions t-hfeughﬁécpﬂ-l—l-&z’le%—dnd
inerease-is designed to serve the interests of all stockholders by preserving the availability of the Company' exereise-priee;

respeetively—See~Part HJtem7—Management—s Diseusston-federal and state NOLs Analysis-ef Finanetal-Conditton-and
Results-of Operations—is similar to plans adopted by other companies with significant federal and state NOLs. Pursuant to

the Amended Rights Agreement —, one preferred stock purchase right (a “ Right ” We-may-engage-in-transaetions-or approve
watvers-of-the 3-82—"Praﬁsfe1hRest~ﬂet—teﬁs—efthe—Arﬁeﬂded-Rl ghts ”) was distributed Ag-reemeﬂt—that—mayhe&use—arremershrp

shiftIn-deing-se-we-expeet-to stockholders of ha ; <o
federal-and-state NOEs-and-other—- the -federa-l—&nd—sta-te—rneerne—ta*attrtbutes—Company for each share of common stock of

the Company outstandlng as of the close of buslness on F ebruary 28 2020 In1t1ally, these nghts will not be exerclsable

common stock . al-an q N 59 L
become exercisable fe , see~~each nght will 1n1t1ally entitle
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- —ng ; 3 ded-Ris o W
imposing-a-signifieantpenalty-upemany person or group that acquires beneficial ownership of 4. 99 % or more of the
eutstandinrg-common stock or any existing stockholder who currently owns 5. 00 % or more of the common stock that acquires
any additional shares of common stock (such person, group or existing stockholder, an" Acquiring Person") without the
approval effrom the Board —Under-would be subject to significant dilution in the-their Amended-RightsAgreementfrom
ownership interest in the Company. In such and-- an event afterFebraary 28,2026, cach share-ofour-Right will entitle its
holder to buy, at the exercise price, common stock having a market value of two times the earries-with-it-onepreferred-share
purchase-rightuntitthe-then earlier-current exercise price of the date-when-Right and the preferred-share-purehaserights
Rights held by such Acquiring Person will become void exeretsable-erexpire-. The Amended Rights Agreement also gives
discretion to the Board to determine that someone is an Acquiring Pu‘son even if they do not own 4. 99 % or more of the
eutstanding-common stock but do own 4. 99 % or more in value of the Cempany—s-outstanding stock, as determined pursuant to
Section 382 of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder. In addition, the Board has established procedures to
consider and approve requests to exempt certain acquisitions of the Company’ s securities from the Amended Rights Agreement
if the Board determines that doing so would not limit or impair the availability of the federal and state NOLs or is otherwise in

the best interests of the Company and conditioned upon and subject to the satisfaction of certain continuing factual
representations and covenants. See"Part-Httem—7-The Board may redeem the nghts for $ 0 01 per nght at any time
before any person or group triggers the i A A 3
Operations—Amended Rights Agreement. *~The 3-82—’Pr&nsfer—Restﬂeﬁeﬁs—dlstrlbutlon of the nghts is not a taxable event for
stockholders of the Company and will not affect the Company’ s’ financial condition or results of operations (including
earnings per share). The Rights will expire on the earliest of (i) the close of business on April 19, 2026, (ii) the time at

whlch the nghts are redeemed as provnded in the Ammdui Rwhls Agreement may—make—eﬂﬁsteew}e}ess—a&faefwe—te—}arge

eeﬂ-ta-rned—m eﬁﬁeeftrﬁe&te—e-f—meerpef&t-teﬁ—&ﬂd-the Ammdui Rights A“lLLl]lLHI (1V) the tlme at which the Board determlnes
that the NOLs are fully utilized ot or 4-no longer available under Section 382 of the Code, (v) the effective date of the
repeal of Section 382 of the Code if the Board determines that the Amended Rights Agreement is no longer necessary or
desirable for the preservation of NOLs, or (vi) the closing of any merger or other acquisition transaction involving the
Company pursuant to an agreement of the type described in the Amended Rights Agreement . 99-%-stoekhotders
Valuation Allowance The Company periodically assesses whether it is more llkely than not that 1t w il effeetively-be
feqﬂﬁed-generate sufﬁclent taxable income (o reahze its deferred Prov d ofrby;h :

stoekhotders-with npairing-the-use era state-income tax assets The Company estabhshes Valuatlon
allowances 1f it is not likely it w1ll reahze 1ts deferred income tax assets. In making this determination, the Company
considers all available positive and negative evidence and makes certain assumptions. The Company considers, among
other things, scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, the overall business
environment, its historical financial results, the industry' s historically cyclical financial results, its cumulative three-
year income or loss position and potential current and future tax planning strategies. On February 12, 2021, the
Alabama Governor signed into law Alabama House Bill 170, now Act 2021- 1 (the" Act'"). The Act makes several
changes to the state’ s business tax structure. Among the provisions of the Act, is the repeal of the so- called corporate
income tax “ throwback rule. ” That rule required all sales originating in Alabama and delivered to a jurisdiction where
the seller was not subject to tax, to be included in the seller’ s Alabama income tax base. Thus, prior to repeal of the
throwback rule, the Company had to rely on its Alabama NOL carryforwards to shelter taxes imposed under such
throwback rule. As a result of the now repealed throwback rule, effective January 1, 2021, all such sales should now be
excluded from Alabama taxable income without the need to utilize Alabama NOLs. As a result of the repeal of the
throwback rule, the Company determined that it is not more likely than not that the Company would have sufficient
taxable income to utilize all of the Company’ s Alabama deferred income tax assets prior to expiration. Therefore, at
December 31, 2024, we have a valuation allowance against our state deferred income tax assets of approximately $ 44. 7
million. F- 19 The following table shows the balance of the Company' s valuation allowance and the associated activity
during 2024: December 31, 2024Beginning balance $ 41, 016 Addition- deferred income tax expense3, 658 Ending
balance $ 44, 674 Uncertain Tax Positions The Company has filed income tax returns in the U. S. and in various state
and local jurisdictions which are routinely examined by tax authorities in these jurisdictions. Federal and state NOLs
and carryforwards are subject to adjustments based on examination and the statute of limitations is currently open for
all such loss and credit carryforwards. The Company had no unrecognized tax benefits or accruals for unrecognized tax
benefits as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company did not record any interest or penalties associated
with income taxes for years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, but would record interest and




penalties within income tax expense. Note 8 — Asset Retirement Obligations Changes in the asset retirement obligations
(“ ARO ”) were as follows (in thousands): December 31, 2024December 31, 2023Balance at beginning of period $ 84, 166
$ 68, 481 Accretion expenseS, 259 4, 175 Revisions to estimates1, 616 16, 290 Obligations settled (5, 871) (4, 780) Balance
at end of period $ 85, 170 $ 84, 166 The portion of costs expected to be paid within a year as of December 31, 2024 is $ 13.
0 million. The portion of costs expected to be incurred beyond one year as of December 31, 2024 is $ 72. 1 million. There
were no assets that were legally restricted for purposes of settling asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2024.
Alabama’' s regulatory framework technically allows for self- bonding. However, as a practical matter, due to the onerous
regulatory requirements for self- bonding, mining companies in Alabama utilize surety bonds, collateral bonds, or letters
of credit to meet their financial assurance requirements. At December 31, 2024, the Company had outstanding surety
bonds and letters of credit with parties for post- mining reclamation at all of its mining operations totaling $ 50. 6
million, and $ 7. 7 million for miscellaneous purposes. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
the change to the liability was primarily attributable to the net impact of changes in discount rates, changes in the timing
of scheduled reclamation and current estimates of the costs and scope of remaining reclamation work. For the years
ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, $ 0. 2 million or $ 0. 01 per share and $ 0. 3 million or $ 0. 01 per
share, respectively, of the adjustment to the liability was reflected as expense in the period because there was no asset
recorded to offset the adjustment to the respective liability. This portion of the liability relates to operations that were
idle at the time of purchase accounting for the acquisition of certain assets in 2016 and no value was attributes-attributed
to any asset as an offset for the asset retirement obligation. F- 20 Note 9 — Accrued Expenses Accrued expenses
consisted of the following (in thousands): December 31, 2024December 31, 2023Accrued wages and employee benefits $
51,731 $ 36, 828 Accrued operating expenses20, 035 26, 082 Accrued royalties7, 203 12, 729 Accrued freight3, 998 4, 195
Accrued interestl, 027 1, 064 Accrued non- income taxesl, 375 714 Total accrued expenses $ 85,369 $ 81, 612 Note 10 —
Pneumoconiosis (" Black Lung') Obligations The Company is responsible for medical and disability benefits for black
lung disease under the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969, as amended. Beginning on April 1, 2016
through May 31, 2018, the Company was insured under a guaranteed cost insurance policy, through a third- party
insurance carrier, for black lung claims raised by any employee subsequent to the acquisition of certain assets of Walter
Energy. Beginning on June 1, 2018 through May 31, 2020 and June 1, 2020 through May 31, 2024, the Company had a
deductible policy where the Company is responsible for the first $ 0. 5 million and first $ 2. 0 million, respectively, for
each black lung claim. Beginning June 1, 2024, the Company has a deductible policy where the Company is responsible
for the first $ 2. 0 million for each black lung claim we-in connection with the acquisition of certain assets of
Walter Energy, the Company assumed all black lung liabilities of Walter Energy and its U. S. subsidiaries incurred
prior to March 31, 2016, for which the Company is self- insured. Due to a limited operating history as a stand- alone
company and as a result of being self- insured for these historical black lung claims, the Department of Labor (" DOL'")
required the Company to post $ 17. 0 million in the form of Treasury bills or surety bonds as collateral, in addition to
maintaining a black lung trust acquired in the Walter Energy acquisition. The Company received a letter from the DOL
on February 21, 2020 under its new process for self- insurance renewals that eetdd-would require it to increase the
amount of collateral posted to $ 39. 8 million, but the Company had appealed such increase. The Company received
another letter from the DOL on December 8, 2021 requesting additional information to support its appeal of the
collateral requested by the DOL. On February 9, 2022, the DOL held a conference call with representatives from the
Company related to our appeal. On July 12, 2022, the Company received a decision on our appeal from the DOL
lowering the amount of collateral required to be posted from $ 39. 8 million to $ 28 million. The Company appealed this
decision. In addition, on January 19, 2023, the DOL proposed revisions to regulations under the Black Lung Benefits Act
governing authorization of self- insurers, which was then subsequently revised as part of the final rules published on
December 12, 2024, which became effective on January 13, 2025. The final rules requires, among other requirements, all
self- insured operators to post security of at least 100 percent of their projected black lung liabilities. As of December 31,
2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had $ 18. 6 million of surety bonds, respectively, and $ 14. 6 million and $ 9.
0 million of collateral recognized as short term investments, respectively. There were also $ 1. 4 million and $ 1. 8 million
of assets held in a black lung trust, which is offset against the long- term portion of the black lung obligations within the
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The estimated total black lung liabilities
(net of black lung trust assets) were $ 36. 6 million as of December 31, 2024, of which $ 2. 2 million is classified in other
current liabilities and the remainder of $ 34. 5 million is shown as a long- term liability in a separate line item in the
Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2023, the estimated black lung liabilities (net of the black lung trust assets) were $ 28.
8 million, of which $ 1. 9 million is classified in other current liabilities and $ 27. 0 million is classified as a long- term
liability in a separate line item in the Balance Sheets. Accretion of the black lung liabilities is included in cost of other
revenues on the Statements of Operations. The Company performs an annual evaluation of its black lung liabilities at
each balance sheet date. The calculation uses assumptions regarding rates of successful claims, discount factors, benefit
increases and mortality rates, among others. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the change
to the liability was primarily attributable to the net impact of changes in discount rates. For the years ended December
31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the F- 21 annual evaluation resulted in expense of $ 7. 3 million or $ 0. 14 per share and
income of $ 1. 4 million or $ 0. 03 per share, respectively, which is included in costs of other revenues in the Statements of
Operations. Note 11 — Employee Benefit Plans Defined Contribution Plans The Company sponsors a defined
contribution plan to assist its eligible employees in providing for retirement. Generally, under the terms of the plan,
employees make voluntary contributions through payroll deductions and the Company makes matching contributions,
as defined by the plan. Contributions to these defined contribution plans amounted to $ 4. 9 million for the year ended



December 31, 2024, $ 4. 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and $ 3. 2 million for the year ended December
31, 2022 accounted for in cost of sales, cost of other revenues and selling, general and administrative costs in the
Statements of Operations. The Company s CBA contract with the UMWA expired on April 1,2021. While the Company
continues to engage in or-ap S good faith negotiations with the UMWA, the
Company has not reached a new contract On February 16, 2023 the labor union representing certain of the Company' s
hourly employees announced that eatsestoekholders-owningless-than4-they were ending the strike and made an
unconditional offer to return to work . 95-Approximately 56. 0 % te-beeonte-4-—99-%stoekholders-of the Company' s
employees were represented by the UMWA as of December 31 , resulting-in-2024. Note 12 — Equity Award Plans In
connection with the Company' s initial public offering, the Company adopted the Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity
Incentlve Plan (the « 2017 Equlty Plan ”) Under the 2017 Equlty Plan, dlrectors, ofﬁcers, employees, consultants and

ineorporation-and-bylaws-and Delawaretaw-, as w ell as t-he—those Arneﬁeled-who have accepted offers of employment or

consultancy from the Company or the Company’ s affiliated companies, may be granted equity interest in Warrior Met
Coal, Inc. in the form of stock options, stock appreciation Rights-rights Agreement, restricted stock make-it-more-diffienlt
, whieh-eould-adverselyaffeet the-prieerestricted stock units, stock bonus

awards, and performance awards. The total number of etr-shares of common stock , including incentive stock options,
available for grant of awards under the 2017 Equity Plan as of December 31, 2024 is 4, 178, 991. If any outstanding
award expires, is canceled, forfeited, or settled in cash, the shares allocable to that award will again be available for
grant under the 2017 Equity Plan. As of December 31, 2024, the equity awards granted under the 2017 Equity Plan are
comprised of common stock, restricted stock awards, and restricted stock unit awards . The extsteﬂee-Company
recogmzed stock compensatlon expense of $ 22.1 mlllIOIl for the year ended December 31 some-provistons-inonr

. % e ate-taw-, 2024 associated with awards granted under the 2017
Equity Plan. Unrecogmzed compensatlon expense related to the 2017 Equity Plan amounted to approximately $ 1. 7
million as weH-of December 31, 2024. A summary of activity related to restricted stock unit award grants under the 2017
Equity Incentive Plan during the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 is as
follows: F- 22 SharesWeighted Average Grant Date Fair ValueNon- vested at December 31, 2021828, 402 $ 20. 11
Granted336, 566 $ 23. 13 Canceled (70, 110) $ 15. 09 Forfeited (14, 905) $ 27. 03 Vested (323, 890) $ 21. 88 Non- vested at
December 31, 2022756, 063 $ 26. 99 Granted527, 636 $ 29. 90 Canceled (5, 982) $ 36. 60 Forfeited (324) $ 37. 43 Vested
(608, 224) $ 29. 10 Non- vested at December 31, 2023669, 169 $ 40. 66 Granted3SS, 949 § 52. 02 Canceled (1, 552) $ 60. 39
Forfeited (1, 449) $ 50. 35 Vested (522, 423) § 35. 04 Outstanding at December 31, 2024499, 694 $ 54. 54 Performance-
based restricted shares have been presented in the table above to reflect the actual shares issued based on the
achievement of past performance targets. Non- vested performance- based restricted shares granted are presented in the
table above at the target number of restricted shares that would vest if the performance targets are met. Note 13 — Debt
The Company' s debt consisted of the following (in thousands): December 31, 2024December 31, 2023Weighted Average
Interest Rate at December 31, 2024Final MaturitySenior secured notes $ 156, 517 $ 156, 517 7. 875 % December
2028ABL facility — — Varies1December 2026Debt discount, net (2, 905) (3, 494) Total debt153, 612 153, 023 Less:
current debt — — Total long- term debt $ 153, 612 § 153, 023 1 Borrowings under the ABL Facility bear interest at a
rate equal to Secured Overnight Financing Rate (" SOFR") ranging currently from 1. 5 % and 2. 0 %, plus a credit
adjustment spread, ranging currently from 0. 11448 % to 0. 42826 %, or an alternate base rate plus an applicable
margin, which is determined based on the average availability of the commitments under the ABL Facility, ranging from
0.5 % to 1. 0 %. The Company' s minimum debt repayment schedule, excluding interest, as of December 31, 2024 is as
follows (in thousands): Payments Due2025202620272028 ThereafterSenior secured notes $ —$ —$ — $ 156, 517 $§ —
ABL facility — — — — — Total $ —$ —$ — $ 156, 517 $ — F- 23 On December 6, 2021, the Company entered into the
Second Amended Rights-and Restated Asset- Based Revolving Credit Agreement (the “ Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement ”) , eoutd-delay-orpreventby and among the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, as borrowers, the
guarantors party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Citibank, as administrative agent (in such
capacity, the" Agent'), which amends and restates in its entirety the existing Amended and Restated Asset- Based
Revolving Credit Agreement (as amended, the “ ABL Facility ). The Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement,
among other things, (i) extended the maturity date of the ABL Facility to December 6, 2026; (ii) changed the calculation
of the interest rate payable on borrowings from being based on a London Inter- Bank Offered Rate to ehange-ineontrotof

eur-eompany;-everrif thatehange-would-be benefietal-based on a Secured Overnight Financing Rate, with corresponding
changes to outr-stoekholders—Our-eertifieate-the applicable interest rate margins with respect to such borrowings, (iii)

amended certain definitions related to the calculation of ineerperationrand-bytaws-eontain-provistons-the borrowing base;
(iv) increased the commitments that may make-aequiring-eontrol-be used to issue letters of enr-credit to $ 65. 0 million; and
(v) amended certain baskets contained in the covenants to conform to the baskets contained in the indenture governing
the Notes (the'" Indenture'). The Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also allows the eompany-Company
difftertt-to borrow up to $ 116. 0 million through November 2026 , inretading:—=subject to availability under the borrowing
base and the-other Board-conditions. Subject to permitted exceptions, the obligations of the borrowers under the ABL
Facility are guaranteed by each of the Company ' s abiity-to-issue-domestic subsidiaries and secured by (i) first- priority
security interests in the ABL Priority Collateral (as defined in the Indenture) , which includes from-time-to-time-, one-or
mere-sertes-among other things, certain accounts receivables, inventory and cash of preferred-the Company and the




guarantors, and (ii) second- priority security interests in the Notes Priority Collateral (as defined in the Indenture),
whlch 1ncludes, among other thlngs, materlal mlnlng propertles, shares of capltal stock and;-with-respeet-to-eachsueh

ofb O30 6 6 ent-of direetors-upotr-the guarantors,
1ntellectual property, as extracted collateral (to the extent not constituting inventory), an-and certain fixed assets inerease
-rn—the—nﬂmbeﬁv “direetors-the Company and the guarantors The ABL Faclhty contains customary covenants e-rfor asset-

teerporatiom-among other things: ‘-permrts—&s—(l) requlrements to deliver ﬁnanclal statements, other reports and notlces,
(ii) restrictions on the existence or incurrence of certain indebtedness; (iii) restrictions on the existence or incurrence of
certain liens; (iv) restrictions on making certain restricted payments; (v) restrictions on making certain investments; (vi)
restrictions on certain mergers, consolidations and asset dispositions; (vii) restrictions on certain transactions with
affiliates; and (viii) restrictions on modifications to certain indebtedness. Additionally, the ABL Facility contains a
springing fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1. 00 to 1. 00, which ratio is tested if availability under the ABL
Facility is less than a certain amount. As of December 31, 2024, the Company was not subject to this covenant. Subject to
customary grace periods and notice requirements, the ABL Facility also contains customary events of default. The
Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants under the ABL Facility as of December 31, 2024. On
December 6, 2021, the Company issued $ 350. 0 million in aggregate principal amount of 7. 875 % senior secured notes
due 2028 (the “ Notes ) at an initial price of 99. 3 % of their face amount. The Notes were issued to qualified
institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act ), and to
certain non- U. S. persons in transactions outside the United States in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities
Act. The Company used the net proceeds of the offering of the Notes, together with cash on hand, to fund the redemption
of all of the Company’ s outstanding 8. 00 % senior secured notes due 2024 (the" Existing Notes ), including payment of
the redemption premium in connection with such redemption. The Notes will accrue interest at a rate of 7. 875 % per
year from December 6, 2021. Interest on the Notes will be payable on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing
on June 1, 2022. The Notes will mature on December 1, 2028. The Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a
joint and several basis by each of the Company' s direct and indirect wholly- owned domestic restricted subsidiaries that
are guarantors under the ABL Facility (subject to customary release provisions). F- 24 During the year ended December
31, 2023, the Company repurchased in the open market and extinguished approximately $ 8. 0 million principal amount
of the Notes. In connection with the extinguishment of our Notes, we recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt of
$ 0. 1 million which is included in interest expense in the Statements of Operations. On August 9, 2023, we commenced
an offer to purchase (the “ Restricted Payment Offer ), in cash, up to $ 150. 0 million principal amount of its
outstanding Notes, at a repurchase price of 103 % of the aggregate principal amount of such Notes, plus accrued and
unpaid interest with respect to such Notes to, but not including, the date of repurchase (the “ Restricted Payment
Repurchase Price ). Concurrently with, but separate from, the Restricted Payment Offer, we commenced a cash tender
offer (the “ Tender Offer ” and, together with the Restricted Payment Offer, the “ Offers ) to purchase up to $ 150. 0
million principal amount of the Notes at a repurchase price of 104. 25 % of the aggregate principal amount of such Notes,
plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the date of repurchase (the “ TO Repurchase Price ). The Offers
expired on September 7, 2023 (the “ Expiration Date ). As of the Expiration Date, $ 0. 2 million aggregate principal
amount of the Notes were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn pursuant to the Restricted Payment Offer.
Pursuant to the terms of the Restricted Payment Offer: (1) an automatic pro ration factor of 49. 5674 % was applied to
the $ 0. 2 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes that were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn in the
Restricted Payment Offer (rounded down to avoid the purchase of Notes in a principal amount other than in integrals of
$ 1, 000), which resulted in $ 0. 1 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes (the “ RP Pro- Rated Tendered Notes
)5 (2) we accepted all $ 0. 1 million aggregate principal amount of the RP Pro- Rated Tendered Notes for payment of the
Restricted Payment Repurchase Price in cash; and (3) the remaining balance of $ 0. 1 million aggregate principal
amount of the Notes tendered that were not RP Pro- Rated Tendered Notes were not accepted for payment and were
returned to the tendering holder of the Notes. (1) an automatic pro ration factor of 49. 6 % was applied to the $ 294. 8
million aggregate principal amount of the Notes that were validly tendered and not validly withdrawn in the Tender



Offer (rounded down to avoid the purchase of Notes in a principal amount other than in integrals of $ 1, 000), which
resulted in $ 146. 0 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes (the “ TO Pro- Rated Tendered Notes ”); F- 25 Note
14 — Leases The Company primarily enter-enters rental agreements for certain mining equipment that are for
periods of 12 months or less, some of which include options to extend the leases. Leases that are for periods of 12 months
or less are not recorded on the balance sheet in accordance with the Company' s accounting policy election described in
Note 2. The Company recognizes lease expense on these agreements on a straight- line basis over the lease term.
Additionally, the Company has certain finance leases for mining equipment that expire over various contractual periods.
These leases have remaining lease terms of one to five years and do not include an option to renew. Amortization expense
for finance leases is included in depreciation and depletion expense. Supplemental balance sheet information related to
leases was as follows (in thousands): December 31, 2024December 31, 2023Finance lease right- of- use assets, net (1) $ 56,
702 $ 67, 014 Finance lease liabilitiesCurrent13, 208 11, 463 Noncurrent6, 217 8, 756 Total finance lease liabilities $ 19,
425 $ 20, 219 Weighted average remaining lease term- finance leases (in months) 17. 920. §Weighted average discount
rate- finance leases (2) 7. 25 % 7. 02 % (1) Finance lease right- of- use assets, recorded net of accumulated amortization
of $ 50. 3 million and $ 38. 5 million, are included in property, plant and equipment, net in the Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. See Note 5 for additional disclosure. (2) When an implicit
discount rate is not readily available in a lease, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on information
available at the commencement date when determining the present value of lease payments. The components of lease
expense were as follows (in thousands): For the year ended December 31, 20242023Operating lease cost (1): $ 34,877 $
29, 675 Finance lease cost: Amortization of leased assets22, 184 21, 720 Interest on lease liabilities4, 613 1, 935 Net lease
cost $ 61, 674 $ 53, 330 (1) Includes leases that are for periods of 12 months or less. F- 26 Maturities of lease liabilities are
as follows (in thousands): Finance Leases (1) 2025 $ 15, 928 20262, 989 20271, 667 Thereafter — Total20, 584 Less:
amount representing interest (1, 159) Present value of lease liabilities $ 19, 425 (1) Finance lease payments include $ 2. 7
million of future payments required under signed lease agreements that have not yet commenced. These finance leases
will commence during fiscal year 2025 with lease terms between one to two years. Supplemental cash flow information
related to leases was as follows (in thousands): For the year ended December 31, 20242023Cash paid (received) for
amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities: Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 4, 613 $ 1, 935
Financing cash outflows from finance leases $ 17, 414 $ 32, 330 Financing cash inflows from finance leases $ (4, 503) $ —
Non- cash right- of- use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations: Finance leases $ 12, 147 $ 11, 312 Note 15 —
Commitments and Contingencies Environmental Matters The Company is subject to a wide variety of laws and
regulations concerning the protection of the environment, both with respect to the construction and operation of its
plants, mines and other facilities and with respect to remediating environmental conditions that may exist at its own and
other properties. The Company believes that it is in substantial compliance with federal, state and local environmental
laws and regulations. The Company accrues for environmental expenses resulting from existing conditions that relate to
past operations when the costs are probable and can be reasonably estimated. As of December 31, 2024 and December
31, 2023, there were no accruals for environmental matters other than asset retirement obligations for mine reclamation.
Miscellaneous Litigation From time to time, the Company is party to a number of lawsuits arising in the ordinary course
of their businesses. The Company records costs relating to these matters when a loss is probable and the amount can be
reasonably estimated. The effect of the outcome of these matters on the Company’ s future results of operations cannot
be predicted with certainty as any such effect depends on future results of operations and the amount and timing of the
resolution of such matters. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were no items accrued for
miscellaneous litigation. Commitments and Contingencies — Other The Company is party to various transportation and
throughput agreements with rail and barge transportation providers and the Alabama State Port Authority. These
agreements contain annual minimum tonnage guarantees with respect to coal transported from the mine sites to the Port
of Mobile in Alabama, unloading of rail cars or barges, and the loading of vessels. If the Company does not meet its
minimum throughput obligations, which are based on annual minimum amounts, it is required to pay the transportation
providers or the Alabama State Port Authority a contractually specified amount per metric ton for the F- 27 difference
between the actual throughput and the minimum throughput requirement. At December 31, 2024 and December 31,
2023, the Company had no liability recorded for minimum throughput requirements. Royalty Obligations A substantial
amount of the coal that the Company mines is produced from mineral reserves leased from third- party landowners.
These leases convey mining rights to the Company in exchange for royalties to be paid to the landowner as either a fixed
amount per ton or as a percentage of the sales price. Although coal leases have varying renewal terms and conditions,
they generally last for the economic life of the reserves. Coal royalty expense was $ 123. 0 million, $ 120. 5 million, and $
138. 9 million, for the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. Note 16
— Stockholders' Equity Common Shares The Company is authorized to issue up to 140, 000, 000 common shares, $ 0. 01
par value per share. Holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends when authorized by the Company' s
Board of Directors (the' Board'"). As of December 31, 2024, the Company has repurchased 500, 000 shares for
approximately $ 10. 6 million, leaving $ 59. 4 million of share repurchases authorized under the New Stock Repurchase
Program. The Company declared the following dividends on common shares as of the filing date of this Form 10- K:
Dividend per ShareDividend TypeDeclaration DateRecord DatePayable Date $ 0. 08 QuarterlyFebruary 9,
2024February 20, 2024February 26, 2024 $ 0. 50 SpecialFebruary 9, 2024March 1, 2024March 7, 2024 $ 0. 08
QuarterlyApril 25, 2024May 6, 2024May 13, 2024 $ 0. 08 QuarterlyJuly 26, 2024August 6, 2024August 13, 2024 § 0. 08
QuarterlyOctober 25, 2024November S, 2024November 12,2024 $ 0. 08 QuarterlyFebruary 11, 2025February 24,
2025March 3, 2025 F- 28 The Company is authorized to issue up to 10, 000, 000 shares of preferred stock, $ 0. 01 par



value per share. Note 17 — Derivative Instruments The Company enters into natural gas swap from time to
time to hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows associated with the fluctuations in the price of
natural gas related to the Company’ s forecasted sales. As of December 31, 2024, the company had 5, 500, 000 metric
million British thermal unit gas contracts outstanding. As of December 31, 2023, there were no such natural gas swap
contracts outstanding. The Company’ s natural gas swap contracts economically hedge certain risks but are not
designated as hedges for Statements of Operations. The Company had and-- an unrealized loss of $ 1. 8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024 and recognized a loss of $ 1. 2 million for the year ended and December 31, 2023. Note 18
— Fair Value of Financial Instruments The following table presents information about the Company’ s financial
liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and indicates the level of the fair value hierarchy utilized to
determine such fair value (in thousands): Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2024 Using: Level 1Level 2Level
3TotalLiabilities: Natural gas swap contracts $ — $ 1, 835 $ — § 1, 835 Fair Value Measurements as of December 31,
2023 Using: Level 1Level 2Level 3TotalLiabilities: Natural gas swap contracts $ — $ — $ — $ — During the year ended
December 31, 2024, there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3. The Company uses quoted dealer
prices for similar contracts in active over- the- counter markets for determining fair value of Level 2 assets or liabilities.
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value for which the fair value option was not
elected: Cash and cash equivalents, short- term investments, receivables and accounts payable — The carrying amounts
reported in the Balance Sheet approximate fair value due to the short- term nature of these assets and liabilities. Long-
term investments and restricted cash — The amortized cost carrying amounts reported in the Condensed Balance Sheets
approximate fair value due to the nature of fixed income securities. Debt — The Company' s outstanding debt is carried
at cost. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had no borrowings outstanding under the ABL Facility, with $ 113. 5
million available, net of $ 2. 5 million of letters of credit issued and outstanding at such time. The estimated fair value of
the Notes as of December 31, 2024 is approximately $ 161. 2 million based upon observable market data (Level 2). Note
19 — Net Income per Share The computation of basic net income per share is based on the number of weighted average
common shares outstanding during the period. The computation of diluted net income per share is based on the weighted
average number of shares outstanding plus the incremental shares that would be outstanding assuming issuance of
restricted stock. The number of F- 29 incremental shares is calculated by applying the treasury stock method. Basic and
diluted net income per share was calculated as follows (in thousands, except per share data): For the years ended
December 31, 202420232022Numerator: Net income $ 250, 603 $ 478, 629 $ 641, 298 Denominator: Weighted- average
shares used to compute net income per share — basic52, 287 51, 973 51, 622 Dilutive restricted stock awards and unitsS8
72 93 Weighted- average shares used to compute net income per share — dilutedS2, 345 52, 045 51, 715 Net income per
share — basic $4.79 $ 9. 21 $ 12. 42 Net income per share — diluted $ 4. 79 $ 9. 20 $ 12. 40 As of December 31, 2024,
there were 166, 547 restricted stock unit awards for which the service- based vesting conditions for these awards were
not met as of the measurement date. As such, these awards were excluded from basic earnings per share. These awards
had a 58, 482 share impact on dilutive weighted average shares for the year ended December 31, 2024. As of December
31, 2024, there were 333, 147 shares granted under the 2017 Equity Plan to employees, for which neither the service
based nor performance based vesting conditions were met as of the measurement date. As such, these shares have been
excluded from basic and diluted earnings per share. Note 20 — Segment Information The Company identifies a business
as an operating segment if: i) it engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses; ii) its
operating results are regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“ CODM ”), who is the Company’ s
Chief Executive Officer, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance;
and iii) it has available discrete financial information. The Company has determined that its two underground mining
operations are its operating segments. The CODM reviews financial information at the operating segment level to
allocate resources and to assess the operating results and financial performance for each operating segment. Operating
segments are aggregated into a reportable segment if the operating segments have similar quantitative economic
characteristics and if the operating segments are similar in the following qualitative characteristics: i) nature of products
and services; ii) nature of production processes; iii) type or class of customer for their products and services; iv) methods
used to distribute the products or provide services; and v) if applicable, the nature of the regulatory environment. The
Company has determined that the two operating segments are similar in both quantitative and qualitative
characteristics and thus the two operating segments have been aggregated into one reportable segment identified as
Mining. The Company has determined that its natural gas and royalty businesses and the Blue Creek mine development
did not meet the criteria in ASC 280 to be considered as operating or reportable segments. Therefore, the Company has
included their results in an “ all other ” category as a reconciling item to consolidated amounts. The Company does not
allocate all of its assets, or its depreciation and depletion expense, selling, general and administrative expenses, other
post- retirement benefits, costs, restructuring costs, interest expense, reorganization items, net and income
tax expense by segment. F- 30 The following tables include reconciliations of segment information to consolidated
amounts ( in thousands): For the years ended December 31, 202420232022RevenuesMining $ 1, 499, 980 1, 647,992 § 1,
707, 579 All other2S5, 240 28, 633 31, 159 Total revenues $ 1, 525, 220 $ 1, 676, 625 $ 1, 738, 738 Segment profit Revenue $
1,499,980 $ 1, 647,992 $ 1, 707, 579 Cash cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and depletion) (1) 999, 188 904, 319
705, 425 Other segment items (2) 8, 109 5, 950 S, 180 Segment profit $ 492, 683 $ 737, 723 $ 996, 974 AssetsMining $ 1,
627,8579% 1,819,179 $ 1, 845, 119 All other963, 659 537, 879 182, 976 Total assets $ 2, 591, 516 $ 2, 357, 058 § 2, 028, 095
Depreciation and depletionMining $ 145, 229 § 120, 192 $ 108, 484 All other8, 753 7, 164 6, 795 Total depreciation and
depletion $ 153, 982 $ 127, 356 $ 115, 279 Capital ExpendituresMining $ 96, 784 $ 168, 238 $ 151, 194 All other360, 437
323, 436 54, 048 Total capital expenditures $ 457, 221 $ 491, 674 $ 205, 242 (1) The significant expense category and



amounts align with the segment- level information that is regularly reviewed by the CODM. (2) Other segment items
include non- cash charges to cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and depletion) of asset retirement obligation
accretion and valuation adjustments and stock compensation expense. The Company evaluates the performance of its
segment based on Segment Adjusted EBITDA, one-is defined as net income adjusted or-for mere-other revenues,
cost of other revenues, depreciation and depletion, selling, general and administrative, other postretirement benefits, and
certain transactions etr— or officers-adjustments that the CODM does not consider or-for the purposes of making
decisions to allocate resources among segments or assessing segment performance. Segment Adjusted EBITDA should
not be considered as an alternative to cost of sales under GAAP and may not be comparable to other similarly titled
measures used by other companies. Below is a reconciliation of Segment Adjusted EBITDA to net income, which is its
most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP (in thousands): F- 31
For the years ended December 31, 202420232022Segment Adjusted EBITDA $ 492, 683 $ 737, 723 $ 996, 974 Other
revenues2S, 240 28, 633 31, 159 Cost of other revenues (45, 449) (37, 486) (27, 047) Depreciation and depletion (153, 982)
(127, 356) (115, 279) Selling, general and administrative (63, 078) (51, 817) (48, 791) Business interruption (524) (8, 291)
(23, 455) Idle mine — — (12, 137) Loss on early extinguishment of debt — (11, 699) — Other (expense) income — (1,
027) 675 Interest income33, 047 40, 699 12, 438 Interest expense (4, 271) (17, 960) (31, 433) Income before income
taxes283, 666 551, 419 783, 104 Income tax expense (33, 063) (72, 790) (141, 806) Net income $ 250, 603 $ 478, 629 § 641,
298 Note 21 — Subsequent Events On February 11, 2025, the Board declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $ 0.
08 per share, which will be paid on March 3, 2025 to stockholders of record as of the close of business on February 24,
2025. F- 32 Exhibit 10. 6This AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ) by
and between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the “ Company ), and Walter J. Scheller, II1 (“ Executive ) (collectively, the
Parties ”) is entered into as of February 10, 2025 (the “ Effective Date ). WHEREAS, Warrior Met Coal, LLC, the
Company’ s predecessor, and Executive previously entered into an employment agreement, dated as of March 31, 2016
(the “ Prior Agreement ”); andWHEREAS, the Company and Executive wish to continue Executive’ s employment with
the Company pursuant to the terms, provisions and conditions set forth in this Agreement, which will replace the Prior
Agreement in its entirety. NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants,
understandings, representations, warranties, undertakings and promises hereinafter set forth, intending to be legally
bound thereby, the Parties agree as follows: 1. Employment Period. Executive shall be employed by the Company for a
period commencing as of the Effective Date and continuing until such time as Executive’ s employment is terminated in
accordance with Section 3 hereof (the “ Employment Period ). Upon Executive’ s termination of employment with the
Company for any reason, Executive shall immediately resign all positions with the Company or any of its affiliates,
including any position as a member of the Company’ s Board of direetors-Directors (the “ Board ”). 2. Terms of
Employment. (a) Position. During the Employment Period, Executive shall serve as Chief Executive Officer of the
Company and will perform such duties and exercise such supervision with regard to the business of the Company as are
commensurate with such position, including such duties as prescribed from time to time by the Board. Executive
shall report directly to the Board and, if reasonably requested by the Board, Executive hereby agrees to serve (without
additional compensation) as an officer and director of the Company or any of its affiliates. (b) Duties. During the
Employment Period, Executive shall have such responsibilities, duties, and authority that are commensurate with
Executive’ s position, subject at all times to the control of the Board, and shall perform such services as customarily are
provided by an executive of a corporation with Executive’ s position and such other services consistent with Executive’ s
position, as shall be assigned to Executive from time to time by the Board. During the Employment Period, and
excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which Executive is entitled, Executive agrees to devote all of
Executive’ s business time to the business and affairs of the Company and to use Executive’ s commercially reasonable
efforts to perform faithfully, effectively and efficiently Executive’ s responsibilities and obligations hereunder. Executive
shall be entitled to engage in charitable and educational activities and to manage Executive’ s personal and family
investments, to the extent such activities are not competitive with the business of the Company, do not interfere with the
performance of Executive’ s duties for the Company and are otherwise consistent with the Company’ s governance
policies. (c) Compensation. (i) Base Salary. During the Employment Period, Executive shall receive an annual base
salary in an amount equal to nine hundred thousand dollars ($ 900, 000), less all applicable withholdings, which shall be
paid in accordance with the customary payroll practices of the Company and prorated for partial calendar years of
employment (as in effect from time to time, the “ Annual Base Salary ). The Annual Base Salary shall be subject to
annual review by the Board, in its sole discretion, for possible increase and any such increased Annual Base Salary
documented in the form of a resolution adopted by the Board or an amendment to this Agreement shall constitute “
Annual Base Salary ” for purposes of this Agreement. (ii) Annual Bonus. During the Employment Period, with respect to
each completed fiscal year of the Company, Executive shall be eligible to receive a bonus (the “ Bonus ) with a target
amount equal to one hundred twenty- five percent (125 %) of Annual Base Salary contingent upon the achievement of
qualitative and quantitative performance goals approved by the Board. The Bonus, if any, shall be paid in accordance
with the terms of the applicable bonus plan as in effect from time to time, and shall require that Executive be employed
with the Company on the date of payment of such Bonus. (iii) Equity Awards. During the Employment Period, Executive
shall be entitled to receive equity awards under the Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan and any other
incentive compensation plan or arrangement adopted by the Company from time to time in which similarly situated
executives of the Company are eligible to participate, in amounts and at times determined by and subject to approval of
the Board. (iv) Benefits. During the Employment Period, Executive shall be eligible to participate in all retirement,
compensation and employee benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by the Company to the extent



applicable generally to other executives of the Company (except severance plans, policies, practices, or programs) subject
to the eligibility criteria set forth therein, as such may be amended or terminated from time to time. (v) Expenses. During
the Employment Period, Executive shall be entitled to receive reimbursement for all reasonable business expenses
incurred by Executive in performance of Executive’ s duties hereunder provided that Executive provides all necessary
documentation in accordance with the Company’ s policies. (vi) Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify
Executive, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, against all costs, charges and expenses incurred or sustained
by Executive, including the cost and expenses of legal counsel, in connection with any action, suit or proceeding
(collectively a “ Proceeding ) to which Executive may be made by reason of Executive being or having been an
officer, director, or employee of the Company or any of its affiliates. Notwithstanding the preceding, Executive shall not
be entitled to indemnification in connection with any gross negligence or willful misconduct of Executive. Executive shall
be covered during the entire term of this Agreement and thereafter or-for at least six (6) years by officer and director
liability insurance in amounts and on terms similar to that afforded to other executives and / or directors of the
Company and its affiliates. 3. Termination of Employment. (a) Death or Disability. Executive’ s employment shall
terminate automatically upon Executive’ s death. If Executive becomes subject to a Disability (as defined below) during
the Employment Period, the Company may give Executive written notice in accordance with Sections 3 (f) and 10 (g)
hereof of its intention to terminate Executive’ s employment. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Disability ” means, as
determined in the Company’ s sole discretion, Executive’ s inability to perform Executive’ s duties hereunder by reason
of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment for a period of six (6) months or more in any twelve (12)-
month period. (b) Cause. Executive’ s employment finanetally-terminated at any time by the Company o+for “
Cause ” (as defined below). For purposes of this Agreement, “ Cause ” means Executive’ s (i) commission of, conviction
for, plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, or other material act or omission
involving dishonesty or fraud, (ii) engaging in conduct that constitutes fraud or embezzlement, (iii) engaging in conduct
that constitutes gross negligence or willful gross misconduct that results or could reasonably be expected to result in
harm to the Company’ s or any of its affiliates’ business or reputation, (iv) breach of any material terms of Executive’ s
employment, which results or could reasonably be expected to result in harm to the Company’ s or any of its affiliates’
business or reputation, (v) continued willful failure to substantially perform Executive’ s duties or (vi) breach of any
material policy of the Company or any of its affiliates that is applicable to employees generally that is reasonably likely
to result in demonstrable harm to the Company or any of its affiliates. Executive’ s employment shall not be terminated
for “ Cause ” within the meaning of clauses (iv), (v) or (vi) above unless Executive has been given written notice stating
the basis for such termination and Executive is given fifteen (15) days to cure, to the extent curable, the act or omission
that is the basis of any such claim. (¢) Termination Without Cause. The Company may terminate Executive’ s
employment hereunder without Cause at any time. 2 (d) Good Reason. Executive’ s employment may be terminated at
any time by Executive for Good Reason (as defined below) upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice following the
occurrence of the event giving rise to the termination for Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Good Reason ”
means voluntary resignation after any of the following actions taken by the Company without Executive’ s written
consent: (i) a material diminution in Executive’ s responsibilities, title, authority or reporting structure, including a
requirement that Executive directly report to anyone other than the board of directors of the ultimate parent company,
(ii) any material failure to pay compensation when due, (iii) a reduction in base pay or bonus opportunity other than
reductions applicable to senior executives generally, (iv) relocation of Executive’ s principal place of business by more
than 50 miles that materially increases Executive’ s commute, or (v) any other material breach of this Agreement by the
Company. Executive’ s employment shall not be terminated for Good Reason unless Executive has given the Company
written notice stating the condition that is the basis for such termination within thirty (30) days following the initial
occurrence of the event or condition allegedly constituting Good Reason and the Company fails to cure such condition
within fifteen (15) days following receipt of such notice. (¢) Voluntary Termination. Executive’ s employment may be
terminated at any time by Executive without Good Reason upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice. (f) Notice of
Termination. Any termination by the Company for Cause, without Cause or by reason of Disability, or by Executive for
Good Reason or without Good Reason, shall be communicated by Notice of Termination (as defined below) to the other
party hereto given in accordance with Section 10 (g) hereof. For purposes of this Agreement, a “ Notice of Termination ”
means a written notice that (i) indicates the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon, (ii) to the
extent applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of
Executive’ s employment under the provision so indicated and (iii) if the Date of Termination (as defined below) is other
than the date of receipt of such notice, specifies the termination date. The failure by Executive or the Company to set
forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance that contributes to a showing of Good Reason or Cause shall
not waive any right of Executive or the Company hereunder or preclude Executive or the Company from asserting such
fact or circumstance in enforcing Executive’ s or the Company’ s rights hereunder. (g) Date of Termination. For
purposes of this Agreement, “ Date of Termination ” means (i) if Executive’ s employment is terminated by the Company
for Cause, without Cause or by reason of Disability, the date of Executive’ s receipt of the Notice of Termination or any
later date specified therein pursuant to Section 3 (f) hereof, (ii) if Executive’ s employment is terminated by Executive for
Good Reason or without Good Reason, the date specified in the Notice of Termination pursuant to Section 3 (f) hereof
and (iii) if Executive’ s employment is terminated by reason of death, the date of death. 4. Obligations of the Company
upon Termination. (a) Without Cause; For Good Reason. If during the Employment Period, the Company shall
terminate Executive’ s employment without Cause or Executive shall terminate Executive’ s employment for Good
Reason, then the Company shall provide Executive with the following payments and / or benefits: (i) the Company shall



pay to Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th day of the third month following the end of
the calendar year that contains the Date of Termination in a lump sum to the extent not previously paid, (A) the Annual
Base Salary through the Date of Termination, (B) the amount of any unpaid expense reimbursements to which Executive
may be entitled pursuant to Section 2 (c) (v) hereof, and (C) any other vested payments or benefits to which Executive or
Executive’ s estate may be entitled to receive under any of the Company’ s benefit plans or applicable law, in accordance
with the terms of such plans or law (clauses (A)- (C), the “ Accrued Obligations ”); (ii) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, the
Company shall pay Executive an amount equal to one times (1x) Executive’ s Annual Base Salary as in effect as of the
Date of Termination in substantially equal installments in accordance with the Company’ s customary payroll practices,
commencing on the first payroll date occurring on or after the date that is sixty (60) days following the Date of
Termination (with the first installment inclusive of the 3 installments that would have been payable during
such initial sixty (60) day period) and ending on the first anniversary of the Date of Termination (the “ Severance
Payment ”); (iii) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, after a Date of Termination occurring following the third quarter of the
Company’ s fiscal year, the Company shall pay Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th
day of the third month following the end of the calendar year that contains the Date of Termination a prorated bonus for
the year of termination based on the number of days in such year elapsed through the Date of Termination with the
amount thereof determined based on the actual result of the Company for such year and payable when bonuses for such
year are generally paid to employees of the Company (the “ Prorated Bonus ”); and (iv) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof,
upon a Date of Termination occurring within thirty (30) days prior to a vesting date relating to an equity award
previously granted to Executive, the portion of such award that would have become vested within such thirty (30)- day
period shall vest. (b) Without Cause or For Good Reason following a Change in Control. If during the Employment
Period, a Change in Control (as defined below) occurs and within twelve (12) months following the occurrence of such
Change in Control, the Company shall terminate Executive’ s employment without Cause or Executive shall terminate
Executive’ s employment for Good Reason, then, in lieu of the payments and benefits described in Section 4 (a) hereof,
the Company shall provide Executive with the following payments and / or benefits: (i) the Company shall pay to
Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th day of the third month following the end of the
calendar year that contains the Date of Termination a lump sum amount equal to the Accrued Obligations; (ii) subject to
Section 4 (e) hereof, the Company shall pay to Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th day
of the third month following the end of the calendar year that contains the Date of Termination a lump sum amount
equal to two times (2x) Executive’ s Annual Base Salary as in effect as of the Date of Termination (the “ Enhanced
Severance Payment ); (iii) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, after a Date of Termination occurring following the third
quarter of the Company’ s fiscal year, the Company shall pay Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later
than the 15th day of the third month following the end of the calendar year that contains the Date of Termination the
Prorated Bonus; and (iv) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, upon a Date of Termination occurring within thirty (30) days
prior to a vesting date relating to an equity award previously granted to Executive, the portion of such award that would
have become vested within such thirty (30)- day period shall vest. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Change in Control ”
means, with respect to the Company, the first to occur of any of the following: (i) the acquisition by any person or “
group ” (as defined in section 13 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), other than by (A) the
Company or any of its affiliates or (B) any employee benefit plan of the Company or any of its affiliates, through one
transaction or a series of related transactions, of more than fifty percent (50 %) of the combined voting power of the then
outstanding voting securities of the Company; (ii) the merger or consolidation of the Company as a result of which
persons who were stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such merger or consolidation, do not, immediately
thereafter, own, directly or indirectly, fifty percent (50 %) or more of the combined voting power entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors of the merged or consolidated company; or (iii) the sale, transfer or other disposition
of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis), through
one transaction or a series of related transactions occurring during any period of twelve (12) consecutive months, to one
or more persons who are not, immediately prior to such sale, transfer or other disposition, stockholders or affiliates of
the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “ Change of Control ” shall not be deemed to occur (i) unless such
transaction satisfies the requirements of Treasury Regulation Section 1. 409A- 3 (i) (5) (V) or (vii) or (ii) upon the
occurrence of 4 any liquidation or dissolution of the Company, including if the Company files for bankruptcy,
liquidation or reorganization under the United States Bankruptcy Code. (c) Death or Disability. If Executive’ s
employment shall be terminated by reason of Executive’ s death or Disability, then the Company shall provide Executive
with the Accrued Obligations within ninety (90) days of the date of death or Executive’ s receipt of the Notice of
Termination, as applicable. Thereafter, the Company shall have no further obligation to Executive or Executive’ s legal
representatives. (d) Cause; Other than for Good Reason. If Executive’ s employment shall be terminated by the
Company for Cause or by Executive without Good Reason, then the Company shall have no further obligations to
Executive other than for payment of the Accrued Obligations no later than the 15th day of the third month following the
end of the calendar year that contains the Date of Termination. (e) Separation Agreement and General Release. The
Company’ s obligation to provide the Severance Payment, the Enhanced Severance Payment or the Prorated Bonus is
conditioned on Executive’ s or Executive’ s legal representative’ s executing a separation agreement and general release
of claims related to or arising from Executive’ s employment with the Company or the termination of employment,
against the Company and its affiliates (and their respective officers and directors) in a form reasonably determined by
the Company, which shall be provided by the Company to Executive within five (5) days following the Date of
Termination; provided, that, if Executive should fail to execute (or revokes) such release within sixty (60) days following



the Date of Termination, the Company shall not have any obligation to provide the Severance Payment, the Enhanced
Severance Payment or the Prorated Bonus. If Executive executes the release within such sixty (60) day period and does
not revoke the release within seven (7) days following the execution of the release, the Severance Payment, the Enhanced
Severance Payment and the Prorated Bonus will be provided in accordance with Section 4 (a) (ii), Section 4 (a) (iii) or
Section 4 (b) (ii) hereof, as applicable. 5. Restrictive Covenants. (a) Non- Solicitation. In consideration of Executive’ s
employment and receipt of payments hereunder, during the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending
twenty- four (24) months after the Date of Termination, Executive shall not directly, or indirectly through another
person, (x) induce or attempt to induce any employee, representative, agent or consultant of the Company or any of its
affiliates to leave the employ or services of the Company or any of its affiliates, or in any way interfere with the
relationship between the Company or any of its affiliates and any employee, representative, agent or consultant thereof,
(y) hire any person who was an employee, representative, agent or consultant of the Company or any of its affiliates at
any time during the twelve (12)- month period immediately prior to the date on which such hiring would take place or (z)
directly or indirectly call on, solicit or service any customer, supplier, licensee, licensor, representative, agent or other
business relation of the Company or any of its affiliates in order to induce or attempt to induce such person to cease
doing business with, or reduce the amount of business conducted with, the Company or any of its affiliates, or in any way
interfere with the relationship between any such customer, supplier, licensee, licensor, representative, agent or business
relation of the Company or any of its affiliates. No action by another person or entity shall be deemed to be a breach of
this provision unless Executive directly or indirectly assisted, encouraged or otherwise counseled such person or entity to
engage in such activity. (b) Non- Competition. Executive hereby acknowledges that it is familiar with the Confidential
Information (as defined below) of the Company and its subsidiaries. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the
Company would be irreparably damaged if Executive were to provide services to any person competing with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or engaged in a similar business and that such competition by Executive would result
in a significant loss of goodwill by the Company. Therefore, Executive agrees that during the period commencing on the
Effective Date and ending twelve (12) months after the Date of Termination, Executive shall not (and shall cause each of
Executive’ s affiliates not to) directly or indirectly own any interested—- interest in , manage, control, participate in
(whether as an officer, director, manager, employee, partner, equity holder, member, agent, representative or otherwise),
consult with, render services for, or in any other manner engage in any business engaged directly or indirectly, in the
Geographic Area (as defined below), in the business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries as 5 currently conducted
or proposed to be conducted as of the Date of Termination; provided, that nothing herein shall prohibit Executive from
being a passive owner of not more than five percent (5 %) of the outstanding stock of any class of a corporation which is
publicly traded Executive does not have any active participation in the business of eontract-corporation. or
For transaetion-purposes of this Agreement, the “ Geographic Area ” means North America. (c) Non- Disclosure; Non-
Use of Confidential Information. Subject to Section 5 (f) hereof, Executive shall not disclose or use at any time, either
during Executive’ s employment with the Company or any of its affiliates or at any time thereafter, any Confidential
Information of which Executive is approved-or becomes aware, whether or not such information is developed
Executive, except to the extent that such disclosure or use is directly related to and required by Executive’ s performance
in good faith of duties assigned to Executive by the Company or any of its affiliates. Executive will take all appropriate
steps to safeguard Confidential Information in Executive’ s possession and to protect it against disclosure, misuse,
espionage, loss and the-theft Board-in-aeeordanee-. Executive shall deliver to the Company at the termination of Executive’
s employment Company or BGEL—~permits- its ourstockholders-ornon—employee-directors-and-their
, or at any time the Company may request, all memoranda, notes, plans, records, reports, computer tapes and software
and other documents and data (and copies thereof) relating to engage-inr-the Confidential Information or the Work
Product (as defined below) of the business of the Company or any of its affiliates that Executive may then possess or
have under Executive’ s control. (d) Proprietary Rights. Executive recognizes that the Company and its affiliates possess
eorporate-opportuntty-proprietary interest in all Confidential Information and Work Product and have the exclusive
right and privilege to use, protect by copyright, patent or trademark, or otherwise exploit the processes, ideas and
concepts described therein to the exclusion of Executive, except as otherwise agreed between the Company or any of its
affiliates and Executive in writing. Executive expressly agrees that any Work Product made or developed by Executive
or Executive’ s agents during the course of Executive’ s employment, including any Work Product which is based on or
arises out of Work Product, shall be the property of and inure to the exclusive benefit of the Company and its affiliates.
Executive further agrees that all Work Product developed by Executive (whether or not able to be protected by
copyright, patent or trademark) during the course of Executive’ s employment with the Company or any of its affiliates,
or involving the use of the time, materials or the-other same-resources of the Company or any of its affiliates, shall be
promptly disclosed to the Company and shall become the exclusive property of the Company, and Executive shall
execute and deliver any and all documents necessary or appropriate to implement the foregoing. (¢) Certain Definitions.
(i) As used herein, the term “ Confidential Information ” means information that is not generally known to the public
(but or-for purposes of clarity, Confidential Information shall never exclude any such information that becomes known
to the public because of Executive’ s unauthorized disclosure) and that is used, developed or obtained by the Company
or any of its affiliates in connection with its business, including, but not limited to, information, observations and data
obtained by Executive while employed by the Company or any of its affiliates concerning (A) the business or affairs of
the Company or any of its affiliates, (B) products or services, (C) fees, costs and pricing structures, (D) designs, (E)
analyses, (F) drawings, photographs and reports, (G) computer software, including operating systems, applications and
program listings, (H) flow charts, manuals and documentation, (I) databases, (J) accounting and business methods, (K)



inventions, devices, new developments, methods and processes, whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not
reduced to practice, (L) customers, clients and lists thereof, (M) other copyrlghtable works, (N) all productlon methods,
processes, technology and trade secrets, and (O) all similar busin b SAEEE
propese-to-engage,eompete-with-us-and related information fe—m&ke—rnvesﬁﬁeﬁfs-l n whatever form. Conﬁdentlal
Information will not include any kind-efpreperty-information that has been published in whieh-we-may-make-investments
and-a form generally available to the public (except as a result of Executive’ s unauthorized disclosure) prior to the date
Executive proposes to disclose or use such information. Confidential Information will not be deemed to have {9-aeted-been
published or otherwise disclosed merely because individual portions of the information have been separately published,
but only if all material features comprising such information have been published in combination. (ii) As used herein, the
term “ Work Product ” means all inventions, innovations, improvements, technical information, systems, software
developments, methods, designs, analyses, drawings, reports, service marks, trademarks, trade names, logos and all
similar or related information (whether patentable or unpatentable) that relates to the Company’ s or any of its
affiliates’ actual or anticipated business, research and development or 6 existing or future products or services and that
are conceived, developed or made by Executive (whether or not during usual business hours and whether or not alone or
in conjunction with any other person) while employed by the Company or any of its affiliates, together with all patent
applications, letters patent, trademark, trade name and service mark applications or registrations, copyrights and
reissues thereof that may be granted for or upon any of the foregoing. (f) Government Agencies. Nothing contained in
this Agreement limits Executive’ s ability to file a manner-ineonsistent-charge or complaint with any federal, state or local
governmental agency or commission (“ Government Agency ). his-This Agreement does not limit Executive’ s ability to
communicate with any Government Agency or herfiduetary-otherwise participate in any investigation or proceeding that
may be commenced by any Government Agency, including providing documents or other duties-information without
notice to usregarding-the epportunity;(t-acted-inbad-faith- Company. This Agreement does not limit Executive’ s right to
receive an award orfor i#rinformation provided to any Government Agency. (g) Enforcement. If Executive commits a
manter-breach of any of the provisions of this Section 5 or Section 6 hereof, the Company shall have the right and
remedy to have the provisions specifically enforced by any court having jurisdiction, it being acknowledged and agreed
by Executive that the services being rendered hereunder to the Company or any of its affiliates are of a special, unique
and extraordinary character and that any such breach will cause irreparable injury to the Company and that money
damages will not provide an adequate remedy to the Company. Such right and remedy shall be in addition to, and not in
lieu of, any other rights and remedies available to the Company at law or in equity. Accordingly, Executive consents to
the issuance of an injunction, whether preliminary or permanent, ineensistent—- consistent with the terms of this
Agreement (without posting a bond eur— or other security bestinterests-or{iit-) if the Company establishes a violation of
this Section 5 or Section 6 hereof. (h) Blue Pencil. If, at any time, the provisions of this Section 5 shall be Lable
determined to us-or-be invalid etr— or unenforceable under stoekholdersfor-breach-ofany fiduetary-cuty-applicable law, by
reason of being vague or unreasonable as to area, duration or scope of activity, this Agreement shall be considered
divisible and shall become and be immediately amended to only such area, duration and scope of activity as shall be
determined to be reasonable and enforceable by the court or the-other faet-body having jurisdiction over the matter and
Executive and the Company agree that this Agreement as so amended shall be valid and binding as though any invalid or
unenforceable provision had not been included herein. (i) Tolling. The periods during which they— the covenants set
forth in this Section 5 shall survive shall be tolled during (and shall be deemed automatically extended by) any period
during which Executive is in violation of any such covenants, to the extent permitted by applicable law. (j) Severance
Payment. In addition to the foregoing, and not in any way in limitation of any right or remedy otherwise available to the
Company, if Executive violates this Section S or Section 6 hereof, any Severance Payment or Enhanced Severance
Payment then or thereafter due from the Company to Executive shall be terminated immediately and the Company’ s
obligation to pay and Executive’ s right to receive such Severance Payment or Enhanced Severance Payment shall
terminate and be of no further force or effect. (k) EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT EXECUTIVE HAS
CAREFULLY READ THIS SECTION 5 AND HAS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW ITS PROVISIONS
WITH ANY ADVISORS AS EXECUTIVE CONSIDERED NECESSARY AND THAT EXECUTIVE UNDERSTANDS
THIS AGREEMENT’ S CONTENTS AND SIGNIFIES SUCH UNDERSTANDING AND AGREEMENT BY SIGNING
BELOW. 6. Non- Disparagement. During the Employment Period and at all times thereafter, neither Executive or
Executive’ s agents, on the one hand, nor the Company, its affiliates, or any of its or their officers or directors, on the
other hand, shall directly or indirectly issue or communicate any public statement, or statement likely to become public,
that maligns, denigrates or disparages the other. The foregoing shall not be violated by (i) truthful responses to legal
process or governmental inquiry, (ii) private statements to the Company, its affiliates, or any of its or their officers,
directors or employees or (iii) communications with any Government Agency; provided, that in the case of Executive,
with 7 respect to clause (ii), such statements are made in the course of carrying out Executive’ s duties pursuant to this
Agreement. 7. Confidentiality of Agreement. The Parties agree that the consideration furnished under this Agreement,
the discussions and correspondence that led to this Agreement, and the terms and conditions of this Agreement are
private and confidential. Except in connection with any complaint with or investigation by any Government Agency or
as may be required by applicable law, regulation, or stock exchange requirement, neither Party may disclose the above
information to any other person or entity without the prior written approval of the other. 8. Compensation Recovery
Policy. If any of the Company’ s financial statements are required to be restated due to errors, omissions, fraud or
misconduct (including, but not limited to, circumstances where the Company has been required to prepare an
accounting restatement due to material non- compliance with any financial reporting requirement, as enforced by the




Securities and Exchange Commission), the Compensation Committee of the Board or the Board may, in its sole
discretion but acting in good faith, direct that the Company recover all or a portion of any cash incentive, equity
compensation or severance disbursements paid to Executive with respect to any fiscal year of the Company for which the
financial results are negatively affected by such restatement. 9. Executive’ s Representations, Warranties and Covenants.
Executive hereby represents and warrants to the Company that: (a) Executive has all requisite power and authority to
execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, and this Agreement has
been duly executed by Executive; (b) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Executive does not
and will not, with or without notice or the passage of time, conflict with, breach, violate or cause a default under any
agreement, contract or instrument to which Executive is a party or any judgment, order or decree to which Executive is
subject; (c) Executive is not a party to or bound by any employment agreement, consulting agreement, non- compete
agreement, fee for services agreement, confidentiality agreement or similar agreement with any other person; (d) upon
the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and Executive, this Agreement will be a legal, valid and
binding obligation of Executive, enforceable in accordance with its terms; (e) Executive understands that the Company
will rely upon the accuracy and truth of the representations and warranties of Executive set forth herein and Executive
consents to such reliance; and (f) as of the date of execution of this Agreement, Executive is not in breach of any of its
terms, including having committed any acts that would form the basis for a Cause termination if such act had occurred
after the Effective Date. 10. General Provisions. (a) Severability. It is the desire and intent of the Parties hereto that the
provisions of this Agreement be enforced to the fullest extent permissible under the laws and public policies applied in
each jurisdiction in which enforcement is sought. Accordingly, if any particular provision of this Agreement shall be
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable under any present or future
law, and if the rights and obligations of any party under this Agreement will not be materially and adversely affected
thereby, such provision, as to such jurisdiction, shall be ineffective, without invalidating the remaining provisions of this
Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction; furthermore, in lieu of
such invalid or unenforceable provision there will be added automatically as a part of this Agreement, a legal, valid and
enforceable provision as similar in terms to such invalid or unenforceable provision as may be possible. 8
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such provision could be more narrowly drawn so as not to be invalid, prohibited or
unenforceable in such jurisdiction, it shall, as to such jurisdiction, be so narrowly drawn, without invalidating the
remaining provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other
jurisdiction. (b) Entire Agreement and Effectiveness. Effective as of the Effective Date, this Agreement embodies the
complete agreement and understanding among the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersedes and preempts any prior understandings, agreements or representations by or among the Parties, written or
oral, which may related to the subject matter hereof in any way, including, without limitation, the Prior Agreement.
(c) Successors and Assigns. (i) This Agreement is personal to Executive and without the prior written consent of the
Company shall not be assignable by Executive otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. This
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive’ s legal representatives. (ii) This Agreement shall
inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns. The Company will require any
successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the
business and / or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner
and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used
in this Agreement, “ Company ” means the Company as hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business and / or
assets as aforesaid that assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise. (d) Governing
Law. THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS
OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO ANY CHOICE OF LAW OR CONFLICTING
PROVISION OR RULE THAT WOULD CAUSE THE LAWS OF ANY JURISDICTION OTHER THAN THE STATE
OF DELAWARE TO BE APPLIED. IN FURTHERANCE OF THE FOREGOING, THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE
STATE OF DELAWARE WILL CONTROL THE INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION OF THIS
AGREEMENT, EVEN IF UNDER SUCH JURISDICTION’ S CHOICE OF LAW OR CONFLICT OF LAW
ANALYSIS, THE SUBSTANTIVE LAW OF SOME OTHER JURISDICTION WOULD ORDINARILY APPLY. (e)
Enforcement. (i) Arbitration. Except for disputes arising under Section 5 or Section 6 hereof (including, without
limitation, any claim for injunctive relief), any controversy, dispute or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement,
or its interpretation, application, implementation, breach or enforcement which the Parties are unable to resolve by
mutual agreement, shall be settled by submission by either Executive or the Company of the controversy, claim or
dispute to binding arbitration in Alabama (unless the Parties agree in writing to a different location), before a single
arbitrator in accordance with the Employment Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration Association then in
effect. In any such arbitration proceeding the Parties agree to provide all discovery deemed necessary by the arbitrator.
The decision and award made by the arbitrator shall be accompanied by a reasoned opinion, and shall be final, binding
and conclusive on all Parties hereto for all purposes, and judgment may be entered thereon in any court having
jurisdiction thereof. The Company will bear the totality of the arbitrator’ s and administrative fees and costs. Each
Party shall bear its own litigation costs and expenses; provided, however, that the arbitrator shall have the discretion to
award the prevailing party reimbursement of its or his or her reasonable attorney’ s fees and costs. Upon the request of
either of the Parties, at any time prior to the beginning of the arbitration hearing, the Parties may attempt in good faith
to settle the dispute by mediation administered by the American Arbitration Association. The Company will bear the
totality of the mediator’ s and administrative fees and costs. 9 (ii) Remedies. All remedies hereunder are cumulative, are



in addition to any other remedies provided for by law and may, to the extent permitted by law, be exercised concurrently
or separately, and the exercise of any one remedy shall not be deemed to be an election of such remedy or to preclude the
exercise of any other remedy. (iii) Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR
COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT. (f) Amendment and Waiver. The
provisions of this Agreement may be amended and waived only with the prior written consent of the Company and
Executive and no course of conduct or failure or delay in enforcing the provisions of this Agreement shall be construed as
a waiver of such provisions or affect the validity, binding effect or enforceability of this Agreement or any provision
hereof. (g) Notices. Any notice provided for in this Agreement must be in writing and must be either personally
delivered, transmitted via telecopier, mailed by first class mail (postage prepaid and return receipt requested) or sent by
reputable overnight courier service (charges prepaid) to the recipient at the address below indicated or at such other
address or to the attention of such other person as the recipient party has specified by prior written notice to the sending
party. Notices will be deemed to have been given hereunder and received when delivered personally, when received if
transmitted via telecopier, five (5) days after deposit in the U. S. mail and one day after deposit for overnight delivery
with a reputable overnight courier service. If to the Company, to: Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 16243 Highway 216
Brookwood, AL 35444 Attention: Chief Financial Officerwith a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Maynard
Nexsen PC1901 Sixth Ave. NorthSuite 1700Birmingham, AL 35203 Attention: Maggie Corneliuslf to Executive, to:
Executive’ s home address most recently on file with the Company. (h) Withholdings Taxes. The Company may withhold
from any amounts payable under this Agreement such federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld
pursuant to any applicable law or regulation. (i) Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements. All
representations, warranties and agreements contained herein shall survive the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby indefinitely. (j) Descriptive Headings. The descriptive headings of this Agreement are inserted for
convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Agreement. All references to a “ Section ” in this Agreement are to a
section of this Agreement unless otherwise noted. (k) Construction. Where specific language is used to clarify by example
a general statement contained herein, such specific language shall not be deemed to modify, limit or restrict in any
manner the construction of the general statement to which it relates. The language used in this Agreement shall be
deemed to be the language 10 chosen by the Parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall
be applied against any Party. (I) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which
is deemed to be an original and all of which taken together constitute one and the same agreement. (m) Section 409A.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement is intended to be interpreted and applied so that the
payment of the benefits set forth herein either shall either be exempt from the requirements of Section 409A of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”), or shall comply with the requirements of such provision.
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or elsewhere to the contrary, distributions upon termination of Executive’ s
employment may only be made upon a “ separation from service ” as determined under Code Section 409A. Each
payment under this Agreement or otherwise shall be treated as a separate payment for purposes of Code Section 409A.
In no event may Executive, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of any payment to be made under this
Agreement or otherwise which constitutes a “ deferral of compensation ” within the meaning of Code Section 409A. All
reimbursements and in- kind benefits provided under this Agreement shall be made or provided in accordance with the
requirements of Code Section 409A. To the extent that any reimbursements pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise are
taxable to Executive, any reimbursement payment due to Executive shall be paid to Executive on or before the last day
of Executive’ s taxable year following the taxable year in which the related expense was incurred; provided, that,
Executive has provided the Company written documentation of such expenses in a timely fashion and such expenses
otherwise satisfy the Company’ expense reimbursement policies. Reimbursements pursuant to this Agreement or
otherwise are not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit and the amount of such reimbursements that
Executive receives in one taxable year shall not affect the amount of such reimbursements that Executive receives in any
other taxable year. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, if on the date of his termination
from employment with the Company Executive is deemed to be a “ specified employee ” within the meaning of Code
Section 409A and the Final Treasury Regulations using the identification methodology selected by the Company from
time to time, or if none, the default methodology under Code Section 409A, any payments or benefits due upon a
termination of Executive’ s employment under any arrangement that constitutes a “ deferral of compensation ” within
the meaning of Code Section 409A shall be delayed and paid or provided (or commence, in the case of installments) on
the first payroll date on or following the earlier of (i) the date which is six (6) months and one (1) day after Executive’ s
termination of employment for any reason other than death, and (ii) the date of Executive’ s death, and any remaining
payments and benefits shall be paid or provided in accordance with the normal payment dates specified for such
payment or benefit. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing to the contrary, the Company and its officers, directors,
employees, or agents make no guarantee that the terms of this Agreement as written comply with, or are exempt from,
the provisions of Code Section 409A, and none of the foregoing shall have any liability for the failure of the terms of this
Agreement as written to comply with, or be exempt from, the provisions of Code Section 409A. [ SIGNATURE PAGE
FOLLOWS | 11 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written
above. WARRIOR MET COAL, INC. By: / s / Kelli K. Gant Name: Kelli K. GantTitle: Chief Administrative Officer
EXECUTIVE /s / Walter J. Scheller, III Walter J. Scheller, 11112 Exhibit 10. 7This AMENDED AND RESTATED
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”’) by and between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the “ Company ), and
Jack K. Richardson (“ Executive ) (collectively, the « Parties ) is entered into as of February 10, 2025 (the “ Effective



Date ”). WHEREAS, Warrior Met Coal, LLC, the Company’ s predecessor, and Executive previously entered into an
employment agreement, dated as of March 31, 2016 (the “ Prior Agreement ’); andWHEREAS, the Company and
Executive wish to continue Executive’ s employment with the Company pursuant to the terms, provisions and conditions
set forth in this Agreement, which will replace the Prior Agreement in its entirety. NOW, THEREFORE, in
consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants, understandings, representations, warranties, undertakings
and promises hereinafter set forth, intending to be legally bound thereby, the Parties agree as follows: 1. Employment
Period. Executive shall be employed by the Company for a period commencing as of the Effective Date and continuing
until such time as Executive’ s employment is terminated in accordance with Section 3 hereof (the “ Employment Period
). Upon Executive’ s termination of employment with the Company for any reason, Executive shall immediately resign
all positions with the Company or any of its affiliates, including any position as a member of the Company’ s Board of
Directors (the “ Board ”). 2. Terms of Employment. (a) Position. During the Employment Period, Executive shall serve
as Chief Operating Officer of the Company and will perform such duties and exercise such supervision with regard to
the business of the Company as are commensurate with such position, including such duties as may be prescribed from
time to time by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the “ CEO ”). Executive shall report directly to the CEO
and, if reasonably requested by the Board, Executive hereby agrees to serve (without additional compensation) as an
officer and director of the Company or any of its affiliates. (b) Duties. During the Employment Period, Executive shall
have such responsibilities, duties, and authority that are commensurate with Executive’ s position, subject at all times to
the control of the CEQO, and shall perform such services as customarily are provided by an executive of a corporation
with Executive’ s position and such other services consistent with Executive’ s position, as shall be assigned to Executive
from time to time by the CEO. During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to
which Executive is entitled, Executive agrees to devote all of Executive’ s business time to the business and affairs of the
Company and to use Executive’ s commercially reasonable efforts to perform faithfully, effectively and efficiently
Executive’ s responsibilities and obligations hereunder. Executive shall be entitled to engaged-- engage in charitable and
educational activities and to manage Executive’ s personal and family investments, to the extent +are not
competitive with the business of the Company, do not interfere with the performance of Executive’ s duties for the
Company and are otherwise consistent with the Company’ s governance policies. (c) Compensation. (i) Base Salary.
During the Employment Period, Executive shall receive and-- an -providesthat-annual base salary in an amount equal to
five hundred seventy five thousand nine hundred dollars ($ 575, 900), less all applicable withholdings, which shall be
paid in accordance with the customary payroll practices of the Company and prorated for partial calendar years of
employment (as in effect from time to time, the “ Annual Base Salary ). The Annual Base Salary shall be subject to
annual review by the Board, in its sole discretion, for possible increase and any such increased Annual Base Salary
documented in the form of a resolution adopted by the Board or an amendment to this Agreement shall constitute
Annual Base Salary ” for purposes of this Agreement. (ii) Annual Bonus. During the Employment Period, with respect to
each completed fiscal year of the Company, Executive shall be eligible to receive a bonus (the “ Bonus ) with a target
amount equal to one hundred percent (100 %) of Annual Base Salary contingent upon the achievement of qualitative and
quantitative performance goals approved by the Board. The Bonus, of etr-stoekholders-, shall be paid in
accordance with the terms of the applicable bonus plan as in effect from time to time, and shall require that Executive be
employed with the Company o on the date of payment of such Bonus. (iii) Equity Awards. During the Employment
Period, Executive shall be entitled to receive equity awards under the Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan
and any other incentive compensation plan or arrangement adopted by the Company from time to time in which
similarly situated executives of the Company are eligible to participate, in amounts and at times determined by and
subject to approval of the Board. (iv) Benefits. During the Employment Period, Executive shall be eligible to participate
in all retirement, compensation and employee benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by the Company
to the extent applicable generally to other executives of the Company (except severance plans, policies, practices, or
programs) subject to the eligibility criteria set forth therein, as such may be amended or terminated from time to time.
(v) Expenses. During the Employment Period, Executive shall be entitled to receive reimbursement for all reasonable
business expenses incurred by Executive in performance of Executive’ s duties hereunder provided that Executive
provides all necessary documentation in accordance with the Company’ s policies. (vi) Indemnification. The Company
shall indemnify Executive, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, against all costs, charges and expenses
incurred or sustained by Executive, including the cost and expenses of legal counsel, in connection with any action, suit
or proceeding (collectively a “ Proceeding ”) to which Executive may be made a party by reason of Executive being or
having been an officer, director, or employee of the Company or any of its affiliates. Notwithstanding the preceding,
Executive shall not be entitled to indemnification in connection with any gross negligence or willful misconduct of
Executive. Executive shall be covered during the entire term of this Agreement and thereafter for at least six (6) years by
officer and director liability insurance in amounts and on terms similar to that afforded to other executives and / or
directors of the Company and its affiliates. 3. Termination of Employment. (a) Death or Disability. Executive’ s
employment shall terminate automatically upon Executive’ s death. If Executive becomes subject to a Disability (as
defined below) during the Employment Period, the Company may give Executive written notice in accordance with
Sections 3 (f) and 10 (g) hereof of its intention to terminate Executive’ s employment. For purposes of this Agreement, “
Disability ” means, as determined in the Company’ s sole discretion, Executive’ s inability to perform Executive’ s duties
hereunder by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment for a period of six (6) months or
more in any twelve (12) - month period. (b) Cause. Executive’ s employee-employment direetors-may be terminated at any
time by the Company et-for “ Cause ” (as defined below). For purposes of this Agreement, “ Cause ” means Executive’ s



(i) commission of, conviction for, plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, or
their— other material act or omission involving dishonesty or fraud, (ii) engaging in conduct that constitutes fraud or
embezzlement, (iii) engaging in conduct that constitutes gross negligence or willful gross misconduct that results or could
reasonably be expected to result in harm to the Company’ s or any of its aequtre-knowledge-’ business or
reputation, (iv) breach of any material terms of Executive’ s employment, which results or could reasonably be expected
to result in harm to the Company’ s or any of its affiliates’ business or reputation, (v) continued willful failure to
substantially perform Executive’ s duties or (vi) breach of any material policy of the Company or any of its affiliates that
is applicable to employees generally that is reasonably likely to result in demonstrable harm to the Company or any of its
affiliates. Executive’ s employment shall not be terminated for “ Cause ” within the meaning of clauses (iv), (v) or (vi)
above unless Executive has been given written notice stating the basis for such termination and Executive is given fifteen
(15) days to cure, to the extent curable, the act or omission that is the basis of any such claim. (¢) Termination Without
Cause. The Company may terminate Executive’ s employment hereunder without Cause at any time. 2 (d) Good Reason.
Executive’ s employment may be terminated at any time by Executive for Good Reason (as defined below) upon thirty
(30) days’ prior written notice following the occurrence of the event giving rise to the termination for Good Reason. For
purposes of this Agreement, “ Good Reason ” means voluntary resignation after any of the following actions taken by the
Company without Executive’ s written consent: (i) a potential-business-opportunity-material diminution in Executive’ s
responsibilities , transaetion-title, authority or other-matter{reporting structure, including a requirement that Executive
directly report to anyone the board of directors of the ultimate parent company, (ii) any material failure to pay
compensation when due, (iii) a reduction in base pay or bonus opportunity other than reductions applicable to senior
executives generally, (iv) relocation of Executive’ s principal place of business by more than 50 miles that materially
increases Executive’ s commute, or (v) any other material breach of this Agreement by the Company. Executive’ s
employment shall not be terminated for Good Reason unless Executive has given the Company written notice stating the
condition that is the basis for such termination within thirty (30) days following the initial occurrence of the event or
condition allegedly constituting Good Reason and the Company fails to cure such condition within fifteen (15) days
following receipt of such notice. (¢) Voluntary Termination. Executive’ s employment may be terminated at any time by
Executive without Good Reason upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice. (f) Notice of Termination. Any termination
by the Company for Cause, without Cause or by reason of Disability, or by Executive for Good Reason or without Good
Reason, shall be communicated by Notice of Termination (as defined below) to the other party hereto given in
accordance with Section 10 (g) hereof. For purposes of this Agreement, a “ Notice of Termination ” means a written
notice that (i) indicates the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets
forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of Executive’ s
employment under the provision so indicated and (iii) if the Date of Termination (as defined below) is other than the date
of receipt of such notice, specifies the termination date. The failure by Executive or the Company to set forth in the
Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance that contributes to a showing of Good Reason or Cause shall not waive
any right of Executive or the Company hereunder or preclude Executive or the Company from asserting such fact or
circumstance in enforcing Executive’ s or the Company’ s rights hereunder. (g) Date of Termination. For purposes of
this Agreement, “ Date of Termination ” means (i) if Executive’ s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause,
without Cause or by reason of Disability, the date of Executive’ s receipt of the Notice of Termination or any later date
specified therein pursuant to Section 3 (f) hereof, (ii) if Executive’ s employment is terminated by Executive for Good
Reason or without Good Reason, the date specified in the Notice of Termination pursuant to Section 3 (f) hereof and (iii)
if Executive’ s employment is terminated by reason of death, the date of death. 4. Obligations of the Company upon
Termination. (a) Without Cause; For Good Reason. If during the Employment Period, the Company shall terminate
Executive’ s employment without Cause or Executive shall terminate Executive’ s employment for Good Reason, then
the Company shall provide Executive with the following payments and / or benefits: (i) the Company shall pay to
Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th day of the third month following the end of the
calendar year that contains the Date of Termination in a lump sum to the extent not previously paid, (A) the Annual
Base Salary through the Date of Termination, (B) the amount of any unpaid expense reimbursements to which Executive
may be entitled pursuant to Section 2 (c) (v) hereof, and (C) any other vested payments or benefits to which Executive or
Executive’ s estate may be entitled to receive under any of the Company’ s benefit plans or applicable law, in accordance
with the terms of such plans or law (clauses (A)- (C), the “ Accrued Obligations ”); (ii) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, the
Company shall pay Executive an amount equal to expressly-offered-times (1x) Executive’ s Annual Base Salary as in
effect as of the Date of Termination in substantially equal installments in accordance with the Company’ s customary
payroll practices, commencing on the first payroll date occurring on or 3 after the date that is sixty (60) days following
the Date of Termination (with the first installment inclusive of the installments that would have otherwise been payable
during such initial sixty (60) day period) and ending on the first anniversary of the Date of Termination (the *“ Severance
Payment ”); (iii) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, after a Date of Termination occurring following the third quarter of the
Company’ s fiscal year, the Company shall pay Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th
day of the third month following the end of the calendar year that contains the Date of Termination a prorated bonus for
the year of termination based on the number of days in such year elapsed through the Date of Termination with the
amount thereof determined based on the actual result of the Company for such year and payable when bonuses for such
year are generally paid to employees of the Company (the “ Prorated Bonus ”); and (iv) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof,
upon a Date of Termination occurring within thirty (30) days prior to a vesting date relating to an equity award
previously granted to Executive, the portion of such award that would have become vested within such thirty (30)- day



period shall vest. (b) Without Cause or For Good Reason following a Change in Control. If during the Employment
Period, a Change in Control (as defined below) occurs and within twelve (12) months following the occurrence of such
Change in Control, the Company shall terminate Executive’ s employment without Cause or Executive shall terminate
Executive’ s employment for Good Reason, then, in lieu of the payments and benefits described in Section 4 (a) hereof,
the Company shall provide Executive with the following payments and / or benefits: (i) the Company shall pay to
Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th day of the third month following the end of the
calendar year that contains the Date of Termination a lump sum amount equal to the Accrued Obligations; (ii) subject to
Section 4 (e) hereof, the Company shall pay to Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th day
of the third month following the end of the calendar year that contains the Date of Termination a lump sum amount
equal to one and one- half times (1. Sx) Executive’ s Annual Base Salary as in effect as of the Date of Termination (the *
Enhanced Severance Payment ”); (iii) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, after a Date of Termination occurring following the
third quarter of the Company’ s fiscal year, the Company shall pay Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no
later than the 15th day of the third month following the end of the calendar year that contains the Date of Termination
the Prorated Bonus; and (iv) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, upon a Date of Termination occurring within thirty (30)
days prior to a vesting date relating to an equity award previously granted to Executive, the portion of such award that
would have become vested within such thirty (30)- day period shall vest. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Change in
Control ” means, with respect to the Company, the first to occur of of the following: (i) the acquisition by any person
or “ group ” (as defined in section 13 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), other than by (A) the
Company or any of its affiliates or (B) any employee benefit plan of the Company or any of its affiliates, through one
transaction or a series of related transactions, of more than fifty percent (50 %) of the combined voting power of the then
outstanding voting securities of the Company; (ii) the merger or consolidation of the Company as a result of which
persons who were stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such merger or consolidation, do not, immediately
thereafter, own, directly or indirectly, fifty percent (50 %) or more of the combined voting power entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors of the merged or consolidated company; or (iii) the sale, transfer or other disposition
of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries (determined ror—- on a consolidated basis),
through one transaction or a series of related transactions occurring during any period of twelve (12) consecutive
months, to one or more persons who are not, immediately prior to such sale, transfer or other disposition, stockholders
or affiliates of the Company. 4 Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “ Change of Control ” shall not be deemed to occur (i)
unless such transaction satisfies the requirements of Treasury Regulation Section 1. 409A - employee-direetortn-writing
setely-trhis-3 (i) (5) (v) or (vii) or (ii) upon the occurrence of any liquidation or dissolution of the Company, including if
the Company files orfor hereapaeity-bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization under the United States Bankruptcy
Code. (c) Death or Disability. If Executive’ s employment shall be terminated by reason of Executive’ s death or
Disability, then the Company shall provide Executive with the Accrued Obligations within ninety (90) days of the date of
death or Executive’ s receipt of the Notice of Termmatlon, our-direetor)-applicable. Thereafter , the Company shall
duty-further obligation to eemmunieate-Executive or
Executive’ s legal representatives. (d) Cause; Other than er-for effer-Good Reason. If Executive’ s employment shall be
terminated by the Company for Cause or by Executive without Good Reason, then the Company shall have no further
obligations to Executive other than for payment of the Accrued Obligations no later than the 15th day of the third month
following the end of the calendar year opportunity-to-us;-contains the Date of Termination. (e) Separation Agreement
General Release. The Company’ s obligation to provide the Severance Payment, the Enhanced Severance Payment or
the Prorated Bonus is conditioned on Executive’ s or Executive’ s legal representative’ s executing a separation
agreement and general release of claims related to or arising from Executive’ s employment with the Company or the
termination of employment, against the Company and its affiliates (and their respective officers and directors) in a form
reasonably determined by the Company, which shall be provided by the Company to Executive within five (5) days
following the Date of Termination; provided, that, if Executive should fail to execute (or revokes) such release within
sixty (60) days following the Date of Termination, the Company shall not have any obligation to provide the Severance
Payment, the Enhanced Severance Payment or the Prorated Bonus. If Executive executes the release within such sixty
(60) day period and does not revoke the release within seven (7) days following the execution of the release, the Severance
Payment, the Enhanced Severance Payment and the Prorated Bonus permitted-to-prrste-provided in accordance
with Section 4 (a) (ii), Section 4 (a) (iii) or aeguire-sueh-opportanity-Section 4 (b) (ii) hereof, as applicable. 5. Restrictive
Covenants. (a) Non- Solicitation. In consideration of Executive’ s employment and receipt of payments hereunder,
during the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending twenty- four (24) months after the Date of Termination,
Executive shall not directly, or indirectly through effer-that-eppertunity-to- , (x) induce or attempt to induce
any employee, representative, agent or consultant of the Company or any of its afﬁliates to leave the employ or services
of the Company or any of its affiliates, or in any way interfere with the relationship between the Company or any of its
affiliates and any employee, representative, agent or consultant thereof, (y) hire any person who was and-- an employee,
representative, agent or consultant of the Company or any of its affiliates at any time during the twelve (12)- month
period immediately prior to the date on which such hiring would take place or (z) directly or indirectly call on, solicit or
service any customer, supplier, licensee, licensor, representative, agent or other business relation of the Company or any
of its affiliates in order to induce or attempt to induce such person to cease doing business with, or reduce the amount of
business conducted with, the Company or any of its affiliates, or in any way interfere with the relationship between any
such customer, supplier, licensee, licensor, representative, agent or business relation of the Company or any of its
affiliates. No action by another person or entity shall be deemed to be a breach of this provision unless Executive directly



or indirectly assisted, encouraged or otherwise counseled such person or entity to engage in such activity. (b) Non-
Competition. Executive hereby acknowledges that it is familiar with the Confidential Information (as defined below) of
the Company and its subsidiaries. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Company would be irreparably damaged
if Executive were to provide services to any person competing with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or engaged in
a similar business and that such competition by Executive would result in a significant loss of goodwill by the Company.
Therefore, Executive agrees that during the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending twelve (12) months
after the Date of Termination, Executive shall not (and shall cause each of Executive’ s affiliates not to) directly or
indirectly own any interest in, manage, control, participate in (whether as an officer, director, manager, employee,
partner, equity holder, member, agent, representative or 5 otherwise), consult with, render services for, or in any other
manner engage in any business engaged directly or indirectly, in the Geographic Area (as defined below), in the business
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries as currently conducted or proposed to be conducted as of the Date of
Termination; provided, that nothing herein shall prohibit Executive from being a passive owner of not more than five
percent (5 %) of the outstanding stock of any class of a corporation which is publicly traded so long as Executive does not
have any active participation in the business of such corporation. For purposes of this Agreement, the “ Geographic Area
” means North America. (c) Non- Disclosure; Non- Use of Confidential Information. Subject to Section 5 (f) hereof,
Executive shall not disclose or use at any time, either during Executive’ s employment with the Company or any of its
affiliates or at any time thereafter, any Confidential Information of which Executive is or becomes aware, whether or not
such information is developed by Executive, except to the extent that such disclosure or use is directly related to and
required by Executive’ s performance in good faith of duties assigned to Executive by the Company or any of its
affiliates. Executive will take all appropriate steps to safeguard Confidential Information in Executive’ s possession and
to protect it against disclosure, misuse, espionage, loss and theft. Executive shall deliver to the Company at the
termination of Executive’ s employment with the Company or any of its affiliates, or at any time the Company may
request, all memoranda, notes, plans, records, reports, computer tapes and software and other documents and data (and
copies thereof) relating to the Confidential Information or the Work Product (as defined below) of the business of the
Company or any of its affiliates that Executive may then possess or have under Executive’ s control. (d) Proprietary
Rights. Executive recognizes that the Company and its affiliates possess a proprietary interest in all Confidential
Information and Work Product and have the exclusive right and privilege to use, protect by copyright, patent or
trademark, or otherwise exploit the processes, ideas and concepts described therein to the exclusion of Executive, except
as otherwise agreed between the Company or any of its affiliates and Executive in writing. Executive expressly agrees
that any Work Product made or developed by Executive or Executive’ s agents during the course of Executive’ s
employment, including any Work Product which is based on or arises out of Work Product, shall be the property of and
inure to the exclusive benefit of the Company and its affiliates. Executive further agrees that all Work Product
developed by Executive (whether or not able to be protected by copyright, patent or trademark) during the course of
Executive’ s employment with the Company or any of its affiliates, or involving the use of the time, materials or other
resources of the Company or any of its affiliates, shall be promptly disclosed to the Company and shall become the
exclusive property of the Company, and Executive shall execute and deliver any and all documents necessary or
appropriate to implement the foregoing. (e) Certain Definitions. (i) As used herein, the term “ Confidential Information
” means information that is not generally known to the public (but for purposes of clarity, Confidential Information shall
never exclude any such information that becomes known to the public because of Executive’ s unauthorized disclosure)
and that is used, developed or obtained by the Company or any of its affiliates in connection with its business, including,
but not limited to, information, observations and data obtained by Executive while employed by the Company or any of
its affiliates concerning (A) the business or affairs of the Company or any of its affiliates, (B) products or services, (C)
fees, costs and pricing structures, (D) designs, (E) analyses, (F) drawings, photographs and reports, (G) computer
software, including operating systems, applications and program listings, (H) flow charts, manuals and documentation,
(I) databases, (J) accounting and business methods, (K) inventions, devices, new developments, methods and processes,
whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice, (L) customers, clients and lists thereof, (M)
other copyrightable works, (N) all production methods, processes, technology and trade secrets, and (O) all similar and
related information in whatever form. Confidential Information will not include any information that has been
published in a form generally available to the public (except as a result of Executive’ s unauthorized disclosure) prior to
the date Executive proposes to disclose or use such information. Confidential Information will not be deemed to have ¢}
aeted-been published or otherwise disclosed merely because individual portions of the information have been separately
published, but only if all material features comprising such information have been published in a-mannerineonsistent
combination. (ii) As used herein, the term “ Work Product ” means all inventions, innovations, improvements, technical
information, systems, software developments, methods, designs, analyses, drawings, reports, service 6 marks,
trademarks, trade names, logos and all similar or related information (whether patentable or unpatentable) that relates
to the Company’ s or any of its affiliates’ actual or anticipated business, research and development or existing or future
products or services and that are conceived, developed or made by Executive (whether or not during usual business
hours and whether or not alone or in conjunction with any kis-erherfiduetary-erother person dutieste-usregardingthe
epportanity;(it-) acted-inr-bad-faith-while employed by the Company or t-a-manner-ineonsistent-any of its affiliates, together
with all patent appllcatlons, letters patent trademark trade name and servnce mark appllcatlons ot or reglstratlons
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may be granted for or upon any of the foregoing. (f) Government Agencies. Nothing contained in this Agreement limits
Executive’ s ability to file a charge or complaint with any federal, state or local governmental agency or commission (“
Government Agency ”). This Agreement does not limit Executive’ s ability to communicate with any Government
Agency or otherwise participate in any investigation or proceeding that may be commenced by any Government Agency,
including providing documents or other information without notice to the Company. This Agreement does not limit
Executive’ s right to receive an award for information provided to any Government Agency. (g) Enforcement. If
Executive commits a breach of any of the provisions of this Section 5 or Section 6 hereof, the Company shall have the
right and remedy to have the provisions specifically enforced by any court having jurisdiction, it being acknowledged
and agreed by Executive that the services being rendered hereunder to the Company or any of its affiliates are of a
special, unique and extraordinary character and that any such breach will cause irreparable injury to the Company and
that money damages will not provide an adequate remedy to the Company. Such right and remedy shall be in addition
to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies available to the Company at law or in equity. Accordingly, Executive
consents to the issuance of an injunction, whether preliminary or permanent, consistent with the terms of this Agreement
(without posting a bond or other security) if the Company establishes a violation of this Section 5 or Section 6 hereof. (h)
Blue Pencil. If, at any time, the provisions of this Section 5 shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable under any
applicable law, by reason of being vague or unreasonable as to area, duration or scope of activity, this Agreement shall
be considered divisible and shall become and be immediately amended to only such area, duration and scope of activity
as shall be determined to be reasonable and enforceable by the court or other body having jurisdiction over the matter
and Executive and the Company agree that this Agreement as so amended shall be valid and binding as though any
invalid or unenforceable provision had not been included herein. (i) Tolling. The periods during which the covenants set
forth in this Section 5 shall survive shall be tolled during (and shall be deemed automatically extended by) any period
during which Executive is in violation of any such covenants, to the extent permitted by applicable law. (j) Severance
Payment. In addition to the foregoing, and not in any way in limitation of any right or remedy otherwise available to the
Company, if Executive violates this Section S or Section 6 hereof, any Severance Payment or Enhanced Severance
Payment then or thereafter due from the Company to Executive shall be terminated immediately and the Company’ s
obligation to pay and Executive’ s right to receive such Severance Payment or Enhanced Severance Payment shall
terminate and be of no further force or effect. (k) EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT EXECUTIVE HAS
CAREFULLY READ THIS SECTION 5 AND HAS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW ITS PROVISIONS
WITH ANY ADVISORS AS EXECUTIVE CONSIDERED NECESSARY AND THAT EXECUTIVE UNDERSTANDS
THIS AGREEMENT’ S CONTENTS AND SIGNIFIES SUCH UNDERSTANDING AND AGREEMENT BY SIGNING
BELOW. 6. Non- Disparagement. During the Employment Period and at all times thereafter, neither Executive or
Executive’ s agents, on the one hand, nor the Company, its affiliates, or any of its or their officers or directors, on the
other hand, shall directly or indirectly issue or communicate any public statement, or statement likely to become public,
that maligns, denigrates or disparages the other. The foregoing shall not be violated by (i) truthful responses to legal
process or 7 governmental inquiry, (ii) private statements to the Company, its affiliates, or any of its or their officers,
directors or employees or (iii) communications with any Government Agency; provided, that in the case of Executive,
with respect to clause (ii), such statements are made in the course of carrying out Executive’ s duties pursuant to this
Agreement. 7. Confidentiality of Agreement. The Parties agree that the consideration furnished under this Agreement,
the discussions and correspondence that led to this Agreement, and the terms and conditions of this Agreement are
private and confidential. Except in connection with any complaint with or investigation by any Government Agency or
as may be required by applicable law, regulation, or stock exchange requirement, neither Party may disclose the above
information to any other person or entity without the prior written approval of the other. 8. Compensation Recovery
Policy. If any of the Company’ s financial statements are required to be restated due to errors, omissions, fraud or
misconduct (including, but not limited to, circumstances where the Company has been required to prepare an
accounting restatement due to material non- compliance with any financial reporting requirement, as enforced by the
Securities and Exchange Commission), the Compensation Committee of the Board or the Board may, in its sole
discretion but acting in good faith, direct that the Company recover all or a portion of any cash incentive, equity
compensation or severance disbursements paid to Executive with respect to any fiscal year of the Company for which the
financial results are negatively affected by such restatement. 9. Executive’ s Representations, Warranties and Covenants.
Executive hereby represents and warrants to the Company that: (a) Executive has all requisite power and authority to
execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, and this Agreement has
been duly executed by Executive; (b) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Executive does not
and will not, with or without notice or the passage of time, conflict with, breach, violate or cause a default under any
agreement, contract or instrument to which Executive is a party or any judgment, order or decree to which Executive is
subject; (c) Executive is not a party to or bound by any employment agreement, consulting agreement, non- compete
agreement, fee for services agreement, confidentiality agreement or similar agreement with any other person; (d) upon
the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and Executive, this Agreement will be a legal, valid and
binding obligation of Executive, enforceable in accordance with its terms; (e) Executive understands that the Company
will rely upon the accuracy and truth of the representations and warranties of Executive set forth herein and Executive



consents to such reliance; and (f) as of the date of execution of this Agreement, Executive is not in breach of any of its
terms, including having committed any acts that would form the basis for a Cause termination if such act had occurred
after the Effective Date. 10. General Provisions. (a) Severability. It is the desire and intent of the Parties hereto that the
provisions of this Agreement be enforced to the fullest extent permissible under the laws and public policies applied in
each jurisdiction in which enforcement is sought. Accordingly, if any particular provision of this Agreement shall be
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable under any present or future
law, and if the rights and obligations of any party under this Agreement will not be materially and adversely affected
thereby, such provision, as to such jurisdiction, shall be ineffective, without invalidating the remaining provisions of this
Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction; furthermore, in lieu 8 of
such invalid or unenforceable provision there will be added automatically as a part of this Agreement, a legal, valid and
enforceable provision as similar in terms to such invalid or unenforceable provision as may be possible. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, if such provision could be more narrowly drawn so as not to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable in
such jurisdiction, it shall, as to such jurisdiction, be so narrowly drawn, without invalidating the remaining provisions of
this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction. (b) Entire
Agreement and Effectiveness. Effective as of the Effective Date, this Agreement embodies the complete agreement and
understanding among the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes and preempts any
prior understandings, agreements or representations by or among the Parties, written or oral, which may have related to
the subject matter hereof in any way, including, without limitation, the Prior Agreement. (c) Successors and Assigns. (i)
This Agreement is personal to Executive and without the prior written consent of the Company shall not be assignable
by Executive otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of
and be enforceable by Executive’ s legal representatives. (ii) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding
upon the Company and its successors and assigns. The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect,
by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business and / or assets of the Company
to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company
would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this Agreement, “ Company ” means
the Company as hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business and / or assets as aforesaid that assumes and
agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise. (d) Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT WILL
BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE,
WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO ANY CHOICE OF LAW OR CONFLICTING PROVISION OR RULE THAT
WOULD CAUSE THE LAWS OF ANY JURISDICTION OTHER THAN THE STATE OF DELAWARE TO BE
APPLIED. IN FURTHERANCE OF THE FOREGOING, THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
WILL CONTROL THE INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION OF THIS AGREEMENT, EVEN IF UNDER
SUCH JURISDICTION’ S CHOICE OF LAW OR CONFLICT OF LAW ANALYSIS, THE SUBSTANTIVE LAW OF
SOME OTHER JURISDICTION WOULD ORDINARILY APPLY. (e¢) Enforcement. (i) Arbitration. Except for
disputes arising under Section 5 or Section 6 hereof (including, without limitation, any claim for injunctive relief), any
controversy, dispute or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or its interpretation, application,
implementation, breach or enforcement which the Parties are unable to resolve by mutual agreement, shall be settled by
submission by either Executive or the Company of the controversy, claim or dispute to binding arbitration in Alabama
(unless the Parties agree in writing to a different location), before a single arbitrator in accordance with the Employment
Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. In any such arbitration proceeding the
Parties agree to provide all discovery deemed necessary by the arbitrator. The decision and award made by the
arbitrator shall be accompanied by a reasoned opinion, and shall be final, binding and conclusive on all Parties hereto
for all purposes, and judgment may be entered thereon in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The Company will bear
the totality of the arbitrator’ s and administrative fees and costs. Each Party shall bear its own litigation costs and
expenses; provided, however, that the arbitrator shall have the discretion to award the prevailing party reimbursement
of its or his or her reasonable attorney’ s fees and costs. Upon the request of either of the Parties, at any time prior to the
beginning of the arbitration hearing, the Parties may attempt in good faith to settle the dispute by mediation
administered by the American Arbitration Association. The Company will bear the totality of the mediator’ s and
administrative fees and costs. 9 (ii) Remedies. All remedies hereunder are cumulative, are in addition to any other
remedies provided for by law and may, to the extent permitted by law, be exercised concurrently or separately, and the
exercise of any one remedy shall not be deemed to be an election of such remedy or to preclude the exercise of any other
remedy. (iii) Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL
RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT. (f) Amendment and Waiver. The provisions of this Agreement may be amended
and waived only with the prior written consent of the Company and Executive and no course of conduct or failure or
delay in enforcing the provisions of this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of such provisions or affect the
validity, binding effect or enforceability of this Agreement or any provision hereof. (g) Notices. Any notice provided for
in this Agreement must be in writing and must be either personally delivered, transmitted via telecopier, mailed by first
class mail (postage prepaid and return receipt requested) or sent by reputable overnight courier service (charges
prepaid) to the recipient at the address below indicated or at such other address or to the attention of such other person
as the recipient party has specified by prior written notice to the sending party. Notices will be deemed to have been
given hereunder and received when delivered personally, when received if transmitted via telecopier, five (5) days after
deposit in the U. S. mail and one day after deposit for overnight delivery with a reputable overnight courier service. If to



the Company, to: Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 16243 Highway 216 Brookwood, AL 35444 Attention: Chief Executive
Officerwith a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Maynard Nexsen PC1901 Sixth Ave. NorthSuite
1700Birmingham, AL 35203Attention: Maggie Corneliuslf to Executive, to: Executive’ s home address most recently on
file with the Company. (h) Withholdings Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this
Agreement such federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or
regulation. (i) Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements. All representations, warranties and agreements
contained herein shall survive the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby indefinitely. (j) Descriptive
Headings. The descriptive headings of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of
this Agreement. All references to a “ Section ” in this Agreement are to a section of this Agreement unless otherwise
noted. (k) Construction. Where specific language is used to clarify by example a general statement contained herein,
such specific language shall not be deemed to modify, limit or restrict in any manner the construction of the 10 general
statement to which it relates. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the
Parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any Party. (1)
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which is deemed to be an original and
all of which taken together constitute one and the same agreement. (m) Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything herein
to the contrary, this Agreement is intended to be interpreted and applied so that the payment of the benefits set forth
herein either shall either be exempt from the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “ Code ), or shall comply with the requirements of such provision. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement or elsewhere to the contrary, distributions upon termination of Executive’ s employment may only be made
upon a “ separation from service ” as determined under Code Section 409A. Each payment under this Agreement or
otherwise shall be treated as a separate payment for purposes of Code Section 409A. In no event may Executive, directly
or indirectly, designate the calendar year of any payment to be made under this Agreement or otherwise which
constitutes a “ deferral of compensation ” within the meaning of Code Section 409A. All reimbursements and in- kind
benefits provided under this Agreement shall be made or provided in accordance with the requirements of Code Section
409A. To the extent that any reimbursements pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise are taxable to Executive, any
reimbursement payment due to Executive shall be paid to Executive on or before the last day of Executive’ s taxable
year following the taxable year in which the related expense was incurred; provided, that, Executive has provided the
Company written documentation of such expenses in a timely fashion and such expenses otherwise satisfy the Company’
expense reimbursement policies. Reimbursements pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise are not subject to liquidation
or exchange for another benefit and the amount of such reimbursements that Executive receives in one taxable year shall
not affect the amount of such reimbursements that Executive receives in any other taxable year. Notwithstanding any
provision in this Agreement to the contrary, if on the date of his termination from employment with the Company
Executive is deemed to be a “ specified employee ” within the meaning of Code Section 409A and the Final Treasury
Regulations using the identification methodology selected by the Company presented-, or if none, the
default methodology under Code Section 409A, any payments or benefits due upon a termination of Executive’ s
employment under any arrangement that constitutes a * deferral of compensation ” within the meaning of Code Section
409A shall be delayed and paid or provided (or commence, in the case of installments) on the first payroll date on or
following the earlier of (i) the date which is six (6) months and one (1) day after Executive’ s termination of employment
for any reason other than death, and (ii) the date of Executive’ s death, and any remaining payments and benefits shall
be paid or provided in accordance with the normal payment dates specified for such payment or benefit.
Notwithstanding any of the foregoing to the contrary, the Company and its officers, directors, employees, or agents make
no guarantee that the terms of this Agreement as written comply with, or are exempt from, the provisions of Code
Section 409A, and none of the foregoing shall have any liability for the failure of the terms of this Agreement as written
to comply with, or be exempt from, the provisions of Code Section 409A. [ SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS | 11 IN
WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above. WARRIOR
MET COAL, INC. By: / s / Walter J. Scheller, III Name: Walter J. Scheller, IIITitle: Chief Executive Officer
EXECUTIVE /s / Jack K. Richardson Jack K. Richardson12 Exhibit 10. 9 This AMENDED AND RESTATED
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”’) by and between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the “ Company ), and
Kelli K. Gant (“ Executive ”) (collectively, the “ Parties ”) is entered into as of February 10, 2025 (the “ Effective Date ).
1. Employment Period. Executive shall be employed by the Company for a period commencing as of the Effective Date
and continuing until such time as Executive’ s employment is terminated in accordance with Section 3 hereof (the «
Employment Period ”’). Upon Executive’ s termination of employment with the Company for any reason, Executive shall
immediately resign all positions with the Company or any of its affiliates, including any position as a member of the
Company’ s Board of Directors (the “ Board ”). 2. Terms of Employment. (a) Position. During the Employment Period,
Executive shall serve as Chief Administrative Officer of the Company and will perform such duties and exercise such
supervision with regard to the business of the Company as are commensurate with such position, including such duties as
may be prescribed from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the “ CEO ”). Executive shall
report directly to the CEO and, if reasonably requested by the Board, Executive hereby agrees to serve (without
additional compensation) as an officer and director of the Company or any of its affiliates. (c) Compensation. (i) Base
Salary. During the Employment Period, Executive shall receive an annual base salary in an amount equal to etr-four
stoekhotders-hundred thirty eight thousand nine hundred dollars ($ 438, 900), less all applicable withholdings, which
shall be paid in accordance with the customary payroll practices of the Company and prorated for partial calendar years
of employment (as in effect from time to time, the “ Annual Base Salary ). The Annual Base Salary shall be subject to



annual review by the Board, in its sole discretion, for possible increase and any such increased Annual Base Salary
documented in the form of a resolution adopted by the Board or an amendment to this Agreement shall constitute
Annual Base Salary ” for purposes of this Agreement. (ii) Annual Bonus. During the Employment Period, with respect to
each completed fiscal year of the Company, Executive shall be eligible to receive a bonus (the “ Bonus ) with a target
amount equal to eighty- five percent (85 %) of Annual Base Salary contingent upon the achievement of qualitative and
quantitative performance goals approved by the Board. The Bonus, if any, shall be paid in accordance with the terms of
the applicable bonus plan as in effect from time to time, and shall require that Executive be employed with the Company
on the date of payment of such Bonus. 3. Termination of Employment. (b) Cause. Executive’ s employment may be
terminated at any time by the Company for Cause (as defined below). For purposes of this Agreement, “ Cause ” means
Executive’ s (i) commission of, conviction for, plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a felony or a crime involving moral
turpitude, or other material act or omission involving dishonesty or fraud, (ii) engaging in conduct that constitutes fraud
or embezzlement, (iii) engaging in conduct that constitutes gross negligence or willful gross misconduct that results or
could reasonably be expected to result in harm to the Company’ s or any of its affiliates’ business or reputation, (iv)
breach of any material terms of Executive’ s employment, which results or could reasonably be expected to result in
harm to the Company’ s or any of its affiliates’ business or reputation, (v) continued willful failure to substantially
perform Executive’ s duties or (vi) breach of any material policy of the Company or any of its affiliates that is applicable
to employees generally that is reasonably likely to result in demonstrable harm to the Company or any of its affiliates.
Executive’ s employment shall not be terminated for “ Cause ” within the meaning of clauses (iv), (v) or (vi) above unless
Executive has been given written notice stating the basis for such termination and Executive is given fifteen (15) days to
cure, to the extent curable, the act or omission that is the basis of any such claim. (d) Good Reason. Executive’ s
employment may be terminated at any time by Executive for Good Reason (as defined below) upon thirty (30) days’
prior written notice following the occurrence of the event giving rise to the termination for Good Reason. For purposes of
this Agreement, “ Good Reason ” means voluntary resignation after any of the following actions taken by the Company
without Executive’ s written consent: (i) a material diminution in Executive’ s responsibilities, title, authority or
reporting structure, including a requirement that Executive directly report to anyone other than the CEO of the ultimate
parent company, (ii) any material failure to pay compensation when due, (iii) a reduction in base pay or bonus
opportunity other than reductions applicable to senior executives generally, (iv) relocation of Executive’ s principal place
of business by more than 50 miles that materially increases Executive’ s commute, or (v) any other material breach of
this Agreement by the Company. Executive’ s employment shall not be terminated for Good Reason unless Executive has
given the Company written notice stating the condition that is the basis for such termination within thirty (30) days
following the initial occurrence of the event or condition allegedly constituting Good Reason and the Company fails to
cure such condition within fifteen (15) days following receipt of such notice. 4. Obligations of the Company upon
Termination. (ii) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, the Company shall pay Executive an amount equal to one times (1x)
Executive’ s Annual Base Salary as in effect as of the Date of Termination in substantially equal installments in
accordance with the Company’ s customary payroll practices, commencing on the first payroll date occurring on or after
the date that is sixty (60) days following the Date of Termination (with the first installment inclusive of the installments
that would have otherwise been payable during such initial sixty (60) day period) and ending on the first anniversary of
the Date of Termination (the “ Severance Payment ”); (iii) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, after a Date of Termination
occurring following the third quarter of the Company’ s fiscal year, the Company shall pay Executive as soon as
reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th day of the third month following the end of the calendar year that
contains the Date of Termination a prorated bonus for the year of termination based on the number of days in such year
elapsed through the Date of Termination, with the amount thereof determined based on the actual result of the Company
for such year and payable when bonuses for such year are generally paid to employees of the Company (the “ Prorated
Bonus ”); and (i) the Company shall pay to Executive as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than the 15th day of
the third month following the end of the calendar year that contains the Date of Termination a lump sum amount equal
to the Accrued Obligations; (¢) Death or Disability. If Executive’ s employment shall be terminated by reason of
Executive’ s death or Disability, then the Company shall provide Executive with the Accrued Obligations within ninety
(90) days of the date of death or Executive’ s receipt of the Notice of Termination, as applicable. Thereafter, the
Company shall have no further obligation to Executive or Executive’ s legal representatives. 5. Restrictive Covenants.
(b) Non- Competition. Executive hereby acknowledges that it is familiar with the Confidential Information (as defined
below) of the Company and its subsidiaries. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Company would be irreparably
damaged if Executive were to provide services to any person competing with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
engaged in a similar business and that such competition by Executive would result in a significant loss of goodwill by the
Company. Therefore, Executive agrees that during the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending twelve (12)
months after the Date of Termination Executive shall not (and shall cause each of Executive’ s affiliates not to) directly
or indirectly own any interest in, manage, control, participate in (whether as an officer, director, manager, employee,
partner, equity holder, member, agent, representative or otherwise), consult with, render services for, or in any other
manner engage in any business engaged directly or indirectly, in the Geographic Area (as defined below), in the business
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries as currently conducted or proposed to be conducted as of the Date of
Termination; provided, that nothing herein shall prohibit Executive from being a passive owner of not more than five
percent (5 %) of the outstanding stock of any class of a corporation which is publicly traded so long as Executive does not
have any active participation in the business of such corporation. For purposes of this Agreement, the “ Geographic Area
” means North America. (ii) As used herein, the term “ Work Product ” means all inventions, innovations,



improvements, technical information, systems, software developments, methods, designs, analyses, drawings, reports,
service marks, trademarks, trade names, logos and all similar or related information (whether patentable or
unpatentable) that relates to the Company’ s or any of its affiliates’ actual or anticipated business, research and
development or existing or future products or services and that are conceived, developed or made by Executive (whether
or not during usual business hours and whether or not alone or in conjunction with any other person) while employed by
the Company or any of its affiliates, together with all patent applications, letters patent, trademark, trade name and
service mark applications or registrations, copyrights and reissues thereof that may be granted for or upon any of the
foregoing. 6. Non- Disparagement. During the Employment Period and at all times thereafter, neither Executive or
Executive’ s agents, on the one and-hand , nor the Company, its affiliates, or any of its or officers or directors, on the
other hand, shall directly or indirectly issue or communicate any public statement, or statement likely to become public,
that maligns, denigrates or disparages the other. The foregoing shall not be violated by (i) truthful responses to legal
process or governmental inquiry, (ii) private statements to the Company, its any of its et or their officers,
directors or employees or (iii) communications with any Government Agency; provided, that in the case of Executive,
with respect to clause (ii), such statements are made in the course of carrying out Executive’ s duties pursuant to this
Agreement. 7. Confidentiality of Agreement. The Parties agree that the consideration furnished under this Agreement,
the discussions and correspondence that led to this Agreement, and the terms and conditions of this Agreement are
private and confidential. Except in connection with any complaint with or investigation by any Government Agency or
as may be required by applicable law, regulation, or stock exchange requirement, neither Party may disclose the above
information to any other person or entity without the prior written approval of the other. 8. Compensation Recovery
Policy. If any of the Company’ s financial statements are required to be restated due to errors, omissions, fraud or
misconduct (including, but not limited to, circumstances where the Company has been required to prepare an
accounting restatement due to material employee-direetors-compliance with any financial reporting requirement
eould-adversely-impaet-as enforced by the Securities and Exchange Commission), the Compensation Committee of the
Board eut-—- or business-the Board may, in its sole discretion but acting in good faith, direct that the Company recover all
or a portion of any cash incentive, equity compensation or severance disbursements paid to Executive with respect to any
fiscal year of the Company orfor which the financial results prospeets-ifattractive-business-epportanities-arc proeutree
negatively affected partiesrestatement. 9. Executive’ s Representations, Warranties and Covenants. Executive
hereby represents and warrants to the Company that: (a) Executive has all requisite power and authority to execute and
deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, and this Agreement has been duly
executed by Executive; (b) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Executive does not and will
not, with or without notice or the passage of time, conflict with, breach, violate or cause a default under any agreement,
contract or instrument to which Executive is a party or any judgment, order or decree to which Executive is subject; (c)
Executive is not a party to or bound by any employment agreement, consulting agreement, non- compete agreement, fee
services agreement, confidentiality agreement or similar agreement with any other person; (d) upon the execution
and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and Executive, this Agreement will be a legal, valid and binding
obligation of Executive, enforceable in accordance with its terms; (e) Executive understands that the Company will rely
upon the accuracy and truth of the representations and warranties of Executive set forth herein and Executive consents
to such reliance; and (f) as of the date of execution of this Agreement, Executive is not in breach of any of its terms,
including having committed any acts that would form the basis for a Cause termination if such act had occurred after
the Effective Date. 10. General Provisions. (a) Severability. It is the desire and intent of the Parties hereto that the
provisions of this Agreement be enforced to the fullest extent permissible under the laws and public policies applied in
each jurisdiction in which enforcement is sought. Accordingly, if any particular provision of this Agreement shall be
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable under any present or future
law, and if the rights and obligations of any party under this Agreement will not be materially and adversely affected
thereby, such provision, as to such jurisdiction, shall be ineffective, without invalidating the remaining provisions of this
Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction; furthermore, in lieu of
such invalid or unenforceable provision there will be added automatically as a part of this Agreement, a legal, valid and
enforceable provision as similar in terms to such invalid or unenforceable provision as may be possible. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, if such provision could be more narrowly drawn so as not to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable in
such jurisdiction, it shall, as to such jurisdiction, be so narrowly drawn, without invalidating the (k) Construction.
Where specific language is used to clarify by example a general statement contained herein, such specific language shall
not be deemed to modify, limit or restrict in any manner the construction of the general statement to which it relates.
The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the Parties to express mutual
intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any Party. Name: Walter J. Scheller, IIT THIS
AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ) by and between Warrior Met
Coal, Inc. (the “ Company ), and Charles Lussier (“ Executive ) (collectively, the “ Parties ) is entered into as of
February 10, 2025 (the “ Effective Date ). WHEREAS, the Company and Executive previously entered into an
employment agreement, effective as of March 1, 2020 (the “ Prior Agreement ”’); and WHEREAS, the Company and
Executive wish to continue Executive’ s employment with the Company pursuant to the terms, provisions and conditions
set forth in this Agreement, which will replace the Prior Agreement in its entirety. 1. Employment Period. Executive
shall be employed by the Company for a period commencing as of the Effective Date and continuing until such time as
Executive’ s employment is terminated in accordance with Section 3 hereof (the “ Employment Period ). Upon
Executive’ s termination of employment with the Company for any reason, Executive shall immediately resign all



positions with the Company or any of its affiliates, including any position as a member of the Company’ s Board of
Directors (the “ Board ”). (a) Position. During the Employment Period, Executive shall serve as Chief Commercial
Officer of the Company and will perform such duties and exercise such supervision with regard to the business of the
Company as are commensurate with such position, including such duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the “ CEO ). Executive shall report directly to the CEO and, if reasonably
requested by the Board, Executive hereby agrees to serve (without additional compensation) as an officer and director of
the Company or any of its affiliates. (b) Duties. During the Employment Period, Executive shall have such
responsibilities, duties and authority that are commensurate with Executive’ s position, subject at all times to the control
of the CEO, and shall perform such services as customarily are provided by an executive of a corporation with
Executive’ s position and such other services consistent with Executive’ s position, as shall be assigned to Executive from
time to time by the CEO. During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which
Executive is entitled, Executive agrees to devote all of Executive’ s business time to the business and affairs of the
Company and to use Executive’ s commercially reasonable efforts to perform faithfully, effectively and efficiently
Executive’ s responsibilities and obligations hereunder. Executive shall be entitled to engage in charitable and
educational activities and to manage Executive’ s personal and family investments, to the extent such activities are not
competitive with the business of the Company, do not interfere with the performance of Executive’ s duties for the
Company and are otherwise consistent with the Company’ s governance policies. (i) Base Salary. During the
Employment Period, Executive shall receive an annual base salary in an amount equal to three hundred ninety eight
thousand three hundred two dollars ($ 398, 302), less all applicable withholdings, which shall be paid in accordance with
the customary payroll practices of the Company and prorated for partial calendar years of employment (as in effect
from time to time, the “ Annual Base Salary ). The Annual Base Salary shall be subject to annual review by the Board,
in its sole discretion, for possible increase and any such increased Annual Base Salary documented in the form of a
resolution adopted by the Board or an amendment to this Agreement shall constitute “ Annual Base Salary ” for
purposes of this Agreement. (ii) Annual Bonus. During the Employment Period, with respect to each completed fiscal
year of the Company, Executive shall be eligible to receive a bonus (the “ Bonus ) with a target amount equal to eighty
percent (80 %) of Annual Base Salary contingent upon the achievement of qualitative and quantitative performance
goals approved by the Board. The Bonus, if any, shall be paid in accordance with the terms of the applicable bonus plan
as in effect from time to time, and shall require that Executive be employed with the Company on the date of payment of
such Bonus. (iii) Equity Awards. During the Employment Period, Executive shall be entitled to receive equity awards
under the Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan and any other incentive compensation plan or
arrangement adopted by the Company from time to time in which similarly situated executives of the Company are
eligible to participate, in amounts and at times determined by and subject to approval of the Board. (iv) Benefits. During
the Employment Period, Executive shall be eligible to participate in all retirement, compensation and employee benefit
plans, practices, policies and programs provided by the Company to the extent applicable generally to other executives of
the Company (except severance plans, policies, practices or programs) subject to the eligibility criteria set forth therein,
as such may be amended or terminated from time to time. (vi) Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify Executive,
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, against all costs, charges and expenses incurred or sustained by
Executive, including the cost and expenses of legal counsel, in connection with any action, suit or proceeding (collectively
a “ Proceeding ”) to which Executive may be made a party by reason of Executive being or having been an officer,
director or employee of the Company or any of its affiliates. Notwithstanding the preceding, Executive shall not be
entitled to indemnification in connection with any gross negligence or willful misconduct of Executive. Executive shall be
covered during the entire term of this Agreement and thereafter for at least six (6) years by officer and director liability
insurance in amounts and on terms similar to that afforded to other executives and / or directors of the Company and its
affiliates. (ii) subject to Section 4 (e) hereof, the Company shall pay Executive an amount equal to one times (1x)
Executive’ s Annual Base Salary as in effect as of the Date of Termination in substantially equal installments in
accordance with the Company’ s customary payroll practices, commencing on the first payroll date occurring on or after
the date that is sixty (60) days following the Date of Termination (with the first installment inclusive of the installments
that would have otherwise been payable during such initial sixty (60) day period) and ending on the first anniversary of
the Date of Termination (the “ Severance Payment ”); Effective Date and ending twelve (12) months after the Date of
Termination, Executive shall not (and shall cause each of Executive’ s affiliates not to) directly or indirectly any
interest in, manage, control, participate in (whether as an officer, director, manager, employee, partner, equity holder,
member, agent, representative or otherwise), consult with, render services for, or in any other manner engage in any
business engaged directly or indirectly, in the Geographic Area (as defined below), in the business of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries as currently conducted or proposed to be conducted as of the Date of Termination; provided, that
nothing herein shall prohibit Executive from being a passive owner of not more than five percent (5 %) of the
outstanding stock of any class of a corporation which is publicly traded so long as Executive does not have any active
participation in the business of such corporation. For purposes of this Agreement, the “ Geographic Area ” means North
America. 6. Non- Disparagement. During the Employment Period and at all times thereafter, neither Executive or
Executive’ s agents, on the one hand, nor the Company, its affiliates, or any of its or their officers or directors, on the
other hand, shall directly or indirectly issue or communicate any public statement, or statement likely to become public,
that maligns, denigrates or disparages the other. The foregoing shall not be violated by (i) truthful responses to legal
process or governmental inquiry, (ii) private statements to the Company, its affiliates or any of its or their officers,
directors or employees or (iii) communications with any Government Agency; provided, that, in the case of Executive,



with respect to clause (ii), such statements are made in the course of carrying out Executive’ s duties pursuant to this
Agreement. 7. Confidentiality of Agreement. The Parties agree that the consideration furnished under this Agreement,
the discussions and correspondence that led to this Agreement, and the terms and conditions of this Agreement are
private and confidential. Except in connection with any complaint with or investigation by any Government Agency or
as may be required by applicable law, regulation or stock exchange requirement, neither Party may disclose the above
information to any other person or entity without the prior written approval of the other. 8. Compensation Recovery
Policy. If any of the Company’ s financial statements are required to be restated due to errors, omissions, fraud or
misconduct (including, but not limited to, circumstances where the Company has been required to prepare an
accounting restatement due to material non- compliance with any financial reporting requirement, as enforced by the
Securities and Exchange Commission), the Compensation Committee of the Board or the Board may, in its sole
discretion but acting in good faith, direct that the Company recover all or a portion of any cash incentive, equity
compensation or severance disbursements paid to Executive with respect to any fiscal year of the Company for which the
financial results are negatively affected by such restatement. 10. General Provisions. (i) Arbitration. Except for disputes
arising under Section 5 or Section 6 hereof (including, without limitation, any claim for injunctive relief), any
controversy, dispute or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or its interpretation, application,
implementation, breach or enforcement which the Parties are unable to resolve by mutual agreement, shall be settled by
submission by either Executive or the Company of the controversy, claim or dispute to binding arbitration in Alabama
(unless the Parties agree in writing to a different location), before a single arbitrator in accordance with the Employment
Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. In any such arbitration proceeding, the
Parties agree to provide all discovery deemed necessary by the arbitrator. The decision and award made by the
arbitrator shall be accompanied by a reasoned opinion, and shall be final, binding and conclusive on all Parties hereto
for all purposes, and judgment may be entered thereon in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The Company will bear
the totality of the arbitrator’ s and administrative fees and costs. Each Party shall bear its own litigation costs and
expenses; provided, however, that the arbitrator shall have the discretion to award the prevailing party reimbursement
of its or his or her reasonable attorney’ s fees and costs. Upon the request of either of the Parties, at any time prior to the
beginning of the arbitration hearing, the Parties may attempt in good faith to settle the dispute by mediation
administered by the American Arbitration Association. The Company will bear the totality of the mediator’ s and
administrative fees and costs. (m) Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement is
intended to be interpreted and applied so that the payment of the benefits set forth herein either shall either be exempt
from the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”), or shall comply
with the requirements of such provision. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or elsewhere to the contrary,
distributions upon termination of Executive’ s employment may only be made upon a “ separation from service ” as
determined under Code Section 409A. Each payment under this Agreement or otherwise shall be treated as a separate
payment for purposes of Code Section 409A. In no event may Executive, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar
year of any payment to be made under this Agreement or otherwise which constitutes a “ deferral of compensation ”
within the meaning of Code Section 409A. All reimbursements and in- kind benefits provided under this Agreement
shall be made or provided in accordance with the requirements of Code Section 409A. To the extent that any
reimbursements pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise are taxable to Executive, any reimbursement payment due to
Executive shall be paid to Executive on or before the last day of Executive’ s taxable year following the taxable year in
which the related expense was incurred; provided, that, Executive has provided the Company written documentation of
such expenses in a timely fashion and such expenses otherwise satisfy the Company’ expense reimbursement policies.
Reimbursements pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise are not subject to liquidation or exchange for another

and the amount of such reimbursements that Executive receives in one taxable year shall not affect the amount of such
reimbursements that Executive receives in any other taxable year. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to
the contrary, if on the date of his termination from employment with the Company, Executive is deemed to be a
specified employee ” within the meaning of Code Section 409A and the Final Treasury Regulations using the
identification methodology selected by the Company from time to time, or if none, the default methodology under Code
Section 409A, any payments or benefits due upon a termination of Executive’ s employment under any arrangement that
constitutes a “ deferral of compensation ” within the meaning of Code Section 409A shall be delayed and paid or
provided (or commence, in the case of installments) on the first payroll date on or following the earlier of (i) the date
which is six (6) months and one (1) day after Executive’ s termination of employment for any reason other than death,
and (ii) the date of Executive’ s death, and any remaining payments and benefits shall be paid or provided in accordance
with the normal payment dates specified for such payment or benefit. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing to the
contrary, the Company and its officers, directors, employees or agents make no guarantee that the terms of this
Agreement as written comply with, or are exempt from, the provisions of Code Section 409A, and none of the foregoing
shall have any liability for the failure of the terms of this Agreement as written to comply with, or be exempt from, the
provisions of Code Section 409A. / s / Charles Lussier This AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT
AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ) by and between Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the “ Company ”), and Brian M. Chopin
(“ Executive ”) (collectively, the « Parties ) is entered into as of February 10, 2025 (the “ Effective Date ). WHEREAS,
Warrior Met Coal, LLC, the Company’ s successor, and Executive previously entered into an employment agreement,
dated as of March 31, 2016 (the “ Prior Agreement ”); and 1. Employment Period. Executive shall be employed by the
Company for a period commencing as of the Effective Date and continuing until such time as Executive’ s employment is
terminated in accordance with Section 3 hereof (the “ Employment Period ). Upon Executive’ s termination of



employment with the Company for any reason, Executive shall immediately resign all positions with the Company or any
of its affiliates, including any position as a member of the Company’ s Board of Directors (the “ Board ). (a) Position.
During the Employment Period, Executive shall serve as Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Controller
of the Company and will perform such duties and exercise such supervision with regard to the business of the Company
as are commensurate with such position, including such duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company (the “ CFO ”). Executive shall report directly to the CFO and, if reasonably requested
by the Board, Executive hereby agrees to serve (without additional compensation) as an officer and director of the
Company or any of its affiliates. (b) Duties. During the Employment Period, Executive shall have such responsibilities,
duties, and authority that are commensurate with Executive’ s position, subject at all times to the control of the CFO,
and shall perform such services as customarily are provided by an executive of a corporation with Executive’ s position
and such other services consistent with Executive’ s position, as shall be assigned to Executive from time to time by the
CFO. During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which Executive is
entitled, Executive agrees to devote all of Executive’ s business time to the business and affairs of the Company and to
use Executive’ s commercially reasonable efforts to perform faithfully, effectively and efficiently Executive’ s
responsibilities and obligations hereunder. Executive shall be entitled to engage in charitable and educational activities
and to manage Executive’ s personal and family investments, to the extent such activities are not competitive with the
business of the Company, do not interfere with the performance of Executive’ s duties for the Company and are
otherwise consistent with the Company’ s governance policies. (i) Base Salary. During the Employment Period,
Executive shall receive an annual base salary in an amount equal to two hundred ninety nine thousand six hundred
seventy- eight dollars ($ 299, 678), less all applicable withholdings, which shall be paid in accordance with the customary
payroll practices of the Company and prorated for partial calendar years of employment (as in effect from time to time,
the “ Annual Base Salary ”). The Annual Base Salary shall be subject to annual review by the Board, in its sole
discretion, for possible increase and any such increased Annual Base Salary documented in the form of a resolution
adopted by the Board or an amendment to this Agreement shall constitute “ Annual Base Salary ” for purposes of this
Agreement. (ii) Annual Bonus. During the Employment Period, with respect to each completed fiscal year of the
Company, Executive shall be eligible to receive a bonus (the “ Bonus ”) with a target amount equal to seventy- five
percent (75 %) of Annual Base Salary contingent upon the achievement of qualitative and quantitative performance
goals approved by the Board. The Bonus, if any, shall be paid in accordance with the terms of the applicable bonus plan
as in effect from time to time, and shall require that Executive be employed with the Company on the date of payment of
such Bonus. 3. Termination of Employment. (d) Good Reason. Executive’ s employment may be terminated at any time
by Executive for Good Reason (as defined below) upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice following the occurrence of
the event giving rise to the termination for Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Good Reason ” means
voluntary resignation after any of the following actions taken by the Company without Executive’ s written consent: (i) a
material diminution in Executive’ s responsibilities, title, authority or reporting structure, including a requirement that
Executive directly report to anyone other than the CFO of the ultimate parent company, (ii) any material failure to pay
compensation when due, (iii) a reduction in base pay or bonus opportunity other than reductions applicable to senior
executives generally, (iv) relocation of Executive’ s principal place of business by more than 50 miles that materially
increases Executive’ s commute, or (v) any other material breach of this Agreement by the Company. Executive’ s
employment shall not be terminated for Good Reason unless Executive has given the Company written notice stating the
condition that is the basis for such termination within thirty (30) days following the initial occurrence of the event or
condition allegedly constituting Good Reason and the Company fails to cure such condition within fifteen (15) days
following receipt of such notice. 4. Obligations of the Company upon Termination. 5. Restrictive Covenants. (e) Certain
Definitions. 6. Non- Disparagement. During the Employment Period and at all times thereafter, neither Executive or
Executive’ s agents, on the one hand, nor the Company, its affiliates, or any of its or their officers or directors, on the
other hand, shall directly or indirectly issue or communicate any public statement, or statement likely to become public,
that maligns, denigrates or disparages the other. The foregoing shall not be violated by (i) truthful responses to legal
process or governmental inquiry, (ii) private statements to the Company, its affiliates, or any of its or their officers,
directors or employees or (iii) communications with any Government Agency; provided, that in the case of 10. General
Provisions. / s / Brian M. Chopin Exhibit 19. 1 POLICY PROHIBITING INSIDER TRADING AND UNAUTHORIZED
DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO OTHERS I. Introduction This Insider Trading Policy (this “ Policy ) provides
guidelines to employees, officers and directors of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the “ Company ) with respect to transactions
in the Company’ s securities or the securities of any other company. Federal and state securities laws generally prohibit
any person who is aware of material non- public information about a company from trading in securities of that
company. These laws also prohibit such person from disclosing material non- public information to other persons who
may trade on the basis of that information. The Company’ s Board of Directors (the “ Board ) has adopted this Policy
and the procedures set forth herein to promote compliance with these laws and to assist Company employees, officers
and directors in understanding and complying with their obligations under the federal and state securities laws. It is
important to remember that violations of these laws can have serious civil and criminal consequences, including
monetary fines and imprisonment. It is your responsibility to comply with all securities laws as well as this Policy. If you
have questions about this Policy, please contact our Senior Vice President — Legal. Information on how to contact the
Senior Vice President- Legal is set forth under Section XII. below. II. Persons Subject to This Policy If you are an
employee, officer, or director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, then this Policy applies to you. It also applies to
your family members who reside with you, anyone else who lives with you, any family members who do not live with you



but whose transactions in Company securities are subject to your influence or control (such as parents or children who
consult with you before they trade in Company securities) and any entity whose transactions in Company securities are
controlled by you. You are responsible for making sure that these other persons and entities comply with this Policy. In
addition to this Policy, our directors, executive officers and certain other designated persons who have access to material
non- public information about the Company are subject to additional restrictions when trading in Company securities
(see Section IX. below). III. Trading and Disclosure Restrictions The following trading and disclosure restrictions apply
to all Company employees, officers and directors: A. If you have material non- public information regarding the
Company, you must not trade or advise anyone else to trade in Company securities until that information has been
publicly disclosed; B. If you have material non- public information regarding any other company that you obtained
from your employment or relationship with the Company, you must not trade or advise anyone else to trade in the
securities of that other company until that information has been publicly disclosed; and C. You must not disclose any
material non- public information concerning the Company (or concerning any other company that you obtained from
your employment or relationship with the Company) to anyone inside the Company whose job does not require the
person to have that information or to anyone outside the Company unless the disclosure is made in accordance with the
Company’ s disclosure and external communications policies. Any written or verbal statement that would be prohibited
under the law or under this Policy is equally prohibited if made on the Internet or by social media. IV. Transactions
Covered by This Policy This Policy applies to any transaction in Company securities, including common stock, options to
purchase common stock, any other type of securities that the Company may issue, such as preferred stock, convertible
debentures and warrants, as well as exchange- traded options, other derivative securities, and puts, calls and short sales
involving Company securities. Notwithstanding this general rule, this Policy contains certain exceptions that are
discussed in more detail below. V. Definition of Material Non- public Information A. Material information. Information
about the Company is “ material > if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable shareholder or investor would
consider it important in making a decision to buy, sell or hold Company securities, or if the disclosure of the information
would be expected to significantly alter the total mix of the information in the marketplace about the Company. In
simple terms, material information is any type of information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market
price of Company securities. Both positive and negative information may be material. Information about the Company
that could be material includes: ¢ earnings estimates (including changes of previously announced estimates); * a
significant change in our operations, projections or strategic plans; * a potential merger or acquisition; * a potential sale
of significant assets or subsidiaries; ¢ a significant cybersecurity incident; ¢ the gain or loss of a major supplier or
customer; * a new product or discovery; ° a significant pricing change in our products or services; * a declaration of a
stock split, a public or private securities offering by us, or a change in our dividend policies or amounts; * a change in
senior management; * a labor strike or work stoppage; ¢ significant litigation or government agency investigations; ¢ a
significant related party transaction; and ¢ a change in auditors or a notification that the auditor’ s report may no longer
be relied upon. B. Non- public information. Non- public information is information that is not generally available to the
investing public. If you are aware of material non- public information, you may not trade until the information has been
widely disclosed to the public (for example, through a press release or filing with the Securities and Exchange
Commission) and the market has had sufficient time to absorb the information. For purposes of this Policy, information
will generally be considered public after the second full trading day following the Company’ s public release of the
information. For example, if the Company publicly disclosed information on a Tuesday, the first day that trading could
occur would be on Friday. If you are not sure whether information is material or non- public, consult with the Senior
Vice President- Legal for guidance before engaging in any transaction in Company securities. VI. Unauthorized
Disclosure of Material Non- public Information The Company is subject to laws that govern the timing of our
disclosures of material information to the public and others. Only certain designated employees may communicate on
behalf of the Company with the news media, securities analysts, and investors. Please review the Company’ s Media
Relations Policy for questions about communications with the media. VII. Consequences of Violating Insider Trading
Laws or This Policy The consequences of violating the securities laws or this Policy can be severe. They include the
following: A. Civil and criminal penalties. If you violate the insider trading or tipping laws, you may be required to: 1.
pay civil penalties up to three times the profit made or loss avoided; 2. pay a criminal penalty of up to $ S million; and /
or 3. serve a jail term of up to 20 years. Persons subject to this Policy are not permitted to disclose any material non-
public information about the Company to other persons. Liability in such cases can extend both to the “ tippee ” — the
person to whom the insider disclosed inside information — and to the “ tipper ” — the insider who discloses the
information. Penalties can apply regardless of whether you derive any benefit from someone else’ s actions. In addition,
the Company and / or the supervisors of a person who violates these laws may also be subject to civil or criminal
penalties if they did not take appropriate steps to prevent illegal trading. B. Company Discipline. If you violate this
Policy or insider trading or tipping laws, you may be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, up to and including
termination. A violation of our Company policy is not necessarily the same as a violation of law and we may determine
that specific conduct violates this Policy, whether or not the conduct also violates the law. We are not required to await
the filing or conclusion of a civil or criminal action against an alleged violator before taking disciplinary action. C.
Reporting of Violations. Any employee, officer or director who violates this Policy or any federal or state laws governing
insider trading or tipping or knows of any such violation by any other employee, officer or director, must report the
violation immediately to the Senior Vice President- Legal. Nothing in this Policy prohibits or limits any person’ s ability
to communicate with any government agencies (including the SEC, and any other federal, state or local government
regulatory or law enforcement agencies). Individuals have the right to participate in and fully cooperate with any



investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any government agency, including providing documents or other
information, without notice to or approval from our Senior Vice President- Legal or the Company. You are also
permitted under all circumstances to file a charge or complaint with or recover an award from any government agency,
and to provide confidential information to any government agency without risk of being held liable by the Company for
any penalty. VIIL. Exceptions to this Policy: Rule 10b5- 1 Trading Plans This Policy does not apply to trading in
Company securities if the trades occur pursuant to a prearranged trading plan that complies with Rule 10bS- 1 (c) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ), as well as any Company policies or guidelines
concerning such plans, and has been precleared by our Senior Vice President- Legal. Rule 10b5- 1 (c) provides an
affirmative defense from insider trading liability for trades that occur pursuant to a prearranged “ trading plan ” that
meets certain specified conditions: * You must enter into the trading plan at a time when you were not aware of any
material non- public information and you must at all times act in good faith with respect to the trading plan. You may
not enter into overlapping trading plans (subject to certain exceptions) and may only enter into one single trade plan
during any 12- month period (subject to certain exceptions). No trading plan may be adopted during a blackout period. *
The trading plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of the transactions in advance or delegate discretion
on these matters to an independent third party. If you are a director or officer, your trading plan also must include a
representation certifying that: (i) you are not aware of any material non- public information; and (ii) you are adopting
the trading plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions in Rule 10b- S. * No
purchases or sales may be completed under the trading plan prior to the date which is (i) if you are a director or officer
of the Company, the later of 90 days after the adoption or amendment of the trading plan or two business days following
the disclosure of the Company’ s financial results in a Form 10- Q or 10- K for the fiscal quarter in which the trading
plan was adopted or amended, not to exceed 120 days, or (ii) if you are not a director or officer of the Company, 30 days
after the adoption or amendment of the trading plan. « The establishment and operation of the trading plan, as well as
any modification or termination of the plan prior to its scheduled expiration date, must comply with the requirements of
Rule 10bS- 1 (¢) and any Company policies or guidelines concerning such plans, and be precleared by our Senior Vice
President- Legal. In preclearing the establishment, operation, modification or termination of a trading plan, neither the
Company nor the Senior Vice President- Legal will be responsible for determining whether the plan is in compliance
with the provisions of Rule 10bS- 1 (c). Compliance with Rule 10b5- 1 (c) is solely your responsibility. IX. Additional
Trading Restrictions for Certain Designated Persons A. If the Company designates you as a Designated Person, in
addition to being subject to all of the requirements set forth above, you are also subject to the following restrictions: 1.
You may not trade in Company securities outside of a trading window. For purposes of this policy, a “ trading window ”
will commence after the close of trading two full trading days following the Company’ s widespread public release of
quarterly operating results and end at the close of trading on the last day of the second month of the fiscal quarter. 2.
Even during a trading window, you may not trade during a blackout period. You may not trade in Company securities
during any special blackout periods that the Senior Vice President- Legal may designate with the prior written approval
of the Chief Executive Officer (or the Chief Financial Officer if the Chief Executive Officer is unavailable). You may not
disclose to any outside third party that a special blackout period has been designated. 3. You may not trade during a
trading window without prior approval. During a trading window, you may trade in (including making any transfer, gift
or loan of) Company securities only after obtaining the approval of the Senior Vice President- Legal. If you decide to
engage in a transaction involving Company securities during a trading window, you must notify the Senior Vice
President- Legal in writing of the amount and nature of the proposed trade (s) at least two business days prior to the
proposed transaction and certify in writing that you are not in possession of material non- public information concerning
the Company. You must not engage in the transaction unless and until the Senior Vice President- Legal provides his or
her approval in writing. Any determination by the Senior Vice President- Legal to disapprove a proposed trade will
require the concurrence of the Chief Executive Officer (or the Chief Financial Officer if the Chief Executive Officer is
unavailable). The foregoing functions of the Senior Vice President- Legal will be undertaken by the Chief Executive
Officer in the case of proposed trades by the Senior Vice President- Legal. Proposed trades by the Chief Executive
Officer will require approval by any one of the following: (i) the Senior Vice President- Legal; (ii) the Chief Financial
Officer or (iii) the Audit Committee of the Board. The existence of these approval procedures does not in any way
obligate the Senior Vice President- Legal to approve any transaction. 4. You may not trade in puts or calls or engage in
short sales with respect to Company securities. Trading in “ puts ” and “ calls ” (publicly traded options to sell or buy
stock) and engaging in short sales are often perceived as involving insider trading and they may focus your attention on
the Company’ s short- term performance its long- term objectives. In addition, Section 16 (c) of the Exchange
Act prohibits officers and directors from engaging in short sales. Therefore, transactions in puts, calls and other
derivative securities with respect to Company securities on an exchange or in any other organized market are prohibited
by this Policy, as are short sales of Company securities. 5. You may not engage in certain hedging transactions with
respect to Company securities. Certain forms of hedging transactions, such as zero- cost collars, equity swaps, prepaid
variable forward contracts and exchange funds, are designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of a person’ s
stock holdings. The stockholder is then no longer exposed to the full risks of stock ownership and may no longer have the
same objectives as the Company’ s other stockholders. Therefore, such hedging transactions are prohibited under this
policy. 6. You may not hold Company securities in a margin account, and you may not, without prior approval, pledge
Company securities as collateral for any other loan. Because a broker is permitted to sell securities in a margin account if
the customer fails to meet a margin call, the securities can be sold at a time when the customer is aware of material non-
public information about the Company. Also, a foreclosure sale under any other loan could also occur at a time when the



borrower has non- public information about us. Therefore, you may not hold Company securities in a margin account or
pledge Company securities as collateral for a loan. An exception to this prohibition may be granted in the case of a non-
margin loan where you are able to clearly demonstrate the financial ability to repay the loan without resorting to the
pledged securities. A request for any such exception must be made to the Senior Vice President- Legal at least 10 days in
advance of entering into the pledge agreement. B. Persons subject to this Policy “ Designated Persons ” include: 1. each
director of the Company; 2. each officer of the Company who has been designated by the Board as an “ officer ” for
purposes of the reporting requirements and trading restrictions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act; and 3. any additional
persons that the Company may from time to time designate as being subject to this Policy because of their position with
the Company and access to material non- public information. If you are a Designated Person, then these additional
restrictions also apply to your family members who reside with you, anyone else who lives with you, any family members
who do not live with you but whose transactions in Company securities are subject to your influence or control (such as
parents or children who consult with you before they trade in Company securities) and any other entity whose
transactions in Company securities are controlled by you. You are responsible for making sure that these other persons
and entities comply with this Policy. C. Exceptions Specific exceptions to these requirements for Designated Persons may
be made when the person requesting approval does not possess material non- public information, personal circumstances
warrant the exception and the exception would not otherwise contravene the law or the purposes of this Policy. Any
request for an exception should be directed to the Senior Vice President- Legal. Any request for an exception by a
director or executive officer shall also require the pre- approval of the Audit Committee of the Board. In addition, an
exception shall be made for trades made pursuant to an approved Rule 10b5- 1 trading plan as set forth in Section VIII.
above. X. Post- Termination Transactions This Policy will continue to apply to you after your employment or service has
terminated with the Company until such time as any material non- public information that you possessed when your
service terminated has become public or is no longer material. XI. Section 16 Compliance In order to (i) satisfy their
reporting requirements under Section 16 (a) of the Exchange Act and (ii) ensure that they are remaining compliant with
the six (6)- month “ short- swing profits ” prohibitions under Section 16 (b) of the Exchange Act, all directors and
officers must (i) pre- clear all transactions with the Senior Vice President- Legal via e- mail, and (ii) immediately inform
the Senior Vice President- Legal via e- mail of any transaction executed under a Rule 10b5- 1 trading plan. Remember:
Section 16 and the rules promulgated thereunder are very complicated, and it is often not intuitive what is a “ purchase
” and what is a “ sale ” within the same six (6)- month time period for purposes of running afoul of the short- swing
profits prohibitions. Therefore, it is always best for directors and officers to contact the Senior Vice President- Legal
prior to executing any transaction in Company securities, so as to avoid potential personal liability under Section 16. XII.
Company Assistance If you have a question about this Policy or whether it applies to a particular transaction, contact
otrs— our Senior Vice President- Legal for additional guidance . 53-The Senior Vice President- Legal can be reached at
(205) 554- 6137 or phil. monroe @ warriormetcoal. com. Originally adopted: 4 /12 / 2017 Last Amended: 10 /25 / 2024
Exhibit 21. 1 Subsidiaries List Name of SubsidiaryJurisdiction of OrganizationWarrior Met Coal Intermediate Holdco,
LLCDelawareWarrior Met Coal Gas, LLLCDelawareWarrior Met Coal Land, LL.CDelawareWarrior Met Coal LA,
LLCDelawareWarrior Met Coal Mining, LL.CDelawareWarrior Met Coal BC, LLCDelawareWarrior Met Coal WV,
LLCDelawareWMC Blue Creek Holdco, Inc. DelawareWarrior Met Coal Shared Services, LLCDelawareWarrior Met
Coal Sales, LLCDelawareBlue Canary, Inc. Vermont EXHIBIT 23. 1 Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements: Registration
Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 217389) pertaining to the Warrior Met Coal, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan;
Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 223049) pertaining to the Warrior Met Coal, LLC 2016 Equity Incentive
Plan; and Registration Statement (Form S- 3ASR 333- 267688) pertaining to the registration of debt securities, common
stock, preferred stock, rights, depositary shares, warrants, and purchase contracts; of our reports dated February 13,
2025, with respect to the financial statements of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10- K) of Warrior Met Coal, Inc.
for the year ended December 31, 2024. EXHIBIT 23. 2 CONSENT OF MARSHALL MILLER & ASSOCIATES, INC.
Marshall Miller & Associates, Inc. hereby consents to the use by Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the “ Company ”) in
connection with the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the “ Annual
Report ), and any amendments thereto, and to the incorporation by reference in the Company’ s Registration Statement
on Form S- 8 (No. 333- 217389), the Company' s Registration Statement on Form S- 8 (No. 333- 223049), and the
Company’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 3ASR (No. 333- 267688) of information contained in our report dated
May 17, 2023, February 13, 2024 and February 11, 2025 relating to estimates of certain coal reserves in the Annual
Report. We hereby further consent to the reference to Marshall Miller & Associates, Inc. in those filings and any
amendments thereto. By: /s / Steven A. Keim Name: Steven A. Keim Title: President Dated: February 13, 2025
EXHIBIT 23. 3 CONSENT OF MCGEHEE ENGINEERING CORP. McGehee Engineering Corp. hereby consents to
the use of information contained in our report (the “ Reserve Report ”) dated January 29th, 2025 relating to estimates of
certain coal reserves held by Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the “ Company ) in connection with the Company’ s Annual
Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the “ Annual Report ), and any amendments thereto, and
to the incorporation by reference in the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 8 (No. 333- 217389), the
Company' s Registration on Form S- 8 (No. 333- 223049), and the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 3ASR
(No. 333- 267688) of information contained in the Reserve Report relating to estimates of certain coal reserves in the
Annual Report. We hereby further consent to the reference to McGehee Engineering Corp. in those filings and any
amendments thereto. By: /s / Sanford M. Hendon Name: Sanford M. Hendon Title: Vice- President EXHIBIT 31. 1



CERTIFICATIONS I, Walter J. Scheller, I11, Chief Executive Officer, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual
Report on Form 10- K of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the “ registrant ’); 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I are responsible
for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and
15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f))
for the registrant and have: a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared; b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles; c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; andd. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’
s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; andS. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I
have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; andb. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting. WARRIOR MET COAL, INC.
Date: February 13, 2025By: / s / Walter J. Scheller, IIlWalter J. Scheller, IIIChief Executive Officer EXHIBIT 31.2 I,
Dale W. Boyles, Chief Financial Officer, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of Warrior
Met Coal, Inc. (the “ registrant ”’); 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my
knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: a.
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared; b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; andd. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’
s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; and5. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I
have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; andb. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting. WARRIOR MET COAL, INC.
Date: February 13, 2025By: / s / Dale W. BoylesDale W. BoylesChief Financial Officer EXHIBIT 32. 1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of
the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officers of Warrior Met Coal, Inc. (the “ Company ”), do hereby
certify, to such officer’ s knowledge, that: The Annual Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2024 (the “ Form 10- K ) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 10- K fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. WARRIOR MET COAL, INC. Date: February 13,



2025By: /s / Walter J. Scheller, IIlWalter J. Scheller, IIIChief Executive Officer Date: February 13, 2025By: /s / Dale
W. BoylesDale W. BoylesChief Financial Officer This certification accompanies the Form 10- K pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to liability under that section. This certification shall
not be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended or the Exchange Act,
except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference. Exhibit 95 Item 4. Mine Safety
Disclosures Mine Safety and Health Administration Safety Data Warrior Met Coal, Inc. ("' we,"" our" or the"
Company") is committed to the safety of its employees and to achieving a goal of providing a workplace that is incident
free. In achieving this goal the Company has in place health and safety programs that include regulatory- based
training, accident prevention, workplace inspection, emergency preparedness response, accident investigations and
program auditing. These programs are designed to comply with regulatory mining- related coking coal safety and
environmental standards. Additionally, the programs provide a basis for promoting a best- in- industry safety practice.
The operation of our mines is subject to regulation by the Mine Safety and Health Administration (“ MSHA ”’) under the
Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the “ Mine Act ). MSHA inspects our mines on a continual basis and
issues various citations and orders when it believes a violation has occurred under the Mine Act. As required by Section
1503 of the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, each operator of a coal or other mine is
required to include certain mine safety results in its periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(" SEC"). Within this disclosure, we present information regarding certain mining safety and health citations which
MSHA has issued with respect to our mining operations. In evaluating this information, consideration should be given to
factors such as: (i) the number of citations and orders will vary depending on the size of the coal mine, (ii) the number of
citations issued will vary from inspector to inspector and mine to mine, and (iii) citations and orders can be contested
and appealed and, in that process, are sometimes dismissed and remaining citations are often reduced in severity and
amount. During the year ended December 31, 2024 none of the Company’ s mining complexes received written notice
from MSHA of (i) a pattern of violations of mandatory health or safety standards that are of such nature as could have
significantly and substantially contributed to the cause and effect of coal or other mine health or safety hazards under
section 104 (e) of the Mine Act or (ii) the potential to have such a pattern. The first table below presents the total number
of specific citations and orders issued by MSHA to the Company and its subsidiaries, together with the total dollar value
of the proposed MSHA civil penalty assessments received, during the year ended December 31, 2024. The second table
presents legal actions pending before the Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission (“ FMSHRC ) for each
of our mining complexes as of December 31, 2024 together with the number of legal actions initiated and the number of
legal actions resolved during the year ended December 31, 2024. Mining Complex (1) (3) Section 104S & S
CitationsSection 104 (b) OrdersSection 104 (d) Citations and OrdersSection 110 (b) (2) ViolationsSection 107 (a)
OrdersProposed MSHA Assessments (2) ($ in thousands) FatalitiesWarrior Met Coal Mining, LLC, No. 4138 — 4 — —
$ 856. 5 — Warrior Met Coal Mining, LLC, No. 7261 — 1 — — $ 762. 0 — Warrior Met Coal BC, LLC17 —2 — —3§
27.8 —



